
R e g u l a r  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - D e c e m b e r  7 ,  2 0 2 1  | 1

1

MEETING NOTICE

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Regular Meeting of the President and Board of Trustees of 
the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois will be held on Tuesday, December 7, 
2021, beginning at 6:30 PM in the Council Chambers at the Village Hall of Tinley Park, 16250 South 
Oak Park Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois.

6:30 P.M. CALL TO ORDER

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

ROLL CALL

ITEM #1
SUBJECT: CONSIDER APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

ACTION: Discussion - Consider approval of agenda as written or amended.

COMMENTS:
 
 

ITEM #2
SUBJECT: CONSIDER APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF THE REGULAR AND 

SPECIAL VILLAGE BOARD MEETINGS HELD ON NOVEMBER 
16, AND NOVEMBER 22, 2021.
   

ACTION: Discussion: Consider approval of minutes as written or amended.

COMMENTS:
 
 

ITEM #3
SUBJECT: RECEIVE RECOGNITION HONORING RETIRED POLICE SERGEANT 

EUGENE S. KLIMEK  - President Glotz

ACTION: Discussion: Sergeant Eugene Klimek served on the Tinley Park Police 
Department for 29 years, from 1971 through 2000. Sergeant Klimek passed 
away on November 5, 2021. He is fondly remembered by many.

COMMENTS:                     
 
 



R e g u l a r  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - D e c e m b e r  7 ,  2 0 2 1  | 2

2

ITEM #4
SUBJECT: RECEIVE PRESENTATION OF THE TINLEY PARK BUSINESS 

SPOTLIGHT – President Glotz & Clerk Thirion

ACTION: Discussion: The following businesses will be presented: 

 Chamberlain University, College of Nursing, 18624 West Creek Drive.

No specific action required.

COMMENTS:                     
 

ITEM #5
SUBJECT: CONSIDER APPROVAL OF THE FOLLOWING CONSENT 

AGENDA ITEMS: 
A. CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2021-R-103 AUTHORIZING A 

CONTRACT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AND 
CHRISTOPHER B. BURKE ENGINEERING, LTD. FOR THE 2021 
WATER RATE STUDY IN THE AMOUNT OF $32,000.

B. CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2021-R-115 AUTHORIZING A 
CONTRACT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AND 
GORDIAN/ROBE, INC. FOR EMERGENCY ALERTING SIREN 
REPLACEMENT - 171ST STREET & 80TH AVENUE IN THE 
ESTIMATED AMOUNT OF $37,881.

C. CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2021-R-116 APPROVING AN 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AND 
THE ILLINOIS DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (IDOT) FOR 
WORK PERFORMED IN THE STATE RIGHT OF WAY FOR THE 
YEARS 2022-2023.

D. CONSIDER REQUEST FROM HARALD VIKING LODGE #13 TO 
CONDUCT A QUEEN OF HEARTS RAFFLE BEGINNING 
DECEMBER 8, 2021, WITH THE WINNER BEING DRAWN EACH 
TUESDAY AT THE VIKING LODGE, 6730 175TH STREET.

E. CONSIDER PAYMENT OF OUTSTANDING BILLS IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $4,080,886.91 AS LISTED ON THE VENDOR BOARD 
APPROVAL REPORTS DATED NOVEMBER 19, NOVEMBER 27, 
AND DECEMBER 2, 2021.

ACTION: Discussion: Consider approval of consent agenda items.

COMMENTS:  
 
 



R e g u l a r  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - D e c e m b e r  7 ,  2 0 2 1  | 3

3

ITEM #6
SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2021-O-086 AMENDING VARIOUS 

SECTIONS OF TITLE XI CHAPTER 112 ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES - 
President Glotz

ACTION: Discussion: This Ordinance amends various sections of the Village’s Liquor 
Code to better fit the Village’s needs and processes. These amendments include 
general cleanup, clarification of definitions, removal/addition of certain license 
classifications, and fee increases. This item was discussed at the Committee of 
the Whole on November 16, 2021. This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:                     
 
 

ITEM #7
SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2021-O-087 AWARDING A CLASS 

UV-2 LIQUOR LICENSE TO LENNY’S GAS N WASH (7451 183rd 
STREET) - President Glotz

ACTION: Discussion: Lenny’s Gas N Wash (7451 183rd Street) currently has a local truck 
stop license (Class UV). The petitioner has requested a Class UV-2 license, 
which will permit 24/7 operation of video gaming. This item was discussed at 
the Committee of the Whole on November 16, 2021. This Ordinance is eligible 
for adoption.

COMMENTS:                     
 

ITEM #8

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2021-R-102 DECLARING A 
NUISANCE PURSUANT TO SECTION 9-C-7 OF THE TINLEY PARK 
ZONING ORDINANCE AT 7231 171ST STREET – FIRST MERCHANTS 
BANK - Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: An existing drive-thru sign located at 7231 171st Street is in the 
way of the construction of a public sidewalk.  Per the village's zoning 
ordinance, the Village reserves the right to require the removal of signs at the 
owner's expense when it is found in violation of the zoning ordinance and is 
declared as a public nuisance. This Resolution is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:                     
 



R e g u l a r  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - D e c e m b e r  7 ,  2 0 2 1  | 4

4

ITEM #9
SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2021-O-080 LEVYING TAXES FOR 

CORPORATE PURPOSES FOR THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 2021 
TAX LEVY YEAR - Trustee Sullivan

ACTION: Discussion: The property tax levy request for 2021 will be in the total amount of 
$29,264,099. This amount represents a net .89% increase over the previous 
year’s extended tax levy (1% Village, .5% Library).  Since the overall levy 
increase is less than 5% of the prior year’s extended levy, publication of a Truth 
in Taxation notice and Public Hearing are not required.  The proposed 2021 levy 
was discussed with the Village Board at the Committee of the Whole meeting 
on October 19, 2021 and the Library Board on October 27, 2021. This 
Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:                     
 

ITEM #10
SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-081 ABATING A PORTION 

OF THE 2021 TAX LEVY REQUIREMENTS AS PROVIDED FOR IN THE 
BOND ORDER DATED AUGUST 16, 2011, IN CONNECTION WITH THE 
ISSUANCE OF $5,940,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING 
BONDS, SERIES 2011, OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND 
WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS (LIBRARY) - Trustee Sullivan

ACTION: Discussion: The 2021 tax levy for this bond issue is established at $686,400, and 
the Village is in a position to abate $150,000 of this levy from the Village’s 
Surtax Capital Projects Fund.  The net levy will be $536,400 for this bond issue. 
This debt service item appears as part of the levy for the Tinley Park Public 
Library. This abatement item was provided at the Committee of the Whole 
meeting held on November 2, 2021. This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:                     
 



R e g u l a r  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - D e c e m b e r  7 ,  2 0 2 1  | 5

5

ITEM #11
SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2021-O-082 ABATING ALL OF THE 

2020 TAX LEVY REQUIREMENTS AS PROVIDED FOR IN THE BOND 
ORDER DATED JUNE 5, 2013, IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE 
OF $11,340,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2013, OF THE 
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS - 
Trustee Sullivan

ACTION: Discussion: The 2021 tax levy requirement for this bond issue is established at 
$990,250, and the Village is in a position to abate $640,250 of this levy from the 
following sources and amounts:

Abatement Funding Source Amount
Hotel/Motel Tax Debt Service 
Reserve

$396,100.00

Surtax Capital Projects Fund $74,361.74
Water & Sewer Revenue Fund $141,457.21
Stormwater Management Fund $17,695.77
New Bremen TIF District Fund $10,635.28

The net levy for this bond issue will be $350,000.  This abatement item was 
provided at the Committee of the Whole meeting held on November 2, 2021.  
This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:                     
 

ITEM #12
SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2021-O-083 ABATING A PORTION 

OF THE TAX YEAR 2021 VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PROPERTY 
TAXES EXTENDED FOR 18501 CONVENTION CENTER DRIVE, TINLEY 
PARK, WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS (DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVE 
AGREEMENT FOR THE TINLEY PARK HOTEL AND CONVENTION 
CENTER) - Trustee Sullivan

ACTION: Discussion: In July 2017, the Village of Tinley Park entered into agreements 
with Elementary School District 159, Rich Township High School District 227, 
and The Harp Group, Inc. related to the hotel property located at 18501 
Convention Center Drive and attached to the Village’s Convention Center 
facility.  The Harp Group purchased the hotel property and requested assistance 
with regard to the significant property tax bill for this location.  Under these 
agreements, the three (3) governments (Village, 159 and 227) will abate 50% of 
the respective government’s property taxes extended for the property for a 
period of ten (10) years, or a cumulative and collective $4 million in 
abatements, whichever comes first.  This Ordinance represents the fourth year of 
abatement, and a copy of the Ordinance will be filed with the Cook County 
Clerk.  The two (2) school districts will provide similar direction for their 
respective abatements to the Cook County Clerk.  This abatement item was 
provided at the Committee of the Whole meeting held November 2, 2021. This 
Ordinance is eligible for adoption.



R e g u l a r  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - D e c e m b e r  7 ,  2 0 2 1  | 6

6

COMMENTS:                     
 

ITEM #13
SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2021-O-084 ABATING A PORTION 

OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK TAX YEAR 2021 PROPERTY 
TAXES EXTENDED FOR 8451 183RD PLACE, TINLEY PARK, WILL 
COUNTY, ILLINOIS (SURFACE SHIELDS, INC. INDUCEMENT 
AGREEMENT) - Trustee Sullivan

ACTION: Discussion: In July 2017, the Village Board approved Resolution 2017-R-039 
adopting an inducement agreement with Surface Shields, Inc. to locate its 
manufacturing facility in Tinley Park.  Under this agreement, provided that the 
Company met or exceeded certain benchmarks, the Village would abate 50% of 
the property taxes extended for the Village of Tinley Park for a period of four 
(4) years.  The Company has met the requirements of the inducement agreement 
and is eligible for a tax abatement as provided under the agreement.  This 
Ordinance represents the fourth and final year of abatements under the 
inducement agreement.  This Ordinance will direct the Will County Clerk to 
abate 50% of the property taxes extended against this property.  This abatement 
item was provided at the Committee of the Whole meeting held on November 2, 
2021.  This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:                     
 

ITEM #14
SUBJECT: RECEIVE COMMENTS FROM STAFF -

COMMENTS:                     
 

ITEM #15
SUBJECT: RECEIVE COMMENTS FROM THE BOARD -

COMMENTS:                     
 

ITEM #16
SUBJECT: RECEIVE COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC -

COMMENTS:                     
 

ADJOURNMENT



Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                                     November 16, 2021 1

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR BOARD MEETING OF THE TRUSTEES,
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES,

ILLINOIS, HELD NOVEMBER 16, 2021
The regular meeting of the Board of Trustees, Village of Tinley Park, Illinois, was held in the Council 
Chambers located in the Village Hall of Tinley Park, 16250 Oak Park Avenue, Tinley Park, IL on November 
16, 2021. President Glotz called this meeting to order at 7:06 p.m. 
 

President Glotz stated this meeting is being conducted pursuant to Governor Pritzker’s disaster proclamation 
and Public Act 101-0640, which amends requirements of the Open Meetings Act due to the COVID-19 
pandemic. 

At this time President Glotz led the Board and audience in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Clerk Thirion called the roll. Present and responding to roll call were the following:

                       Village President: Michael W. Glotz         
Village Clerk: Kristin A. Thirion

                        
Trustees: William P. Brady

William A. Brennan
Diane M. Galante
Dennis P. Mahoney
Michael G. Mueller
Colleen M. Sullivan

Absent:                                   
Also Present:                           
Village Manager: Patrick Carr 
Asst. Village Manager Hannah Lipman
Village Attorney: Paul O’Grady

Motion was made by Trustee Brennan, seconded by Trustee Brady to approve the agenda as written or 
amended for this meeting. Vote on roll call. Ayes: Brady, Brennan, Galante, Mahoney, Mueller, Sullivan. 
Nays: None. Absent: None. President Glotz declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Brennan, seconded by Trustee Mahoney to approve and place on file the 
minutes of the regular Village Board meeting held on November 2, 2021. Vote on roll call. Ayes: Brady, 
Brennan, Galante, Mahoney, Mueller, Sullivan. Nays: None. Absent: None. President Glotz declared the 
motion carried.

At this time President Glotz and Clerk Thirion presented the Tinley Park Business Spotlight.
 Xtreme Fire Protection, 8052 186th Street

Motion was made by Trustee Brennan, seconded by Trustee Mueller to appoint THE FOLLOWING 
COMMISSION APPOINTMENT FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2022.
Sister Cities Commission
David Niemeyer
President Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board or public. There were none. 
Vote on roll call. Ayes: Brady, Brennan, Galante, Mahoney, Mueller, Sullivan. Nays: None. Absent: None. 
President Glotz declared the motion carried.

Page | 7AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                                     November 16, 2021 2

Motion was made by Trustee Brennan, seconded by Trustee Brady to appoint STEPHEN KLOTZ TO THE 
POSITION OF FIRE SERVICE ADMINISTRATOR. Stephen Klotz has been in the Fire Service 
industry for over 40 years and most recently held the position of Battalion Chief for the Bedford Park Fire 
Department.  He joined the Village of Tinley Park’s Fire Department in 1993 and has been promoted through 
the ranks and has been serving as Deputy Chief of Fire Suppression since 2013.  He also served as Interim 
Fire Chief in 2016 and has been serving as Interim Fire Administrator since July 2021.  Steve was 
instrumental in converting the volunteer fire department to a part-time organization in 2001.  He has worked 
closely with neighboring communities to set up Automatic-Aid agreements, overseen the construction and 
operation of Fire Station 47, served as Incident Command for numerous fires and large-scale events, and was 
part of the Unified Command COVID-19 response for the mass vaccination site for the State of Illinois. He 
holds many certifications, including the Chief Fire Officer (CFO) certification.

President Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board or public. There were none. 
Vote on roll call. Ayes: Brady, Brennan, Galante, Mahoney, Mueller, Sullivan. Nays: None. Absent: None. 
President Glotz declared the motion carried.

At this time Clerk Thirion conducted a swearing in ceremony for Fire Service Administrator Stephen Klotz.

Motion was made by Trustee Brennan, seconded by Trustee Mahoney to appoint JASON FREEMAN TO 
THE POSITION OF PUBLIC INFORMATION SPECIALIST. Jason began his journalism career in 
2004 and joined the Village nearly nine years ago as the Public Information Coordinator.  He is an 
accomplished writer and provides instrumental support to the marketing department through content 
creation, information distribution, website management, and video shooting and editing. With the addition of 
the tourism initiative to the Marketing Department, it is recommended that Jason be promoted to the position 
of Public Information Specialist.  He holds a Bachelor’s degree in English.  

President Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board or public. There were none. 
Vote on roll call. Ayes: Brady, Brennan, Galante, Mahoney, Mueller, Sullivan. Nays: None. Absent: None. 
President Glotz declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Brennan, seconded by Trustee Brady to appoint NICHOLE GARDINER TO 
THE POSITION OF COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT SPECIALIST. Nichole joined the Village 
Marketing Department in 2019 and has successfully managed and expanded the Village’s various social 
media communication platforms.  She also provides key support for graphic and video delivery initiatives. 
With the addition of the tourism initiative to the Marketing Department, it is recommended that Nichole be 
promoted to the position of Community Engagement Specialist.  She holds a Bachelor’s degree in Integrated 
Marketing Communication with a minor in Mass Media from Illinois State University.  

President Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board or public. There were none. 
Vote on roll call. Ayes: Brady, Brennan, Galante, Mahoney, Mueller, Sullivan. Nays: None. Absent: None. 
President Glotz declared the motion carried.

Page | 8AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                                     November 16, 2021 3

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Mahoney to consider approving the following 
Consent Agenda items:

A. CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2021-R-108 AUTHORIZING A CONTRACT 
BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AND POINT B COMMUNICATIONS FOR 
MARKETING CAMPAIGN DEVELOPMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF $28,000.

B. CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2021-R-109 APPROVING A CONTRACT BETWEEN 
THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AND CHRISTOPHER BURKE ENGINEERING FOR THE 
WATER MODEL UPDATE AND MAINTENANCE IN THE AMOUNT OF $39,500.

C. CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2021-R-110 APPROVING A CONTRACT BETWEEN 
THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AND CHRISTOPHER BURKE ENGINEERING FOR 
WATER MAIN REPLACEMENT, DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING FOR 
IRONWOOD DRIVE IN THE AMOUNT OF $92,577.

D. CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2021-R-111 APPROVING A CONTRACT BETWEEN 
THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AND CHRISTOPHER BURKE ENGINEERING FOR 
WATER MAIN REPLACEMENT, DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING FOR 
DOROTHY LANE IN THE AMOUNT OF $82,818.

E. CONSIDER REQUEST FROM PEOPLES ANIMAL WELFARE SOCIETY (P.A.W.S.), TO 
CONDUCT A RAFFLE THROUGH SUNDAY, DECEMBER 19, 2021, WITH THE MAXIMUM 
VALUE OF THE PRIZE NOT TO EXCEED $1,850. WINNERS WILL BE DRAWN AT P.A.W.S. 
8301 191ST STREET.

F. CONSIDER REQUEST FROM CRISIS CENTER FOR SOUTH SUBURBIA, TO CONDUCT A 
RAFFLE THROUGH SATURDAY, FEBRUARY 26, 2022, WITH THE MAXIMUM VALUE OF 
THE PRIZE NOT TO EXCEED $7,500. WINNERS WILL BE DRAWN AT THE AT THE 
ODYSSEY COUNTRY CLUB, 19110 RIDGELAND AVENUE.

G. CONSIDER PAYMENT OF OUTSTANDING BILLS IN THE AMOUNT OF $2,918,204.40 AS 
LISTED ON THE VENDOR BOARD APPROVAL REPORTS DATED NOVEMBER 5, AND 
NOVEMBER 12, 2021.

President Glotz asked if anyone from the Board would like to remove or discuss any items from the Consent 
Agenda. No items were removed or discussed. President Glotz asked if there were any comments from 
members of the public. There were none. Vote on roll call. Ayes: Brady, Brennan, Galante, Mahoney, 
Mueller, Sullivan. Nays: None. Absent: None. President Glotz declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brennan to adopt and place on file 
RESOLUTION 2021-R-112 A RESOLUTION APPROVING A COOK COUNTY ASSESSMENT 
CLASSIFICATION 6B FOR PROPERTY AT 7351 DUVAN DRIVE (B&B WAREHOUSING). The 
owners of B & B Warehousing request renewal of their Class 6B Tax Incentive with Cook County in order to 
continue operating their family owned business which provides storage and distribution for major food 
manufacturers across the nation.  The Economic Commercial Commission reviewed the request at the 
November 8, 2021, meeting and recommended by unanimous approval.  This item was discussed at the 
Committee of the Whole held prior to this meeting.

Page | 9AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                                     November 16, 2021 4

President Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board or public. There were none. 
Vote on roll call. Ayes: Brady, Brennan, Galante, Mahoney, Mueller, Sullivan. Nays: None. Absent: None. 
President Glotz declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brennan to waive first reading and adopt 
RESOLUTION 2021-R-113 AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A DEVELOPMENT 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AND LOYOLA UNIVERSITY 
HEALTH SYSTEMS FOR CERTAIN PROPERTY LOCATED AT THE SOUTHWEST 
CORNER OF LAGRANGE ROAD AND 179TH STREET. Loyola will be providing an easement to 
the Village for the construction of a permanent lift station and construct a 12" watermain to complete a 
necessary loop to the Village's system. The agreement outlines a waiver of permit and water tap on fees for 
the construction of the medical facility and a reduced recapture fee. This item was discussed at the 
Committee of the Whole earlier this evening. Waiver of first reading is requested because of timing for the 
Village to construct the necessary improvements.

President Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board or public. There were none. 
Vote on roll call. Ayes: Brady, Brennan, Galante, Mahoney, Mueller, Sullivan. Nays: None. Absent: None. 
President Glotz declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brennan to adopt and place on file 
ORDINANCE 2021-O-077 GRANTING A MAP AMENDMENT FOR PROPERTY LOCATED AT 
17901 LAGRANGE ROAD TO BE REZONED FROM THE B-3 TO THE ORI ZONING DISTRICT. 
The rezoning allows the lot to be consolidated with the neighboring lot and the proposed new Loyola 
Medicine Ambulatory Care Center to be constructed. The Plan Commission held a Public Hearing on 
October 21, 2021, and voted 5-0 to recommend approval of the Map Amendment in accordance with the 
listed plans and Findings of Fact in the Staff Report. The Village Board held a first reading on this item at the 
November 2, 2021, Village Board Meeting.

President Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board or public. There were none. 
Vote on roll call. Ayes: Brady, Brennan, Galante, Mahoney, Mueller, Sullivan. Nays: None. Absent: None. 
President Glotz declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brady to adopt and place on file 
RESOLUTION 2021-R-100 APPROVING AND ACCEPTING A FINAL PLAT OF 
CONSOLIDATION FOR THE LOYOLA MEDICINE PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 17901 
LAGRANGE ROAD. The Plan Commission reviewed the Final Plat on October 21, 2021, and voted 5-0 to 
recommend approval with the conditions listed in the Staff Report. The Village Board held a first reading on 
this item at the November 2, 2021, Village Board meeting.

President Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board or public. There were none. 
Vote on roll call. Ayes: Brady, Brennan, Galante, Mahoney, Mueller, Sullivan. Nays: None. Absent: None. 
President Glotz declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Sullivan to adopt and place on file 
ORDINANCE 2021-O-078 GRANTING VARIATIONS FOR THE PROPERTY AT 17901 
LAGRANGE ROAD (LOYOLA MEDICINE). The Plan Commission held a Public Hearing on October 
21, 2021, and voted 5-0 to recommend approval of the 11 listed variations in accordance with the listed plans 
and Findings of Fact in the Staff Report. The Village Board held a first reading on this item at the November 
2, 2021, Village Board meeting.

Page | 10AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                                     November 16, 2021 5

President Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board or public. There were none. 
Vote on roll call. Ayes: Brady, Brennan, Galante, Mahoney, Mueller, Sullivan. Nays: None. Absent: None. 
President Glotz declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brennan to adopt and place on file 
ORDINANCE 2021-O-075 GRANTING A MAP AMENDMENT FOR LOT 1 OF BROOKSIDE 
GLEN VILLAS SUBDIVISION LOCATED AT 8001 191ST STREET TO BE REZONED FROM B-3 
TO THE R-5 ZONING DISTRICT. The purpose of the rezoning will allow a portion of the property to be 
developed as a residential subdivision consisting of 98 duplex residential units. The remaining portion of the 
property will remain B-3 for future commercial development. The Village Board held a first reading on this 
item at the November 2, 2021, Village Board meeting.
President Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board or public. There were none. 
Vote on roll call. Ayes: Brady, Brennan, Galante, Mahoney, Mueller, Sullivan. Nays: None. Absent: None. 
President Glotz declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Sullivan to adopt and place on file 
ORDINANCE 2021-O-076 GRANTING A SPECIAL USE FOR A SUBSTANTIAL DEVIATION 
AND PRELIMINARY PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT PLAT FOR THE BROOKSIDE GLEN 
VILLAS SUBDIVISION.  The preliminary approvals allow for a residential development with 98 duplex 
residential units. The Village Board held a first reading on this item at the November 2, 2021, Village Board 
meeting.
President Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board or public. There were none. 
Vote on roll call. Ayes: Brady, Brennan, Galante, Mahoney, Mueller, Sullivan. Nays: None. Absent: None. 
President Glotz declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brennan to adopt and place on file 
RESOLUTION  2021-R-097 APPROVING AND ACCEPTING A FINAL PLAT OF SUBDIVISION 
FOR THE BROOKSIDE GLEN VILLAS SUBDIVISION LOCATED AT 8001 191ST STREET. The 
subdivision will allow for the rezoning of Lot 1 for the residential development and Lot 2 remaining for 
future commercial development. The Village Board held a first reading on this item at the November 2, 
2021, Village Board meeting.
President Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board or public. There were none. 
Vote on roll call. Ayes: Brady, Brennan, Galante, Mahoney, Mueller, Sullivan. Nays: None. Absent: None. 
President Glotz declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Brennan, seconded by Trustee Mueller to adopt and place on file 
ORDINANCE 2021-O-085 APPROVING A PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AND FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF EVERGREEN PARK, AS 
TRUSTEE UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF A TRUST AGREEMENT DATED JULY 8, 1967, 
KNOWN AS TRUST NUMBER 1270 AND THE DONNA JEAN ALLEN TRUST U/T/A DATED 12-
19-2003, FOR THE PURCHASE OF PROPERTY LOCATED AT 17122-17126 OAK PARK 
AVENUE IN TINLEY PARK, ILLINOIS. Approve purchase of property located at 17122-26 Oak Park 
Avenue for $180,000.

President Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board or public. There were none. 
Vote on roll call. Ayes: Brady, Brennan, Galante, Mahoney, Mueller, Sullivan. Nays: None. Absent: None. 
President Glotz declared the motion carried.

Page | 11AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                                     November 16, 2021 6

President Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Staff.  

IT Manager Anthony Ardolino congratulated the IT Department. The Center for Digital Government 
announced winners from the 2021 Digital Cities Survey.  It listed the top 10 cities utilitzing technology to 
tackle social challenges, enhance services, and strengthen cyber-security. The Village of Tinley Park placed 
ninth for municipalities with a population of 75,000 or under.  This survey was open for municipalities 
throughout the United States. 
Community Development Director Kimberly Clarke announced the ribbon cutting for Avocado Theory, 
17302 Oak Park Avenue, will be held on Wednesday, November 17th, at 5:00 p.m. 

President Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board. 

Trustee Brennan wished everyone a Happy Thanksgiving. 

Village President Glotz stated at the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Governor issued executive 
orders authorizing municipalities to conduct meetings remotely.  These measures were necessary to ensure 
that the Village was able to operate transparently and efficiently while keeping everyone safe.
However, with the progress the State has made since the beginning of the pandemic, the Governor’s 
executive orders have rescinded that emergency authority.  The legislature did pass Public Act 101-0640, 
which modified the Open Meetings Act to permit remote attendance at meetings during disaster 
proclamations, where meeting in person is not prudent or practical, and certain requirements are met.
The Village has not had an elected official attend remotely since December 1, 2020.  In addition, the Clerk’s 
office has not had a request from the public for remote participation since December 1, 2020.  Considering 
the significant effort staff expends to make remote participation available, and the lack of any use of that 
option for almost a year, the Village should return to the standard method of conducting meetings in person, 
starting on December 7, 2021.  In the event the need arises to return to remote participation in meetings, the 
Village can utilize the procedure outlined in Public Act 101-0640.
President Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the public. There were none.
Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brady to adjourn the Village Board meeting at 7:45 
p.m. Vote on roll call. Ayes: Brady, Brennan, Galante, Mahoney, Mueller, Sullivan. Nays: None. Absent: None. 
President Glotz declared the motion carried.
PLEASE NOTE: Where there is no summary of discussion on any items in the minutes, this reflects that no 
discussion occurred other than the introduction of the item.

APPROVED:

_____________________________________
                     Village President

ATTEST:

_____________________________________
                Village Clerk

Page | 12AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                                     November 22, 2021 1

MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL BOARD MEETING OF THE TRUSTEES,
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES,

ILLINOIS, HELD NOVEMBER 22, 2021
The special meeting of the Board of Trustees, Village of Tinley Park, Illinois, was held in the Council 
Chambers located in the Village Hall of Tinley Park, 16250 Oak Park Avenue, Tinley Park, IL on November 
22, 2021. President Glotz called this meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 
 

President Glotz stated this meeting is being conducted pursuant to Governor Pritzker’s disaster proclamation 
and Public Act 101-0640, which amends requirements of the Open Meetings Act due to the COVID-19 
pandemic. 

At this time President Glotz led the Board and audience in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Clerk Thirion called the roll. Present and responding to roll call were the following:

                       Village President: Michael W. Glotz         
Village Clerk: Kristin A. Thirion

                        
Trustees: William P. Brady

William A. Brennan
Diane M. Galante (Arrived at 6:33 p.m.)
Dennis P. Mahoney
Michael G. Mueller
Colleen M. Sullivan

Absent:                                   
Also Present:                           
Village Manager: Patrick Carr 
Asst. Village Manager Hannah Lipman
Village Attorney: Paul O’Grady

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Sullivan, to adopt and place on file 
RESOLUTION 2021-R-114 APPROVING MEMBERSHIP IN THE ILLINOIS MUNICIPAL 
LEAGUE RISK MANAGEMENT ASSOCIATION AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF 
AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL COOPERATION CONTRACT. This Resolution authorizes a contract 
between the Village and the Illinois Municipal League (IML) Risk Management Association for liability 
insurance. The Village has selected a Minimum/Maximum Contribution plan in which the Village will pay a 
minimum premium of $919,601; maximum contribution costs shall not exceed more than $1,452,787. This 
contract is for the policy year of January 1, 2022 through January 1, 2023. Assistant Village Manager 
Lipman explained that the current liability insurance policy ends on December 1, 2021.  The Village will 
enter into a one-month agreement with IML Risk Management Association for the month of December 2021.  
The cost of this one-month agreement will be $115,154.   

Motion was made by Trustee Brennan, seconded by Trustee Brady, to amend the minimum premium cost of 
the thirteen-month contract with Illinois Municipal League Risk Management Association to $1,034,755. 

President Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board or public. There were none. 
Vote on roll call. Ayes: Brady, Brennan, Galante, Mahoney, Mueller, Sullivan. Nays: None. Absent: None. 
President Glotz declared the motion carried.

Page | 13AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                                     November 22, 2021 2

President Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Staff.  There were none.

President Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board. 

Mayor Glotz and Trustee Brady wished everyone a Happy Thanksgiving.  

Mayor Glotz commended Orland Township and Together We Cope for providing Thanksgiving dinners to 
many in the community. 

President Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the public. 

Aaron Golden of IML Risk Management Association thanked the Board for the opportunity to present a bid 
and for participating in the program. 

Motion was made by Trustee Brennan, seconded by Trustee Mueller, to adjourn the Village Board meeting at 6:43 
p.m. Vote on roll call. Ayes: Brady, Brennan, Galante, Mahoney, Mueller, Sullivan. Nays: None. Absent: None. 
President Glotz declared the motion carried.

PLEASE NOTE: Where there is no summary of discussion on any items in the minutes, this reflects that no 
discussion occurred other than the introduction of the item.

APPROVED:

_____________________________________
                     Village President

ATTEST:

_____________________________________
                Village Clerk

Page | 14AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 
 

RECEIVE RECOGNITION 
HONORING RETIRED 
POLICE SERGEANT 
EUGENE S. KLIMEK 

 

PRESIDENT GLOTZ 

 

Page | 15AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 
 

TINLEY PARK 
BUSINESS SPOTLIGHT 

 
President Glotz and 

Clerk Thirion 

Page | 16AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Date: December 1, 2021

To: Pat Carr – Village Manager
Hannah Lipman – Asst. Village Manager

From: John Urbanski, Public Works Director

Subject: 2021 Water Rate Study
_________________________________________________________________________________
Presented for December 7th, 2021 Committee of the Whole/Village Board Meeting consideration and 
possible action:

Description: The Village is seeking engineering consultant services to perform a Comprehensive 
Water Rate Study. The objectives of this study will provide the following:

 Recommended fair and equitable water rates structures based on cost of service 
analysis which are designed to fund operating and capital expenditures for the next 
five (5) years.  

 A minimum of two (2) recommended rate alternatives based on standard rate 
practices that will provide for current and futures costs of water services in 
accordance with established and anticipated standards and regulations for residential, 
commercial and industrial customers.

 Provide comparison of water rates and utility system costs with up to three (3) nearby 
municipalities.

Three (3) proposals have been obtained by qualified engineering consultants and their proposal costs 
are listed below. Each engineering firm was provided a template to follow with a task list to provide 
estimated costs for each portion of the project. The lowest proposal cost received was from 
Christopher B. Burke Engineering in the amount of $32,000.

Contsultant Location Proposal Cost
Christopher B. Burke Engineering, Ltd. Rosemont, IL $32,000
Robinson Engineering Frankfort, IL $32,800
ESI Consultants, Ltd Naperville, IL $69,800

Budget / Finance:  Funding is available for in the FY22 Water and Sewer Budget.

Budget Available: $168,776.75
Lowest Proposal Cost: $32,000.00
Contingency Amount (20%): $6,400.00
Difference: $130,376.75

Staff Direction Request: 
1. Approve low proposal cost/contingency and award the project to Christopher B. Burke 

Engineering, Ltd in the estimated amount of $32,000.
2. Direct Staff as necessary.

Attachment: 
1. Three (3) Water Rate Study Proposals

Interoffice

Memo
Page | 17AGENDA - 12/7/2021, A -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Date: November 19, 2021

To: Pat Carr, Village Manager
Hannah Lipman, Assistant Village Manager

From: Terry Lusby, Jr., Facilities & Fleet Superintendent

Subject: Emergency Alerting Siren Replacement – 171st & 80th Ave.
_________________________________________________________________________________
Presented at the Committee of the Whole and Village Board meetings for consideration and possible 
action:

Description:  This service contract includes the removal of one (1) existing emergency alerting siren 
along with galvanized pole and controls. Replacement will include one (1) new Federal Signal siren 
and controls. Installation also includes specified electrical wiring to provided service panel and any 
necessary peripherals for full operation. We are requesting authorization to replace the existing 
outdated Emergency Alerting Siren on top of the Grissom Middle School (17000 80th Ave., Tinley Park 
IL 60477) utilizing the Job Order Contracting (JOC) procurement method. Robe, Inc is the awarded 
general contractor that will perform the work under an existing cooperative contract through the City of 
Naperville, this contract is for usage by other jurisdictions within Illinois pursuant to 30 ILCS 525 
(Procurement #11-082). 

Background:  Work consists of the removal and replacement of one (1) of the Village’s owned 
emergency alerting siren placed on the roof of the Grissom Middle School. The current siren is 
approximately 40 years old, equipment is beyond serviceable life and is in need of replacement before 
catastrophic failure. This project is being combined with the recent approval of Post 5 (17098 80th 
Ave.) Improvement project for cost savings and improved accessibility for future maintenance. The 
Post 5 (17098 80th Ave.) Improvement project will include the concrete foundation, galvanized pole, 
and required electrical ducts for power and communication for the new siren. This separate service 
contract will include the new rotating uni-directional siren, siren control system, antenna system, 
applicable transceivers/wiring, and the removal of the outdated pole/siren on the Grissom Middle 
School roof. This project was reviewed and engineered to meet all recent code requirements. 
Construction contract was coordinated with Robe, Inc (JOC Contractor). 

Budget / Finance:  Funding is budgeted and available in the approved FY22 Capital Projects Budget. 

Project Proposal $37,881
Budget Amount:  $68,000
Difference – (Below budgeted amount) $30,119

Staff Direction Request:
1. Approve the JOC contract for the Emergency Alerting Siren Replacement – 171st & 80th Ave. 

project with Gordian/Robe, Inc. of Chicago, IL as estimated in the amount of $37,881.
2. Direct staff as necessary.

Attachments:
1. Gordian/Robe, Inc. proposal and detailed scope of work.

Interoffice

Memo
Page | 18AGENDA - 12/7/2021, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Date: November 19, 2021

To: Pat Carr, Village Manager
Hannah Lipman, Assistant Village Manager

From: John Urbanski, Public Works Director

Subject: Illinois Department of Transportation (IDOT) Resolution for the years 2022-2023
_________________________________________________________________________________

Presented at the Committee of the Whole and Village Board meetings for consideration and possible 
action:

Description:  Public Works seeks approval of a Resolution for the years 2022-2023 with the Illinois 
Department of Transportation (IDOT).  This Resolution permits standards for work performed in the 
State right of way.  This will allow Public Works to be able to work on water main, sanitary sewers, 
street lighting and repairs in the State right of ways in order to maintain assets and infrastructure

Staff Direction Request:
1. Approve Illinois Department of Transportation (IDOT) Resolution for the years 2022-2023.

Attachments:
1. Resolution.

Interoffice

Memo
Page | 19AGENDA - 12/7/2021, C -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 
1 

  
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 
 

 
RESOLUTION 
NO. 2021-R-116 

 
 
 

RESOLUTION ADOPTING PERMITTING STANDARDS FOR WORK PERFORMED IN STATE 
RIGHTS OF WAY 

 
 

 
 

MICHAEL W. GLOTZ, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

 
WILLIAM P. BRADY 

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 
DIANE M. GALANTE 

DENNIS P. MAHONEY 
MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
COLLEEN M. SULLIVAN 

Board of Trustees 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 

  

Page | 20AGENDA - 12/7/2021, C -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 
2 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 2021-R-116 
 
 RESOLUTION ADOPTING PERMITTING STANDARDS FOR  
 WORK PERFORMED IN STATE RIGHTS OF WAY 
 
  

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park, hereinafter referred to as the Municipality, a Home Rule Community, 

located in the Counties of Cook and Will, State of Illinois, desires to undertake, in the years 2022 and 2023, the 

location, construction, operation and maintenance of driveways and street returns, water mains, sanitary and storm 

sewers, street light, traffic signals, sidewalks, landscaping, etc. on State highways, within said Municipality, which by 

law and/or agreement come under the jurisdiction and control of the Department of Transportation of the State of 

Illinois hereinafter referred to as Department; and 

WHEREAS, an individual working permit must be obtained from the Department prior to any of the aforesaid 

installations being constructed either by the Municipality or by a private person or firm under contract and supervision 

of the Municipality. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the President and Board of Trustee of the Village of Tinley 

Park that: 

FIRST: That Municipality hereby pledges its good faith and guarantees that all work shall be performed in 

accordance with conditions of the permit to be granted by the Department, and to hold the State of 

Illinois harmless during the prosecution of such work, and assume all liability for damages to person 

or property due to accidents or other otherwise by reason of the work which is to be performed under 

the provision of said permit. 

SECOND: That all authorized officials of the Municipality are hereby instructed and authorized to sign said 

working permit on behalf of the Municipality. 

 ADOPTED this 7th day of December, 2021, by the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park on a 

roll call vote as follows: 

AYES:    

NAYS:    

ABSENT:  

APPROVED this 7th day of December, 2021. 

 
 

      ___________________________________ 
           Village President 

 
ATTEST:____________________________ 

Village Clerk

Page | 21AGENDA - 12/7/2021, C -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 

STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 

COUNTY OF COOK  ) SS 

COUNTY OF WILL  ) 

 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 
      I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook and Will 

and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of 

Resolution No. 2021-R-116, “A RESOLUTION ADOPTING PERMITTING STANDARDS FOR 

WORK PERFORMED IN STATE RIGHTS OF WAY,” which was adopted by the President and 

Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on December 7, 2021.   

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of the 

Village of Tinley Park this 7th day of December 2021. 

 

____________________________________ 
       KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK  
 

Page | 22AGENDA - 12/7/2021, C -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 23AGENDA - 12/7/2021, D -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 24AGENDA - 12/7/2021, D -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 25AGENDA - 12/7/2021, D -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
1

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : ap_py

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

126342 11/19/2021 019214  BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD BCBS-DA-PPPR120121 IL065LB000001212-0 HEALTH INS EXP-NOV PM
86-00-000-20430 496.35
0000ILLB1212 HEALTH INS EXP-NOV PMT/DECBCBS-DA-PR120121
86-00-000-20430 275.60

Total : 771.95

126343 11/19/2021 002613  UNITED HEALTHCARE AARP AARP -PPPR120121 AARP POLICE PENSION NOV PMT/DEC COV
86-00-000-20430 3,256.61

Total : 3,256.61

Bank total : 4,028.562 Vouchers for bank code : ap_py

1Page:

Page | 26AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
2

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194749 11/19/2021 002734  AIR ONE EQUIPMENT, INC 174333 BREATHING AIR QUALITY TEST
01-19-000-72750 150.00
METER CALIBRATION INCL GAS174705
01-19-000-72750 530.00

Total : 680.00

194750 11/19/2021 002856  AIRY'S, INC 25475 FORCE MAIN REPAIR
64-00-000-72745 9,051.66VTP-018836
64-00-000-72745 4,629.03
WATER MAIN REPAIR25479
60-00-000-72745 2,525.37VTP-018830
60-00-000-72745 1,248.82

Total : 17,454.88

194751 11/19/2021 002570  AMERICAN SALES 330734 HOLIDAY DECORATIONS
01-26-024-73870 76.79
01-26-023-73870 153.58
60-00-000-73870 53.75
63-00-000-73870 53.75
64-00-000-73870 46.08

Total : 383.95

194752 11/19/2021 002452  AMERIGAS 3128687773 PROPANE
01-26-023-73520 61.38
01-26-024-73520 30.69
60-00-000-73520 21.48
63-00-000-73520 21.48
64-00-000-73520 18.42

Total : 153.45

194753 11/19/2021 019050  AN ENGLISH GARDEN LLC 000490 SYMPATHY PLANT
01-14-000-73870 58.00

Total : 58.00

194754 11/19/2021 018219  AXON ENTERPRISE, INC. INUS003441 11002 TASER X26P CEW - BLACK
01-17-220-74628 15,351.63VTP-018568

Total : 15,351.63

2Page:

Page | 27AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
3

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194755 11/19/2021 020262  BAECORE GROUP INC 159-01 PAYROLL PROCESS ANALYSIS 1 OF 2 PAYMENT
01-16-000-72650 3,175.00VTP-018802

Total : 3,175.00

194756 11/19/2021 012511  BEST BUY BUSINESS ADVANTAGE 102221 ****5339 RETURN LOCK UP TV ORDER BBY01-8
01-16-000-74128 -399.98
****5339 PD LOCKUP TV5551259
01-16-000-74128 399.98
****5339 LOCK UP TV5558216
01-16-000-74128 199.99
****5339 LOCK UP TV5558242
01-16-000-74128 199.99

Total : 399.98

194757 11/19/2021 018860  BIG STATE INDUSTRIAL SUPPLYINC 1459791 GLOVES
01-26-025-73580 480.00

Total : 480.00

194758 11/19/2021 019214  BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD BCBS-DA-AP120121 0000ILLB1212 HEALTH INS EXP-NOV PMT/DEC
01-26-023-72435 139.02
01-33-300-72435 60.09
01-26-024-72435 76.46
0000ILLB1212 HEALTH INS EXP-NOV PMT/DECBCBS-DA-PPAP120121
01-17-205-72435 496.33

Total : 771.90

194759 11/19/2021 019256  BURWOOD GROUP INC PS-15609-G4R1 PROFESSIONAL SVC AUG'21
01-16-000-72650 1,250.00

Total : 1,250.00

194760 11/19/2021 014148  CALL ONE 466199 VILLAGE LANDLINE PHONE SERV 11/15-12/14/
01-19-000-72120 3,038.17
60-00-000-72120 3,401.89
63-00-000-72120 377.99
64-00-000-72120 1,619.95
01-17-205-72120 3,592.27
01-14-000-72120 620.00

3Page:

Page | 28AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
4

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194760 11/19/2021 (Continued)014148  CALL ONE
01-11-000-72120 3.94
01-12-000-72120 9.06
01-17-205-72120 9.06
01-19-000-72120 1.97
01-26-023-72120 2.37
01-26-024-72120 2.37
01-33-000-72120 4.73
60-00-000-72120 5.90
01-12-000-72120 50.59
01-14-000-72120 158.10
01-15-000-72120 31.62
01-17-205-72120 94.86
01-19-000-72120 44.27
01-19-020-72120 12.65
01-26-023-72120 18.97
01-26-024-72120 18.97
01-33-000-72120 101.19
01-35-000-72120 18.97
01-42-000-72120 12.65
60-00-000-72120 63.24
63-00-000-72120 6.33

Total : 13,322.08

194761 11/19/2021 018503  CARDNO INC 322155 STORMWATER AREA MAINTENANCE PROF SVC THR
65-00-000-72591 25,430.99VTP-018306

Total : 25,430.99

194762 11/19/2021 003328  CATCHING FLUIDPOWER INC K53893-001 PH HYD CPLRS,PH GEN PURP HSE
60-00-000-73630 128.99
63-00-000-73630 14.33
64-00-000-73630 61.43

Total : 204.75

194763 11/19/2021 003243  CDW GOVERNMENT INC M839447 VERBATIM 128GB USB FLASH DRIVE
01-16-000-74128 494.75
EDGE 8GB C3 USB 3.0 FLASH DRIVEM840937

4Page:

Page | 29AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
5

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194763 11/19/2021 (Continued)003243  CDW GOVERNMENT INC
01-16-000-74128 600.00
LOGITECH C920S PRO HD WEBCAM AND LOGI H3N446924
01-16-000-74128 1,149.84

Total : 2,244.59

194764 11/19/2021 003229  CED/EFENGEE 5025-1003157 GALV NIPPLE, GALV CPLG, NO THRD CONN
60-00-000-73630 16.47
63-00-000-73630 1.83
64-00-000-73630 7.85

Total : 26.15

194765 11/19/2021 018060  CELTIC COMMERCIAL PAINTING,LLC 9470 PAINTING - HR OFFICE
01-26-025-72520 480.00VTP-018744
PREPARE AND PAINT THE WALLS IN THE9471
01-26-025-72520 480.00VTP-018744

Total : 960.00

194766 11/19/2021 012012  CERTIFIED LABORATORIES DIV. 7564013 PREMALUBE 120LB TUB OF GREASE
01-26-023-73535 354.07VTP-018828
01-26-024-73535 177.03VTP-018828
60-00-000-73535 184.11VTP-018828
63-00-000-73535 61.96VTP-018828
64-00-000-73535 108.00VTP-018828

Total : 885.17

194767 11/19/2021 015199  CHICAGO PARTS & SOUND LLC 3-0046865 FD ACD 48GHR
01-19-000-72540 144.91

Total : 144.91

194768 11/19/2021 003137  CHRISTOPHER B.BURKE ENGINEERNG 170561 01.R160373.00007 POST 4 LIFT STATION IMP
61-00-000-75320 1,634.00
01.R160373.00008 POST 5 LIFT STATION RED170562
61-00-000-72840 541.37
01.R160373.0003C LIGHTING PHASE 5170563
30-00-000-75500 2,264.00
01.R160373.00002 INTERIM VILLAGE ENG SVC170564

5Page:

Page | 30AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
6

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194768 11/19/2021 (Continued)003137  CHRISTOPHER B.BURKE ENGINEERNG
64-00-000-72840 496.00
60-00-000-75813 3,232.75
63-00-000-75813 3,232.75
60-00-000-72840 2,509.00

Total : 13,909.87

194769 11/19/2021 012315  CLASSY FLOWERS 100006588 SYMPATHY FLOWERS
01-26-023-73110 23.58
01-26-024-73110 11.79
60-00-000-73110 14.86
63-00-000-73110 1.65
64-00-000-73110 7.07

Total : 58.95

194770 11/19/2021 012057  COMCAST CABLE 8771401810010702 ACCT#8771401810010702 16250 OPA 11/16-12
01-35-000-72517 10.51
ACCT#8771401810028977 7980 183RD ST 11/18771401810028977
01-26-025-72517 52.55
17355 68TH CT ACCT# 8771 40 181 02963198771401810296319
01-14-000-72125 243.35VTP-018413

Total : 306.41

194771 11/19/2021 013878  COMED - COMMONWEALTH EDISON 0385181000 ACCT#0385181000 18001 80TH AV 10/10-11/8
01-26-025-72510 2,110.40
ACCT#0385440022 SS BROKSIDE GLN1E 10/15-0385440022
64-00-000-72510 35.25
ACCT#0421064066 LAPORTE RD&WATERVIEW TRL0421064066
64-00-000-72510 98.13
ACCT#0471006425 19948 SILVERSIDE DR 10/10471006425
01-26-024-72510 62.18
ACCT#0637059039 7950 W TIMBER DR 10/8-110637059039
64-00-000-72510 103.54
ACCT#2922039023 9342 PARKWOOD LN 10/11-12922039023
01-26-024-72510 25.88
ACCT#4943163008 7650 TIMBER DR 10/8-11/84943163008
70-00-000-72510 21.49

6Page:

Page | 31AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
7

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194771 11/19/2021 (Continued)013878  COMED - COMMONWEALTH EDISON
ACCT#5983017013 19112 S 80TH AVE 10/12-15983017013
63-00-000-72510 67.41

Total : 2,524.28

194772 11/19/2021 018311  CONNECTION 72041264 25FT CAT6 BLUE FLAT SNAGLESS
01-16-000-74128 25.10
QUICK DISCONNECT IN-LINE MUTE AND EAR CU72054856
01-21-210-73110 99.10
SMART BUY WIRED 320K KEYBOARD72063301
01-16-000-74128 143.70

Total : 267.90

194773 11/19/2021 018234  CORE & MAIN LP 908533 69S 5-1/4 X 9 SCREW VB RISER
60-00-000-73630 91.60
63-00-000-73630 10.18
64-00-000-73630 43.62
6 SIP EZ GRIP AND 6" UFR 1400 ASSEMBLYP895431
60-00-000-73630 129.78
63-00-000-73630 14.42
64-00-000-73630 61.80

Total : 351.40

194774 11/19/2021 020267  CORNERSTONE GOVERNMENT AFFAIRSVTP-102021 GOVT RELATIONS AND CONSULT SVC 10/18-11/
01-14-000-72790 500.00
20-00-000-72849 3,250.00

Total : 3,750.00

194775 11/19/2021 014567  COUNTRY INN & SUITES TINLEY PK 111721 REIMB FOR CITATION A1-13121 FOR FINE BEI
01-14-000-79099 750.00

Total : 750.00

194776 11/19/2021 017650  CRASH CHAMPIONS LLC-MOKENA 10604104 UNIT 20A PD FLEET - SERVICE
01-17-205-72540 912.88

Total : 912.88

194777 11/19/2021 003635  CROSSMARK PRINTING, INC 84379 ALARM PERMIT STICKERS 2022

7Page:

Page | 32AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
8

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194777 11/19/2021 (Continued)003635  CROSSMARK PRINTING, INC
01-17-205-72310 805.39VTP-018757
EXCEPTIONAL ACTIVITY REPORT84692
01-17-205-72310 1,146.22VTP-018811
DRIVER INFORMATION EXCHANGE CARD84757
01-17-205-72310 128.95

Total : 2,080.56

194778 11/19/2021 014232  DIGI-KEY CORPORATION 1453109 85264576 AC-DC DIN RAIL POWER SUPPLY 75W
60-00-000-75812 82.89

Total : 82.89

194779 11/19/2021 004009  EAGLE UNIFORM CO INC INV-4379 BLANKET PO FOR CLASS A UNIFORMS
01-19-000-73610 288.90VTP-018598
UNIFORM FOR JIM CALOMINOINV-4435
01-19-020-73610 420.00VTP-018800
BLANKET PO FOR CLASS A UNIFORMS D.REDAINV-4447
01-19-000-73610 5.00VTP-018598
BLANKET PO FOR CLASS B UNIFORM ITEMS T.OINV-4471
01-19-000-73610 229.50VTP-018597

Total : 943.40

194780 11/19/2021 004152  ECOLAB PEST ELIMINATION INC. 2565693 ANT PROGRAM ONE SHOT
01-26-025-72790 150.00

Total : 150.00

194781 11/19/2021 004119  ETP LABS INC. 21-135533 COLIFORM SAMPLES
60-00-000-72865 400.40
63-00-000-72865 171.60

Total : 572.00

194782 11/19/2021 004019  EVON'S TROPHIES & AWARDS 091021 BOX CLOCK AND GOLD BRASS EAGLE N.PESTLIN
01-41-050-72934 251.36
JDS 2 1/2X 1 BRIGHT GOLD OXIDIZED C.TILL102021.
01-19-000-72974 10.00

Total : 261.36

8Page:

Page | 33AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
9

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194783 11/19/2021 020278  FARHOUD, SHAREF 111721 WATER METER REIMBURSEMENT FOR 7644 163RD
60-00-000-74175 210.00
64-00-000-74175 90.00

Total : 300.00

194784 11/19/2021 015058  FLEETPRIDE 85686381 AUTO DRAIN VALVE
01-26-023-72540 307.32
AIR PRIMARY RADIALSEAL85809011
01-26-023-72530 28.36
1/2" X 20" AB HOSE 3/8" ENDS85835408
01-26-023-72540 11.96

Total : 347.64

194785 11/19/2021 012941  FMP 52-498645 TIRE PRESSURE
01-21-000-72540 -9.75
ENGINE OIL PRES - 2014 CHEVY TAHOE52-499429
01-19-000-72540 51.45
INTAKE MANIFOLD - 2014 CHEVY TAHOE52-499481
01-19-000-72540 64.35
SENSOR OXYGEN - FOR STOCK53-408159
01-17-205-72540 76.14

Total : 182.19

194786 11/19/2021 011132  FORCE ENTERPRISES 053869 VILLAGE ENVELOPES
01-14-000-72310 261.42

Total : 261.42

194787 11/19/2021 011611  FOX VALLEY FIRE & SAFETY CO. IN00474504JW RADIO INSPECTIONS
14-00-000-72550 3,795.00VTP-018783
RADIO MAINTENANCEIN00479621
14-00-000-74150 62.00

Total : 3,857.00

194788 11/19/2021 019349  GARVEY'S OFFICE PRODUCTS PINV2163378 LYSOL WIPES AND LABELS
01-19-000-73110 29.34
KRAFT FOLDERPINV2167137
01-19-000-73110 57.29

9Page:

Page | 34AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
10

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 86.63194788 11/19/2021 019349 019349  GARVEY'S OFFICE PRODUCTS

194789 11/19/2021 010415  GERARD & ROBERTS CONSTR. INC. 20345 REFURBISH THREE BENCHES AND SIX PLANTERS
01-35-000-72923 900.00VTP-018834

Total : 900.00

194790 11/19/2021 015372  GIS CONSORTIUM 655 <GIS> - GISC SHARED INITIATIVES RENEWAL
01-16-000-72652 3,172.00
60-00-000-72652 1,998.36
63-00-000-72652 222.04
64-00-000-72652 951.60

Total : 6,344.00

194791 11/19/2021 004538  GOLDY LOCKS INC 700304 SINGLE CUT DUPLICATE KEY
01-26-023-73840 15.50

Total : 15.50

194792 11/19/2021 004493  GORDON FOOD SERVICE INC. 768183885 MARKETING HOLIDAY EVENTS - CANDY TOOTSIE
01-35-000-72954 170.03

Total : 170.03

194793 11/19/2021 004438  GRAINGER 9108887085 SAFETY BANNER
01-26-025-72520 389.72
MIG WELDING WIRE9115086663
01-26-024-73730 54.02
CLEANER AND POLISH9115086671
01-26-025-73580 142.32

Total : 586.06

194794 11/19/2021 019784  HEARTLAND BUSINESS SYSTEMS LLC 477441-H NETWORK SECURITY CONTRACTOR
30-00-000-72872 2,362.50VTP-018714

Total : 2,362.50

194795 11/19/2021 010238  HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES 111021 ****2304 DIGITAL TIMER,POWER STRIP,GREEN
01-26-024-73870 73.90
01-26-023-73870 147.79
60-00-000-73870 51.73
63-00-000-73870 51.73

10Page:

Page | 35AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
11

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194795 11/19/2021 (Continued)010238  HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES
64-00-000-73870 44.33

Total : 369.48

194796 11/19/2021 014310  IAFC MEMBERSHIP 000133508 MEMBERSHIP / STEPHEN KLOTZ
01-19-000-72720 240.00

Total : 240.00

194797 11/19/2021 018049  IDENTITY AUTOMATION, LP INV-05582 <IT> - PRFSNL SRVCS - ADDTIONAL 2FA CONF
30-00-000-74126 3,600.00VTP-018095

Total : 3,600.00

194798 11/19/2021 005123  ILLINOIS FIRE INSPECTORS ASSOC 22543 2022 IFIA MEMBERSHIP DUES
01-19-020-72720 100.00

Total : 100.00

194799 11/19/2021 005025  INTERNATIONAL CODE COUNCIL INC 3321882 MEMBERSHIP 5196071 -  D. RIORDAN
01-19-020-72720 265.00

Total : 265.00

194800 11/19/2021 020279  IROQUOIS PAVING Ref001413879 UB Refund Cst #00487329
60-00-000-20599 600.00

Total : 600.00

194801 11/19/2021 005222  LEE JENSEN SALES CO., INC. 0013378-00 REPAIR SCHONSTEDT AND HEAD PHONE JACK
60-00-000-74017 65.63
63-00-000-74017 65.63
64-00-000-74017 56.24
60-00-000-74017 48.94
63-00-000-74017 48.94
64-00-000-74017 41.94

Total : 327.32

194802 11/19/2021 020207  LENNY'S GAS N WASH 183RD ST 2804 CAR WASH - CD
01-33-300-72540 4.00
PD CAR WASH FOR UNITS 3D,1C,3D2805
01-17-205-72540 12.00
CAR WASH- PW2806

11Page:

Page | 36AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
12

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194802 11/19/2021 (Continued)020207  LENNY'S GAS N WASH 183RD ST
01-26-023-72540 4.00
60-00-000-72540 2.10
63-00-000-72540 0.70
64-00-000-72540 1.20

Total : 24.00

194803 11/19/2021 014402  LEXISNEXIS RISK DATA MNGMNT 1038013-20211031 OCT 2021 MIN COMMITMENT
01-17-225-72852 150.00

Total : 150.00

194804 11/19/2021 006559  LINDE GAS & EQUIPMENT INC 67108654 OXYGEN
60-00-000-73730 25.29
63-00-000-73730 25.29
64-00-000-73730 21.67

Total : 72.25

194805 11/19/2021 014846  LORENCE, BRUCE 120121 DEC'21 OPA TRAIN STATION MAINTENANCE
01-26-025-72530 30.00

Total : 30.00

194806 11/19/2021 003440  M. COOPER WINSUPPLY CO. 06902401 CLOSET REPAIR KIT,WATER SAVER REPAIR KIT
01-26-025-73630 80.19

Total : 80.19

194807 11/19/2021 019379  MACQUEEN EMERGENCY GROUP W01367 VELOCITY AERIAL REPAIR - CONDENSER
01-19-000-72540 11,527.05
FLEET C012888 ENFORCER PUMPER SVC AND REW01402
01-19-000-72540 2,467.91

Total : 13,994.96

194808 11/19/2021 012631  MASTER AUTO SUPPLY, LTD. 15030-110505 VALVE ASY
01-17-205-72540 48.24

Total : 48.24

194809 11/19/2021 006067  MELROSE PYROTECHNICS, INC 21-196 RETURN BOND DEP FOR FIREWORKS 7/4/2021
84-00-000-20550 1,000.00

12Page:

Page | 37AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
13

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 1,000.00194809 11/19/2021 006067 006067  MELROSE PYROTECHNICS, INC

194810 11/19/2021 006074  MENARDS 13154 FLEXZILLA CORDRL,DUAL AIR CHUCK,RUBBER A
01-19-000-73870 216.51
2" CLADDING SCREW13346
01-26-025-73840 8.69
ULTIMATE WHEEL CLEANER13388
01-19-000-73870 9.49
48" SILVER J MOLD,FIXED MOUNTING CLIPS13390
01-26-025-72520 11.48
20WMR16 3KGU5.3 DLED 12 V,60W A19 27K LE13391
01-26-025-72520 64.26
01-26-024-73110 1.59
01-26-023-73110 3.20
60-00-000-73110 2.02
63-00-000-73110 0.22
64-00-000-73110 0.96
201 PC HOLLOW WALL ANCHOR13392
01-26-025-72520 17.97
AIR FILTER RETURN13402
01-26-025-72520 -11.87
PL CONCRETE CRACK SEALER,ANVIL PRUNER,1013403
01-26-023-73410 84.42
SLEEVE ANCHORS13446
01-26-025-73840 12.81
STEP LADDER,BUNGEES,AMO RATCHET TIE DOWN13453
01-26-024-73410 24.73
01-26-023-73410 49.46
60-00-000-73410 31.16
63-00-000-73410 3.46
64-00-000-73410 14.84
5 GAL PAIL,GREEN CORD,ANVIL PRUNER, FORG13490
01-26-023-73410 49.92
01-35-000-73112 303.07
FLUOR LO PROFILE SOCKET13491
01-26-025-72520 3.97
SHELF BIN,RAFTER HANGER,STOWAWAY,STACKIN13537

13Page:

Page | 38AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
14

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194810 11/19/2021 (Continued)006074  MENARDS
60-00-000-73110 25.78
63-00-000-73110 2.87
64-00-000-73110 12.28
MAP / PRO GAS,PERFORMANCE 16'TAPE,METAL13538
60-00-000-73410 42.70
63-00-000-73410 4.74
64-00-000-73410 20.33
ALL PURPOSE CLEANER13692
01-26-025-73580 21.92
EYE BOLT 3/4 X 6 ZINC13737
01-26-025-73840 8.49
STAPLER,STAPLES,UTIL KNIFE, BLADE,R13 3.13800
60-00-000-73840 21.18
63-00-000-73840 7.06
64-00-000-73840 12.11
60-00-000-72520 62.89
63-00-000-72520 62.89
64-00-000-72520 53.90
OUTLET PLATES AND 20 A TR ST GFCI13840
01-26-024-73570 48.99

Total : 1,310.49

194811 11/19/2021 017651  MSC INDUSTRIAL SUPPLY CO. 5004913002 ROLOC SANDING DISC
01-26-024-73410 63.88
01-26-023-73410 127.76
60-00-000-73410 80.49
63-00-000-73410 8.94
64-00-000-73410 38.33

Total : 319.40

194812 11/19/2021 019305  MXTOOLBOX INC 755724 <IT> - EMAIL BLACKLIST MONITORING SFTW 1
01-16-000-72650 3,588.00

Total : 3,588.00

194813 11/19/2021 015723  NICOR 33079168366 ACCT#33079168366 METER 4385355 9322 LAPO
64-00-000-72511 42.09

14Page:

Page | 39AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
15

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194813 11/19/2021 (Continued)015723  NICOR
ACCT#49924710004 METER 4581759 9191 W 1749924710004
01-26-025-72511 304.16

Total : 346.25

194814 11/19/2021 006178  NORMAN'S 60023 UNIFORM/BARAJAS
01-21-000-73610 23.00

Total : 23.00

194815 11/19/2021 006475  PARK ACE HARDWARE 066842/1 ACCT#9404 INV#066842/1 HOSE NOZZLE, NOZZ
01-19-000-73870 11.99
01-19-000-73580 18.98
ACCT#9404 INV 066851/1 METAL CUT WHL 4X3066851/1
01-19-000-73410 9.99
ACCT#891432 INV#066862/1 HOOK RAFTER SUP066862/1
01-26-023-73410 12.76
CHAIN MACHN STRT AND HOOK ROPE066884/1
01-26-025-72520 35.34
ACCT#9404 INV#66674/1 COMBO KIT,PLUNGER66674/1
01-19-000-73870 237.56
ACCT#891431 INV 66887/1 BOLT EYE,FASTENE66887/1
60-00-000-73840 11.70
63-00-000-73840 3.90
64-00-000-73840 6.68

Total : 348.90

194816 11/19/2021 006644  PUBLIC SAFETY GROUP, THE 6291 WHEN SECONDS COUNT INSERVICE TRAINING RE
01-21-210-72140 499.00VTP-018841

Total : 499.00

194817 11/19/2021 006850  QUILL CORPORATION 20823792 TR SPRL NTBK
01-33-000-73110 9.84
XSTMP, N10 PI .5 X 1.6320836328
01-33-000-73110 28.89
22 LAM WALL CALENDAR20859574
01-35-000-73110 30.59

15Page:

Page | 40AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
16

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 69.32194817 11/19/2021 006850 006850  QUILL CORPORATION

194818 11/19/2021 006361  RAY O' HERRON CO INC 2154670-IN UNIFORM R.FRIAS
01-17-220-73610 84.98
UNIFORM J.SHERLOCK2154919-IN
01-17-220-73610 366.54
UNIFORM J. THOMPSON2154920-IN
01-17-220-73610 351.95

Total : 803.47

194819 11/19/2021 015230  RIDGE LANDSCAPE SERVICES LLC 8034 INSTALL 3 YARDS OF MULCH AND TREES 8399
60-00-000-72881 89.25
63-00-000-72881 89.25
64-00-000-72881 76.50
LAWN RESTORATIONS 16129 FAIRFAX8035
60-00-000-72881 575.23VTP-018809
63-00-000-72881 575.23VTP-018809
64-00-000-72881 493.04VTP-018809
SOD REPAIRS 16128 FAIRFAX8036
01-26-023-73680 915.00
SOD REPAIRS 9357 183RD ST8037
60-00-000-72881 474.25VTP-018809
63-00-000-72881 474.25VTP-018809
64-00-000-72881 406.50VTP-018809

Total : 4,168.50

194820 11/19/2021 016611  RYAN ELECTRICAL SERVICES, INC. 15787 POLICE DEPARTMENT BACKUP 911 CENTER - A/
01-26-025-72530 5,785.00VTP-018571

Total : 5,785.00

194821 11/19/2021 007049  RYDIN 387083 2022 DOG TAGS
01-14-000-72310 249.38

Total : 249.38

194822 11/19/2021 007629  SAM'S CLUB DIRECT 011621 PAPER TOWEL,NAPKINS,SPLENDA,WATER, COPY
01-26-025-73580 240.86
60-00-000-73110 5.73

16Page:

Page | 41AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
17

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194822 11/19/2021 (Continued)007629  SAM'S CLUB DIRECT
63-00-000-73110 5.73
64-00-000-73110 4.91
01-26-023-73115 16.37
01-26-024-73110 8.19
01-14-000-73110 179.89
BATTERIES, PLATES, KLEENEX,PAPER PADS111121
01-14-000-73110 41.92
01-14-000-73115 15.75
60-00-000-73870 7.55
63-00-000-73870 7.55
64-00-000-73870 6.47
01-26-023-73870 27.15
01-26-024-73870 10.78
01-26-024-73110 2.79
01-26-023-73110 2.79
60-00-000-73110 1.76
63-00-000-73110 0.20
64-00-000-73110 0.84

Total : 587.23

194823 11/19/2021 007092  SAUNORIS 675295 TOP SOIL PER YARD
01-26-023-73680 37.00

Total : 37.00

194824 11/19/2021 015452  STEINER ELECTRIC COMPANY S007020700.001 175W QUAD TAP PROBE START METAL HALIDE B
01-26-024-73570 148.45
RED BUSH AND GALV COUPLINGS007024033.001
60-00-000-73630 6.33
63-00-000-73630 0.70
64-00-000-73630 3.02
3 COND TEMINAL BLOCK AND TRM BUT SPL VINS007024223.001
01-26-024-73570 44.44

Total : 202.94

194825 11/19/2021 007205  SUBURBAN LABORATORIES INC. 188091 DISINFECTANT BY PRODUCTS
60-00-000-72865 507.50

17Page:

Page | 42AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
18

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194825 11/19/2021 (Continued)007205  SUBURBAN LABORATORIES INC.
63-00-000-72865 217.50

Total : 725.00

194826 11/19/2021 000645  TED'S GREENHOUSE INC 523543 LANDSCAPE WATERING
01-26-023-72881 790.50VTP-018636

Total : 790.50

194827 11/19/2021 019560  THE STANDARD COMPANIES 144654 FLOOR CLEANER
01-26-025-73580 643.10VTP-018825

Total : 643.10

194828 11/19/2021 007777  THOMPSON ELEVATOR INSPECTION 21-2983 3 SEMI-ANNUAL ELEVATOR RE-INSPECTIONS
01-33-300-72853 114.00

Total : 114.00

194829 11/19/2021 012187  TOTAL AUTOMATION CONCEPTS, INC W26581 CONTROLING AIR TEMP FOR COLD ZONES AT VH
01-26-025-72530 178.00

Total : 178.00

194830 11/19/2021 007955  TRAFFIC CONTROL & PROTECTION 110164 SIGN MATERIALS
01-26-023-73830 2,202.00VTP-018732

Total : 2,202.00

194831 11/19/2021 008040  UNDERGROUND PIPE & VALVE CO 052015 REPAIR CLAMP
60-00-000-73630 941.85VTP-018795
63-00-000-73630 104.65VTP-018795
64-00-000-73630 448.50VTP-018795
PIPE FOR WATER MAIN052346
60-00-000-73630 537.86VTP-018833
63-00-000-73630 59.76VTP-018833
64-00-000-73630 256.12VTP-018833
60-00-000-73630 698.83VTP-018833
63-00-000-73630 77.64VTP-018833
64-00-000-73630 332.77VTP-018833
60-00-000-73630 430.92VTP-018833
63-00-000-73630 47.88VTP-018833

18Page:

Page | 43AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
19

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194831 11/19/2021 (Continued)008040  UNDERGROUND PIPE & VALVE CO
64-00-000-73630 205.20VTP-018833
60-00-000-73630 75.60VTP-018833
63-00-000-73630 8.40VTP-018833
64-00-000-73630 36.00VTP-018833

Total : 4,261.98

194832 11/19/2021 002613  UNITED HEALTHCARE AARP AARP-AP120121 NOV 21 PYMT FOR DEC 21 COVERAGE
01-13-000-72435 232.87
60-00-000-72435 129.04
01-17-205-72435 141.91
60-00-000-72435 324.39
01-15-000-72435 110.29
01-26-024-72435 233.86
01-26-023-72435 120.71
60-00-000-72435 214.86
01-17-205-72435 91.57
60-00-000-72435 43.72
01-17-205-72435 301.83
01-26-025-72435 43.69
AARP POLICE PENSION NOV PMT/DEC COVAARP-PPAP120121
01-17-205-72435 2,343.03

Total : 4,331.77

194833 11/19/2021 007987  UNITED METHODIST CHURCH 120121 DEC'21 PARKING RENTAL
70-00-000-72621 1,200.00

Total : 1,200.00

194834 11/19/2021 011416  VERIZON WIRELESS 9892775264 ACCT 280481333-00001 10/14-11/13/21
11-00-000-72127 73.68
01-11-000-72127 216.06
01-12-000-72127 72.02
01-13-000-72127 36.01
01-15-000-72127 36.01
01-16-000-72127 216.06
01-17-220-72127 1,840.84
01-17-205-72127 396.22

19Page:

Page | 44AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
20

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194834 11/19/2021 (Continued)011416  VERIZON WIRELESS
01-19-000-72127 1,116.43
01-19-020-72127 108.03
01-21-210-72127 288.08
01-26-023-72127 504.14
01-26-025-72127 216.06
01-33-000-72127 360.10
01-35-000-72127 108.03
60-00-000-72127 363.01
63-00-000-72127 40.33
64-00-000-72127 172.86
ACCT#280481333-00003 10/14-11/13/20219892775265
01-11-000-72120 307.55
01-12-000-72120 178.84
01-13-000-72120 84.42
01-14-000-72120 12.00
01-16-000-72120 526.67
01-17-205-72120 4,121.77
01-19-000-72120 268.07
01-19-020-72120 215.11
01-21-000-72120 48.91
01-21-210-72120 214.45
01-26-023-72120 1,168.24
01-26-024-72120 133.71
01-26-025-72120 262.70
01-33-300-72120 274.14
01-35-000-72120 42.21
60-00-000-72120 473.92
63-00-000-72120 52.66
64-00-000-72120 219.77
01-15-000-72120 -5.90
ACCT#285837077-00001 TELLULAR 10/14-11/198927766266
01-17-205-72127 8.50

Total : 14,771.71

194835 11/19/2021 020233  VICTORY MEDIA GROUP LTD 0C0BEF39-0002 CONSULTING RETAINER OCT'21
01-35-000-72790 4,000.00

20Page:

Page | 45AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
21

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 4,000.00194835 11/19/2021 020233 020233  VICTORY MEDIA GROUP LTD

194836 11/19/2021 006362  VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 7687 IEPA REICH LOAN PAY REIMBURSEMENT L17-50
60-00-000-73221 216,204.19
IEPA TRANSMISSION MAIN 4A REIMB L17-50827697
60-00-000-73221 181,673.89

Total : 397,878.08

194837 11/19/2021 010165  WAREHOUSE DIRECT WORKPL SOLTNS5097144-0 BNDR VIEW
01-26-024-73110 7.81
01-26-023-73110 15.62
60-00-000-73110 9.84
63-00-000-73110 1.09
64-00-000-73110 4.69
BNDR VIEW5097144-1
01-26-024-73110 2.40
01-26-023-73110 4.80
60-00-000-73110 3.02
63-00-000-73110 0.34
64-00-000-73110 1.44
MONTHLY CALENDAR AND CALENDAR DESKPAD5097370-0
01-26-024-73110 4.85
01-26-023-73110 9.71
60-00-000-73110 6.12
63-00-000-73110 0.68
64-00-000-73110 2.91
CALENDAR DESK PAD5097370-1
01-26-024-73110 1.09
01-26-023-73110 2.18
60-00-000-73110 1.37
63-00-000-73110 0.15
64-00-000-73110 0.67

Total : 80.78

194838 11/19/2021 020253  WEINER & ALEXA BALEN, EDWARD Ref001413880 UB Refund Cst #00511894
60-00-000-20599 93.46

21Page:

Page | 46AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
22

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 93.46194838 11/19/2021 020253 020253  WEINER & ALEXA BALEN, EDWARD

194839 11/19/2021 012677  WELLS FARGO CORP. TRUST SERV. TIN309GOR TIN309GOR PRINCIPAL & INTEREST - '09 REF
01-96-000-98040 337,532.10
31-00-000-98040 270,657.90
60-00-000-96139 206,231.70
63-00-000-96139 39,799.10
64-00-000-96139 115,779.20
31-00-000-98040 12,467.90
60-00-000-96139 4,227.75
63-00-000-96139 815.88
64-00-000-96139 2,373.47
33-00-000-98045 102,050.00
TINL613GO PRINCIPAL & INTERESTTINL613GO
27-00-000-96140 6,282.90
33-00-000-96140 250,695.90
41-00-000-96140 234,000.00
64-00-000-96140 83,567.25
65-00-000-96140 10,453.95
27-00-000-96140 2,087.05
33-00-000-96140 83,276.03
41-00-000-96140 77,730.00
64-00-000-96140 27,759.33
65-00-000-96140 3,472.59
TIN811GOR PRINCIPAL & INTEREST - LIBRARYTINL811GOR
38-00-000-96100 471,531.48
33-00-000-98043 138,468.52
38-00-000-96100 19,634.26
33-00-000-98043 5,765.74

Total : 2,506,660.00

194840 11/19/2021 020217  WEX 111621 FSA CARRYOVER FROM TASC. CHECK RECEIVED
84-00-000-20199 5,050.79
01-17-205-72430 2.80

Total : 5,053.59

194841 11/19/2021 008221  WILLE BROTHERS COMPANY 374112 4000 PSI AE READY MIX AND CARTAGE

22Page:

Page | 47AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
23

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194841 11/19/2021 (Continued)008221  WILLE BROTHERS COMPANY
60-00-000-73770 463.68
63-00-000-73770 51.52
64-00-000-73770 220.80
PSI AE READY MIX, CALCIUM CHLORIDE,MIX C374170
01-26-023-73770 516.26

Total : 1,252.26

194842 11/19/2021 008238  WINSTON'S MARKET 111021 NOVEMBER SENIOR LUNCHEON
01-41-056-72937 897.00

Total : 897.00

194843 11/19/2021 020275  ZETX IL21.0165M00 CELLULAR INVESTIGATION SYSTEM SUBSCRIPTI
01-17-225-72655 2,500.00VTP-018835

Total : 2,500.00

Bank total : 3,112,584.8595 Vouchers for bank code : apbank

23Page:

Page | 48AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
24

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : ipmg

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

3623 11/16/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP210526W019 PAYEE-ADVENTIST BOLINGBROOK HOSPITAL
01-14-000-72542 3,224.27

Total : 3,224.27

3624 11/16/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP210731W002 PAYEE-ALIGN NETWORKS INC
01-14-000-72542 342.84

Total : 342.84

3625 11/16/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP201019W041 PAYEE-ENCOMPASS SPECIALTY NETWORK
01-14-000-72542 85.10

Total : 85.10

3626 11/16/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP201019W041-1 PAYEE-ENCOMPASS SPECIALTY NETWORK
01-14-000-72542 196.39

Total : 196.39

3627 11/16/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP201019W041-2 PAYEE-ENCOMPASS SPECIALTY NETWORK
01-14-000-72542 245.70

Total : 245.70

3628 11/16/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200803W006 PAYEE-ENCOMPASS SPECIALTY NETWORK
01-14-000-72542 145.59

Total : 145.59

3629 11/16/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200803W006-1 PAYEE-ENCOMPASS SPECIALTY NETWORK
01-14-000-72542 190.59

Total : 190.59

3630 11/16/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200803W006-2 PAYEE-ENCOMPASS SPECIALTY NETWORK
01-14-000-72542 190.59

Total : 190.59

3631 11/16/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP210421W008 PAYEE-VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
01-14-000-72542 1,704.52

Total : 1,704.52

3632 11/16/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP210526W019-1 PAYEE-VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
01-14-000-72542 2,247.68

24Page:

Page | 49AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/18/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
25

 3:51:58PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : ipmg

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 2,247.683632 11/16/2021 018837 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP

3633 11/16/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200803W006-3 PAYEE-VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
01-14-000-72542 1,113.02

Total : 1,113.02

3634 11/16/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP210323W028 PAYEE-IPMG
01-14-000-72542 26.56

Total : 26.56

Bank total : 9,712.8512 Vouchers for bank code : ipmg

3,126,326.26Total vouchers :Vouchers in this report109

The Tinley Park Village Board having duly met at Village
Hall do hereby certify that the following claims or demands
against said village were presented and are approved for
payment as presented on the above listing.

In witness thereof, the Village President and Clerk of
the Village of Tinley Park, hereunto set their hands.

______________________________Village President

______________________________Village Clerk

______________________________Date

25Page:

Page | 50AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/24/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
1

10:18:50AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : ap_py

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

126344 11/26/2021 004640  HEALTHCARE SERVICE CORPORATION HCSVCS-PPPR120121 A/C#271855-HEALTH INS-NOV PMT/DEC COVERA
86-00-000-20430 20,088.70
A/C#271855-HEALTH INS-NOV PMT/DEC COVERAHCSVCS-PR120121
86-00-000-20430 18,200.19

Total : 38,288.89

Bank total : 38,288.891 Vouchers for bank code : ap_py

1Page:

Page | 51AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/24/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
2

10:18:50AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194844 11/26/2021 020283  AA RENTAL CENTER INC 01-224930-05 RENTAL OF TABLES AND CHAIRS FOR THE HOLI
01-35-000-72954 1,391.00VTP-018851

Total : 1,391.00

194845 11/26/2021 014472  AERO RUBBER COMPANY, INC. 111721 STORAGE 12/1/21-12/1/22
60-00-000-75118 869.40VTP-018844
63-00-000-75118 869.40VTP-018844
64-00-000-75118 745.20VTP-018844

Total : 2,484.00

194846 11/26/2021 018807  BAXTER & WOODMAN INC 0229166 190816.41 LAGRANGE RD EASEMENT ASSISTANC
62-00-000-72840 85.00
190816.60 LAGRANGE RD UTILITY -CS0229167
62-00-000-72840 2,525.00

Total : 2,610.00

194847 11/26/2021 002938  BEST TECHNOLOGY SYSTEMS INC. BTL-21079-3 POLICE DEPARTMENT SHOOTING RANGE MAINTEN
01-26-025-72779 1,090.00VTP-018561

Total : 1,090.00

194848 11/26/2021 002974  BETTENHAUSEN CONSTRUCTION SERV210149 SEMI TRUCK FOR HAULING LEAVES TO CHRISTI
01-26-023-72890 225.00
60-00-000-73681 330.75
63-00-000-73681 36.75
64-00-000-73681 157.50
SEMI TRUCK TIME FOR LEAVES TO CHRISTIANS210150
01-26-023-72890 255.00
60-00-000-73681 374.85
63-00-000-73681 41.65
64-00-000-73681 178.50
SEMI TRUCK LEAVES TO CHRISTIANSEN FARMS210151
01-26-023-72890 255.00
60-00-000-73681 374.85
63-00-000-73681 41.65
64-00-000-73681 178.50
SEMI TRUCK TIME LEAVES TO CHRISTIANSEN F210152
01-26-023-72890 225.00

2Page:

Page | 52AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/24/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
3

10:18:50AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194848 11/26/2021 (Continued)002974  BETTENHAUSEN CONSTRUCTION SERV
60-00-000-73681 330.75
63-00-000-73681 36.75
64-00-000-73681 157.50

Total : 3,200.00

194849 11/26/2021 011042  BOY SCOUT TROOP 911 112221 HONORARY DONATION FOR VILLAGE FLOAT DECO
01-35-000-72954 250.00

Total : 250.00

194850 11/26/2021 003229  CED/EFENGEE 4975-1008354 BALLAST AND FL LAMP T5 4100K 20906
01-26-024-73570 253.90
OCTRON FLUOR LAMP5025-1003236
01-26-024-73570 125.28

Total : 379.18

194851 11/26/2021 017349  CHICAGO STREET CCDD, LLC 21546 DUMP FEE 11/12/21
01-26-023-72890 280.00

Total : 280.00

194852 11/26/2021 014645  CHRISTY WEBBER LANDSCAPES 90092 VILLAGE HALL PLANTINGS AT SW ENTRANCE
01-26-025-72881 2,074.20VTP-018814

Total : 2,074.20

194853 11/26/2021 013820  CINTAS CORPORATION 4099421773 MATS- VH
01-26-025-72790 210.33
MATS- PW4100353700
01-26-025-72790 230.64
MATS - VH4100847314
01-26-025-72790 210.33
MATS- PW GARAGE4101755834
01-26-025-72790 230.64
MATS - PD4102038667
01-26-025-72790 111.81
MATS-VH4102269154
01-26-025-72790 210.33

Total : 1,204.08

3Page:

Page | 53AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/24/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
4

10:18:50AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194854 11/26/2021 012057  COMCAST CABLE 8771401810316240 ACCT#8771401810316240 7850 183RD ST 11/2
01-17-205-72517 55.40

Total : 55.40

194855 11/26/2021 013892  COMED 6771163052 ACCT#6771163052 TRAFFIC SIGNALS 10/15-11
01-26-024-72510 2,736.15

Total : 2,736.15

194856 11/26/2021 013878  COMED - COMMONWEALTH EDISON 0021100130 ACCT#0021100130 17529 66TH AVE 10/19-11/
01-26-024-72510 41.23
ACCT#0052035006 6720 SOUTH ST 10/19-11/10052035006
01-26-025-72510 1,195.01
ACCT#0369095018 6761 NORTH ST 10/19-11/10369095018
01-26-024-72510 106.34
ACCT#059019106 6750 SOUTH ST 10/19-11/170519019106
12-00-000-72510 5.38
ACCT#0522112018 17048 OPA 10/19-11/17/210522112018
01-26-024-72510 37.80
ACCT#122218001 1E OPA NORTH 10/19-11/17/1222218001
70-00-000-72510 102.18
ACCT#1224165129 7053 W 183RD ST  10/19-11224165129
01-26-024-72510 80.33
ACCT#2587063010 17311 OPA 10/19-11/17/212587063010
12-00-000-72510 20.24
ACCT#3784064010 16301 CENTRAL AVE 10/19-3784064010
60-00-000-72510 62.88
63-00-000-72510 62.88
ACCT#4329016037 17238 OPA 10/19-11/17/214329016037
12-00-000-72510 25.11
ACCT#4384028017 6815 HICKORY ST4384028017
01-26-024-72510 23.53
ACCT#4803158058 RIDGEFIELD LN LFT STN &4803158058
64-00-000-72510 130.73
ACCT#5437131000 7980 183RD ST 10/14-11/15437131000
01-26-025-72510 167.62
ACCT#7090006006 17231 OPA 10/19-11/17/217090006006
12-00-000-72510 20.24

4Page:

Page | 54AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/24/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
5

10:18:50AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194856 11/26/2021 (Continued)013878  COMED - COMMONWEALTH EDISON
ACCT#7398024011 7000 W 183RD ST 10/19-117398024011
01-26-024-72510 48.05

Total : 2,129.55

194857 11/26/2021 015846  COMMUNITY BAND FOUNDATION TP 112121 BAND PERFORMANCE FOR HOLIDAY MARKET
01-35-000-72954 250.00

Total : 250.00

194858 11/26/2021 007653  COMMUNITY CONSOLIDATED SD 146 112221 CENTRAL MS BAND PERFORMANCE HOLIDAY MARK
01-35-000-72954 100.00

Total : 100.00

194859 11/26/2021 007653  COMMUNITY CONSOLIDATED SD 146 112221. PERFORMANCE OF FIERKE CHOIR AT HOLIDAY M
01-35-000-72954 100.00

Total : 100.00

194860 11/26/2021 003635  CROSSMARK PRINTING, INC 84758 HOLIDAY EVENTS BANNERS
01-35-000-73112 250.00
CALENDAR 2022 DIVISION A & B84772
01-17-205-72310 272.95

Total : 522.95

194861 11/26/2021 012198  CRYDER ENTERPRISES, INC. 2722 THIRD PHASE OPA STREETLIGHT POLES
27-00-000-74418 18,750.00VTP-018702

Total : 18,750.00

194862 11/26/2021 018325  DAILY SOUTHTOWN 74072186 SUBSCRIPTION THRU 2/4/22
01-14-000-72720 77.50

Total : 77.50

194863 11/26/2021 010759  DANCE IMAGES 112221 PERFORMANCE OF DANCERS AT HOLIDAY MARKET
01-35-000-72954 100.00

Total : 100.00

194864 11/26/2021 009126  DAVID FLEMING ENTERTAINMENT 112221 STILT WALKING IN TOYLAND PARADE
01-35-000-72954 250.00

5Page:

Page | 55AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/24/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
6

10:18:50AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 250.00194864 11/26/2021 009126 009126  DAVID FLEMING ENTERTAINMENT

194865 11/26/2021 020284  DINASO, CAROL 112221 HOLIDAY DECOR
01-15-000-73110 23.04

Total : 23.04

194866 11/26/2021 012552  DISTRICT 140 BAND PARENT ORG. 112221 HONORARY DONATION FOR BAND AND CHOIR PER
01-35-000-72954 200.00

Total : 200.00

194867 11/26/2021 011176  ELEMENT GRAPHICS & DESIGN, INC 18369 REPAIR UNIT 20 A FORD INTEREPTOR
01-17-205-72540 72.07

Total : 72.07

194868 11/26/2021 011269  ELLIS, DON 145 PROVIDING SOUND AND STAGE SERVICES AT TH
01-35-000-72954 1,800.00VTP-018846

Total : 1,800.00

194869 11/26/2021 020281  FLANAGAN, PATRICK 112221 MAGIC SHOW HOLIDAY MARKET 12/5/21
01-35-000-72954 250.00

Total : 250.00

194870 11/26/2021 015058  FLEETPRIDE 86405005 WASHER
01-26-023-72540 21.80

Total : 21.80

194871 11/26/2021 020274  FRAME TECH 1 LLC 37231 WHELL ALIGN
01-17-205-72540 75.00

Total : 75.00

194872 11/26/2021 004538  GOLDY LOCKS INC 700752 DOOR REPLACEMENT POST 3
65-00-000-72525 2,275.00VTP-018768

Total : 2,275.00

194873 11/26/2021 004493  GORDON FOOD SERVICE INC. 768183999 CANDY FOR HOLIDAY PARADE AND SUPPLIES FO
01-41-056-72937 46.96
01-35-000-72954 220.32

6Page:

Page | 56AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/24/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
7

10:18:50AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 267.28194873 11/26/2021 004493 004493  GORDON FOOD SERVICE INC.

194874 11/26/2021 004640  HEALTHCARE SERVICE CORPORATION HCSVCS-AP120121 A/C#271855-HEALTH INS EXPENSE-NOV WH/DEC
01-26-023-72435 1,241.34
01-26-024-72435 1,378.12
60-00-000-72430 3.43
01-15-000-72435 407.36
01-16-000-72435 836.08
01-19-020-72435 407.36
01-21-210-72435 318.22
01-26-025-72435 58.19
60-00-000-72435 34.22
63-00-000-72435 6.52
64-00-000-72435 17.45
01-26-025-72435 836.08
01-26-023-72435 1,378.12
A/C#271855-HEALTH INS EXP-NOV WH/DEC COVHCSVCS-PPAP120121
01-17-205-72435 25,348.15

Total : 32,270.64

194875 11/26/2021 010238  HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES WP17253004 ****23004 COMBINATION WRENCH
60-00-000-73410 1.47
63-00-000-73410 1.47
64-00-000-73410 1.25
01-26-024-73410 2.10
01-26-023-73410 4.19
****2304 HOLIDAY DECORATIONSWP18053012
01-26-023-73870 29.91
01-26-024-73870 14.95
60-00-000-73870 10.47
63-00-000-73870 10.47
64-00-000-73870 8.96

Total : 85.24

194876 11/26/2021 001487  HOMEWOOD DISPOSAL SERVICE 7617394 30 YD EXCHANAGE AND DUMP CHARGES
01-26-023-72890 381.89

7Page:

Page | 57AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/24/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
8

10:18:50AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 381.89194876 11/26/2021 001487 001487  HOMEWOOD DISPOSAL SERVICE

194877 11/26/2021 014310  IAFC MEMBERSHIP 000133363 IAFC ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP 1/1/22-12/31/22 R
01-19-000-72720 240.00

Total : 240.00

194878 11/26/2021 005044  ILLINOIS FIRE CHIEFS ASSOC 2824 MEMBERSHIP RENEWAL - RETIRED 7 MEMBERS T
01-19-000-72720 40.00

Total : 40.00

194879 11/26/2021 005186  INTERSTATE BATTERY SYSTEM 10074168 STREET AND WATER BATTERY
01-26-023-72540 226.00
60-00-000-72540 118.65
63-00-000-72540 39.55
64-00-000-72540 67.80

Total : 452.00

194880 11/26/2021 004206  JBR INC. FUNDWAYS OF ILL.INC. 102221 RENTAL OF ATTRACTION TRAIN FOR THE HOLID
01-35-000-72954 2,655.00VTP-018848

Total : 2,655.00

194881 11/26/2021 018046  KEVRON PRINTING & MAILING,INC. 21-50455 TP HOLIDAY FLYER
01-35-000-72954 505.00

Total : 505.00

194882 11/26/2021 017845  KINDERCARE LEARNING CENTER LLC 112221 HONORARY DONATIN FOR CHOIR PERFORMANCE A
01-35-000-72954 100.00

Total : 100.00

194883 11/26/2021 019248  K-TECH SPECIALTY COATINGS INC 202111-K0105 BEET HEET
01-26-023-73812 6,558.57VTP-018821

Total : 6,558.57

194884 11/26/2021 003440  M. COOPER WINSUPPLY CO. 06519801 VB REPAIR KIT,WATER SAVER KIT,CLOSET SLO
01-26-025-73630 176.48

Total : 176.48

194885 11/26/2021 007100  M. E.SIMPSON COMPANY, INC 37710 WATER ASSESSMENT PROGRAM

8Page:

Page | 58AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/24/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
9

10:18:50AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194885 11/26/2021 (Continued)007100  M. E.SIMPSON COMPANY, INC
60-00-000-72790 10,253.00VTP-018817

Total : 10,253.00

194886 11/26/2021 013969  MAP AUTOMOTIVE OF CHICAGO 40-640806 PLENUM GSK LEMT ASY,FILTER ASY, SPARK PL
01-17-205-72540 255.01

Total : 255.01

194887 11/26/2021 012631  MASTER AUTO SUPPLY, LTD. 15030-110626 WINDSHIELD URETHANE STREET #10
01-26-023-72540 27.92
PLOW TRUCK EQUIPMENT15030-110665
01-26-023-72530 5.38
STARTER FOR UNIT#4015030-110795
01-26-023-72540 171.00

Total : 204.30

194888 11/26/2021 018439  MASTER FENCE INC 14223 RENTAL AND INSTALLATION OF FENCING FOR
01-35-000-72954 3,725.20VTP-018849

Total : 3,725.20

194889 11/26/2021 006074  MENARDS 14122 SUPPLIES FOR SANTA'S PLATFORM
01-35-000-72954 91.62

Total : 91.62

194890 11/26/2021 017900  MIDWEST PAVING EQUIPMENT, INC 2160 IGNITER KIT
01-26-023-72540 247.00

Total : 247.00

194891 11/26/2021 017651  MSC INDUSTRIAL SUPPLY CO. 5004936001 LOCK NUT,FEM SEAL,DRILL BIT,BRASS PIPE,B
01-26-024-72540 69.79
01-26-023-72540 235.24
60-00-000-72540 73.28
63-00-000-72540 24.43
64-00-000-72540 41.87

Total : 444.61

194892 11/26/2021 014443  MURPHY & MILLER, INC SVC00035262 HEATER SVC BUILDING DEPT
01-26-025-72520 3,392.97

9Page:

Page | 59AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/24/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
10

10:18:50AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 3,392.97194892 11/26/2021 014443 014443  MURPHY & MILLER, INC

194893 11/26/2021 015723  NICOR 64423710009 ACCT#64423710009 METER 3358398 6825 173R
01-26-025-72511 1,049.89
ACCT#81423710003 METER 2831616 17375 69T81423710003
01-26-025-72511 90.97

Total : 1,140.86

194894 11/26/2021 006221  NORTHERN SAFETY CO. INC. 904607049 GLOVES
01-26-025-73580 285.20
FIRST AID KITS904614634
01-26-023-73845 633.92VTP-018832
01-26-024-73845 316.96VTP-018832
60-00-000-73845 399.37VTP-018832
63-00-000-73845 44.37VTP-018832
64-00-000-73845 190.18VTP-018832

Total : 1,870.00

194895 11/26/2021 010135  ONSITE COMMUNICATIONS USA, INC 51480 MOTOROLA IMPRES 2000 MAH BATTERY PACK AN
01-17-220-74149 1,302.00

Total : 1,302.00

194896 11/26/2021 006475  PARK ACE HARDWARE 066897/1 ACCT#891431 INV#066897/1 GASKET FIBER
60-00-000-73630 4.02
64-00-000-73630 1.91
63-00-000-73630 0.45
ACCT#891431 INV#66888/1 LOPPER BYPASS FG66888/1
60-00-000-73410 20.15
63-00-000-73410 2.24
64-00-000-73410 9.60
ACCT#891432 INV#66908/1 LED FLASHLIGHT A66908/1
60-00-000-73410 25.18
63-00-000-73410 2.80
64-00-000-73410 11.99
ACCT#891432 INV#66914/1 TIE DOWN RTCH66914/1
01-26-023-73410 19.19

Total : 97.53

10Page:

Page | 60AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/24/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
11

10:18:50AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194897 11/26/2021 017268  PETERSON JOHNSON & MURRAY 135107 4130.0001 LEGAL SVC VTP- GENERAL MATTER
01-14-000-72850 18,498.50
4130.0003 LEGAL SVC FOIA SVC THRU 10/31/135108
01-14-000-72857 7,195.50
4130.0025 LEGAL SVC TP 2019 NO CASH BID135109
01-14-000-72850 214.50
4130.0029 LEGAL SVC MENTAL HEALTH CENTER135110
20-00-000-72850 14,875.50
4130.0031 LEGAL SVC TP EMINENT DOMAIN TH135111
27-00-000-72850 1,560.00
4130.0039 LEGAL SVC VOLLMER HARLEM ANNEX135112
01-14-000-72850 390.00
4130.0042 LEGAL SVC 7050 171ST ST SVC TH135113
01-14-000-72850 195.00
4130.0045 LEGAL SVC TINLEY FOIA COORDINA135114
01-14-000-72850 8,027.50
4130.0046 711 GEOL DBS COMM METERIAL SLN135115
01-14-000-72850 331.50
4130.0048 LEGAL SVC LOYOLA UNIV HEALTH S135116
01-14-000-72850 5,323.50
4130.0050 LEGAL SVC LINCOLNWAY 191 PROPE135117
01-14-000-72850 117.00
4131.0001 LEGAL SVC VTP GENERAL LABOR MA135118
01-14-000-72855 2,332.00
4160.0001 LEGAL SVC VTP PROSECUTIONS SVC135119
01-14-000-72858 6,956.00

Total : 66,016.50

194898 11/26/2021 015491  PIZZO & ASSOCIATES, LTD. 26177 FAIRFIELD GLEN POND RESTORATION
30-00-000-73681 1,378.30VTP-018556

Total : 1,378.30

194899 11/26/2021 006780  POMP'S TIRE SERVICE, INC 310195241 (2) FRONT TIRES, SERVICE CALL UNIT 90 SW
01-26-023-73560 1,138.00VTP-018829

Total : 1,138.00

194900 11/26/2021 006850  QUILL CORPORATION 18382042 CLEAR FDA BAGS

11Page:

Page | 61AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/24/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
12

10:18:50AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194900 11/26/2021 (Continued)006850  QUILL CORPORATION
01-33-300-73870 22.94

Total : 22.94

194901 11/26/2021 006361  RAY O' HERRON CO INC 2156570-IN UNIFORM R. FRIAS
01-17-220-73610 364.80

Total : 364.80

194902 11/26/2021 019246  REACH MEDIA NETWORK 75612 PLAYER LICENSE RENEWAL - PW ANNEX OFFICE
01-26-025-72655 350.00

Total : 350.00

194903 11/26/2021 012095  RECORD A HIT 211916. RENTAL OF GIANT SNOW GLOBE, GENERATOR
01-35-000-72954 1,260.00VTP-018785

Total : 1,260.00

194904 11/26/2021 020245  REILING, PETER D. 100721. SANTA SERVICES FOR 12/4 &12/5
01-35-000-72954 800.00VTP-018774

Total : 800.00

194905 11/26/2021 006922  RUBINO'S ITALIAN IMPORTS 111821 TCO MEETING
01-21-210-72170 74.37

Total : 74.37

194906 11/26/2021 019771  SALINA'S PASTA AND PIZZA 111121 INSTALLATION OF TENT AND RENTAL FOR VETE
01-35-000-72954 3,115.75VTP-018801

Total : 3,115.75

194907 11/26/2021 007629  SAM'S CLUB DIRECT 111721 VENDING MACHINE SODA,CLEANERS, COOKIE TR
01-26-025-73580 44.94
60-00-000-73115 12.68
63-00-000-73115 12.68
64-00-000-73115 10.86
01-26-023-73115 36.22
01-26-024-73115 18.11
01-14-000-73115 45.93

Total : 181.42

12Page:

Page | 62AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/24/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
13

10:18:50AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194908 11/26/2021 015712  SANDENO EAST INC 8063 N-30 SURFACE
01-26-023-73780 342.88

Total : 342.88

194909 11/26/2021 018104  SBA STEEL,LLC IN14060732 TOWER SITE RENT #IL46494-A-03 DEC'21
60-00-000-72631 201.01
63-00-000-72631 201.01
64-00-000-72631 201.01
01-17-205-72631 402.04
01-19-000-72631 335.03

Total : 1,340.10

194910 11/26/2021 007393  SOUND SONIC INC 112221 MUSIC FOR HOLIDAY PARADE
01-35-000-72954 100.00

Total : 100.00

194911 11/26/2021 012238  STAPLES BUSINESS ADVANTAGE 3416303276 GLOVE RETURN ORG INV 3414837880
01-17-220-72230 -70.90H
AVERY NAME BADGE3490664676
01-12-000-73110 45.38
CALC SPOOL AND KEYBOARD WRITE REST3492229695
01-15-000-73110 183.06
ENVELOPES, CARD STOCK,LABELS3492229696
01-15-000-73110 881.70

Total : 1,039.24

194912 11/26/2021 007090  STERICYCLE INC. 401544997 STERI-SAFE ANNUAL CONTRACT - PD
01-17-205-72750 2,268.60

Total : 2,268.60

194913 11/26/2021 007297  SUTTON FORD INC./FLEET SALES 541269 TRANS FILL TUBE
01-26-024-72540 21.65
01-26-023-72540 43.30
60-00-000-72540 22.73
63-00-000-72540 7.58
64-00-000-72540 12.99
KIT ANS SHAFT FRONT AXLE541323

13Page:

Page | 63AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/24/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
14

10:18:50AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194913 11/26/2021 (Continued)007297  SUTTON FORD INC./FLEET SALES
01-17-205-72540 177.18

Total : 285.43

194914 11/26/2021 000645  TED'S GREENHOUSE INC 219695 HOLIDAY DECORATIONS FOR THE HOLIDAY WALK
01-35-000-72954 2,820.00VTP-018850

Total : 2,820.00

194915 11/26/2021 019188  THE CHICAGO CAROLERS, LLC 112221 BALANCE DUE - TREE LIGHTING CEREMONY
01-35-000-72954 170.00

Total : 170.00

194916 11/26/2021 007692  TINLEY PARK  PARK DISTRICT 112221 PERFORMANCE OF PRESCHOOLERS AT HOLIDAY M
01-35-000-72954 100.00

Total : 100.00

194917 11/26/2021 007839  TINLEY PARK HIGH SCHOOL 112121 PERFORMANCE OF BAND AT HOLIDAY MARKET
01-35-000-72954 100.00

Total : 100.00

194918 11/26/2021 014829  T-N-T DANCE EXTREME 112221 PERFORMANCE OF DANCERS AT HOLIDAY MARKET
01-35-000-72954 100.00

Total : 100.00

194919 11/26/2021 013200  TRIBUNE PUBLISHING COMPANY 044192502000 CLASSIFIED LISTINGS 10/1-10/31/21
01-33-310-72330 1,033.53
01-13-000-72330 49.50
01-14-000-72330 600.00
01-26-024-72330 304.09

Total : 1,987.12

194920 11/26/2021 004106  TYLER TECHNOLOGIES INC 025-358246 INCODE COURT ANNUAL MAINTENANCE FEE 1/1/
01-17-205-72655 14,035.83

Total : 14,035.83

194921 11/26/2021 008040  UNDERGROUND PIPE & VALVE CO 052344 MAIN BREAK CLAMPS
60-00-000-73630 187.74VTP-018831
63-00-000-73630 20.86VTP-018831

14Page:

Page | 64AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/24/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
15

10:18:50AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194921 11/26/2021 (Continued)008040  UNDERGROUND PIPE & VALVE CO
64-00-000-73630 89.40VTP-018831
60-00-000-73630 225.54VTP-018831
63-00-000-73630 25.06VTP-018831
64-00-000-73630 107.40VTP-018831
60-00-000-73630 452.34VTP-018831
63-00-000-73630 50.26VTP-018831
64-00-000-73630 215.40VTP-018831
60-00-000-73630 187.74VTP-018831
63-00-000-73630 20.86VTP-018831
64-00-000-73630 89.40VTP-018831
63-00-000-73630 33.39VTP-018831
64-00-000-73630 143.10VTP-018831
60-00-000-73630 112.77VTP-018831
63-00-000-73630 12.53VTP-018831
64-00-000-73630 53.70VTP-018831
60-00-000-73630 119.07VTP-018831
63-00-000-73630 13.23VTP-018831
64-00-000-73630 56.70VTP-018831
60-00-000-73630 125.37VTP-018831
63-00-000-73630 13.93VTP-018831
64-00-000-73630 59.70VTP-018831
60-00-000-73630 226.17VTP-018831
63-00-000-73630 25.13VTP-018831
64-00-000-73630 107.70VTP-018831
60-00-000-73630 346.50VTP-018831
63-00-000-73630 38.50VTP-018831
64-00-000-73630 165.00VTP-018831
60-00-000-73630 245.07VTP-018831
63-00-000-73630 27.23VTP-018831
64-00-000-73630 116.70VTP-018831
60-00-000-73630 300.51VTP-018831
COPPER PIPE052428
63-00-000-73630 49.98VTP-018842
64-00-000-73630 214.20VTP-018842
60-00-000-73630 449.82VTP-018842

15Page:

Page | 65AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



11/24/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
16

10:18:50AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 4,728.00194921 11/26/2021 008040 008040  UNDERGROUND PIPE & VALVE CO

194922 11/26/2021 002529  VICTOR J. ANDREW HIGH SCHOOL 112221 PEFORMANCE OF BAND AT HOLIDAY MARKET
01-35-000-72954 100.00

Total : 100.00

194923 11/26/2021 010165  WAREHOUSE DIRECT WORKPL SOLTNS5103213-0 CALENDAR, TAPE,NOTEBOOK
01-26-024-73110 14.20
01-26-023-73110 28.38
60-00-000-73110 17.88
63-00-000-73110 1.99
64-00-000-73110 8.51

Total : 70.96

Bank total : 215,797.3680 Vouchers for bank code : apbank

254,086.25Total vouchers :Vouchers in this report81

The Tinley Park Village Board having duly met at Village
Hall do hereby certify that the following claims or demands
against said village were presented and are approved for
payment as presented on the above listing.

In witness thereof, the Village President and Clerk of
the Village of Tinley Park, hereunto set their hands.

______________________________Village President

______________________________Village Clerk

______________________________Date

16Page:

Page | 66AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/02/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
1

 3:51:20PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194924 12/3/2021 008882  3CMA 1350 MEMBERSHIP DONNA FRAMKE
01-35-000-72720 400.00

Total : 400.00

194925 12/3/2021 002856  AIRY'S, INC 25337 POST 4 IMPROVEMENT PROJECT
61-00-000-75320 208,033.06VTP-018508

Total : 208,033.06

194926 12/3/2021 002682  AMERICAN LEGAL PUBLICATION 12444 NOV'21 S-36 EDITING
01-13-000-72791 112.00

Total : 112.00

194927 12/3/2021 002628  AMERICAN WATER 120121 NOV'21 SEWER TREATMENT BROOKSIDE & RELAT
64-00-000-73225 46,766.88

Total : 46,766.88

194928 12/3/2021 020071  AMSIVE LLC 550693 NOV'21 WATER BILLS
60-00-000-72310 1,238.68
64-00-000-72310 530.86
LATE NOTICES550703
60-00-000-72310 277.61
64-00-000-72310 118.97
60-00-000-72110 440.51
64-00-000-72110 188.79
NCOA NEXT QTR UTILITY CUSTOMER CERT550757
06-00-000-72310 50.00
60-00-000-72310 35.00
64-00-000-72310 15.00

Total : 2,895.42

194929 12/3/2021 011720  APWA 796001 PRINCIPLES OF PW SELF-ASSESSMENT WORKSHO
01-26-023-72140 62.50
60-00-000-72140 21.88
63-00-000-72140 21.87
64-00-000-72140 18.75

1Page:

Page | 67AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/02/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
2

 3:51:20PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 125.00194929 12/3/2021 011720 011720  APWA

194930 12/3/2021 002763  AVIATION PRODUCTS SYSTEMS, INC A39687-1 ORANGE WINDSOCK
01-25-000-73112 134.64

Total : 134.64

194931 12/3/2021 010953  BATTERIES PLUS - 277 P45710077 3V LITH BATTERY
01-19-000-73870 53.50
RETURN 3V LITHIUM BATTERYP45885617
01-19-000-73870 -48.15
SLA12-8F ,POWPS-12120F2 BATTERYP46078706
14-00-000-72550 311.32
SLA12-7F2 BATTERYP46083616
01-26-025-72565 21.96

Total : 338.63

194932 12/3/2021 002974  BETTENHAUSEN CONSTRUCTION SERV210156 TRUCK TIME HAULING LEAVES TO CHRISTIANSE
01-26-023-72890 45.00
60-00-000-73681 66.15
63-00-000-73681 7.35
64-00-000-73681 31.50
TRUCK TIME HAULING LEAVES TO CHRISTIANSE210158
01-26-023-72890 255.00
60-00-000-73681 374.85
63-00-000-73681 41.65
64-00-000-73681 178.50
TRUCK TIME FOR HAULING SPOILS TO CHICAGO210159
01-26-023-72890 240.00
60-00-000-73681 352.80
63-00-000-73681 39.20
64-00-000-73681 168.00
TRUCK TIME FOR HAULING STONE FROM HANSON210160
60-00-000-73860 226.80
63-00-000-73680 25.20
64-00-000-73680 108.00
01-26-023-73680 180.00
70-00-000-73680 60.00

2Page:

Page | 68AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/02/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
3

 3:51:20PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 2,400.00194932 12/3/2021 002974 002974  BETTENHAUSEN CONSTRUCTION SERV

194933 12/3/2021 020290  BIELARZ, ASHLI & JOE Ref001414337 UB Refund Cst #00514580 waived reinstate
60-00-000-20599 150.00

Total : 150.00

194934 12/3/2021 019380  BOYD, MARIE Ref001414338 UB Refund Cst #00468133 overpayment
60-00-000-20599 607.41

Total : 607.41

194935 12/3/2021 003406  CDS OFFICE TECHNOLOGIES INV1419958 PANASONIC MK3 LIND DIST BOX & CABLES FOR
01-17-220-72567 169.00

Total : 169.00

194936 12/3/2021 014026  CHANDLER SERVICES 28141 UNIT E46 SERVICE VIN#4P1CD01W64A004310
01-19-000-72540 14,343.06

Total : 14,343.06

194937 12/3/2021 013388  CHICAGO METROPOLITAN AGENCY FY2022-249 FY'22 LOCAL CONTRIBUTION
01-14-000-72720 2,144.60

Total : 2,144.60

194938 12/3/2021 015199  CHICAGO PARTS & SOUND LLC 2-0000928 EMERGENCY LIGHTS
01-26-023-72540 340.00

Total : 340.00

194939 12/3/2021 017349  CHICAGO STREET CCDD, LLC 21589 DUMP FEE 11/15 AND 11/16
01-26-023-72890 420.00

Total : 420.00

194940 12/3/2021 018325  CHICAGO TRIBUNE COMPANY LLC 166164234 SUBSCRIPTION THRU 1/11/22
01-14-000-72720 51.51

Total : 51.51

194941 12/3/2021 013150  CHRISTIANSEN FARMS LLC 08077 LEAVES WASTE
01-26-023-72890 1,500.00

Total : 1,500.00

3Page:

Page | 69AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/02/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
4

 3:51:20PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194942 12/3/2021 013820  CINTAS CORPORATION 5085299419 MEDICINE CABINET - PUMP HOUSE 2
01-26-025-73117 56.54
MEDICINE CABINET - PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDNG5085299424
01-26-025-73117 274.08
MEDICINE CABINET - VH5085299438
01-26-025-73117 309.23
MEDICINE CABINET - PD SHOOTING RANGE5085299439
01-26-025-73117 140.19
MEDICINE CABINET - PUMP HOUSE 15085299443
01-26-025-73117 55.65
MEDICINE CABINET - PW GARAGE5085299453
01-26-025-73117 406.00
MEDICINE CABINET - PD5085299479
01-26-025-73117 380.16

Total : 1,621.85

194943 12/3/2021 013820  CINTAS CORPORATION 4103103241 MATS - PW
01-26-025-72790 230.64

Total : 230.64

194944 12/3/2021 012057  COMCAST CABLE 8771401810265348 ACCT#8771401810265348 6829 173RD PL 11/2
01-19-000-72517 90.74
ACCT#8771401810784702 7825 167TH ST 11/28771401810784702
01-19-000-72517 97.05

Total : 187.79

194945 12/3/2021 013878  COMED - COMMONWEALTH EDISON 0363058226 ACCT#0363058226 9340 W 179TH ST 10/21-11
01-26-024-72510 78.12
ACCT#2761036017 8317 AMBERLY CT 10/20-112761036017
01-26-024-72510 64.79
ACCT#3214011009 16853 LAKEWOOD DR 10/26-3214011009
64-00-000-72510 222.07
ACCT#6483053261 17495 LAGRANGE 10/21-11/6483053261
01-26-023-72510 25.14
ACCT#7063131025 7813 174TH ST 10/20-11/17063131025
64-00-000-72510 153.47
ACCT#8363023007 179TH & 82ND AVE 10/26-18363023007

4Page:

Page | 70AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/02/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
5

 3:51:20PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194945 12/3/2021 (Continued)013878  COMED - COMMONWEALTH EDISON
60-00-000-72510 125.59
63-00-000-72510 125.59

Total : 794.77

194946 12/3/2021 012410  CONSERV FS, INC. 66043030 SHOVELS
01-26-023-73410 106.40

Total : 106.40

194947 12/3/2021 018234  CORE & MAIN LP P959315 METERS
60-00-000-74175 1,004.50VTP-018839
64-00-000-74175 430.50VTP-018839
METERSP959408
60-00-000-74175 1,799.00VTP-018839
64-00-000-74175 771.00VTP-018839
HYMAX 2 FLIP CPLGP975098
60-00-000-73630 457.56
63-00-000-73630 50.84
64-00-000-73630 218.28

Total : 4,731.68

194948 12/3/2021 003635  CROSSMARK PRINTING, INC 84534 BUSINESS CARDS FOR M.COLEMAN AND J.ZOREN
01-33-000-72310 76.89
#10 REGULAR ENVELOPE84756
01-17-205-72310 271.42

Total : 348.31

194949 12/3/2021 004009  EAGLE UNIFORM CO INC INV-4505 BLANKET PO FOR CLASS B UNIFORM ITEMS M.K
01-19-000-73610 154.00VTP-018597
BLANKET PO FOR CLASS B UNIFORM ITEMS D.DINV-4539
01-19-000-73610 146.00VTP-018597
BLANKET PO FOR CLASS A UNIFORMS K.DUNNINV-4562
01-19-000-73610 85.00VTP-018598
BLANKET PO FOR CLASS B UNIFORM ITEMS DOBINV-4564
01-19-000-73610 520.50VTP-018597
BLANKET PO FOR CLASS B UNIFORM ITEMS SUTINV-4607
01-19-000-73610 522.00VTP-018597

5Page:

Page | 71AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/02/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
6

 3:51:20PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194949 12/3/2021 (Continued)004009  EAGLE UNIFORM CO INC
BLANKET PO FOR CLASS B UNIFORM ITEMS A.SINV-4638
01-19-000-73610 531.75VTP-018597
BLANKET PO FOR CLASS B UNIFORM ITEMS C.RINV-4658
01-19-000-73610 568.75VTP-018597
BLANKET PO FOR CLASS B UNIFORM ITEMS J.BINV-4661
01-19-000-73610 514.00VTP-018597
BLANKET PO FOR CLASS B UNIFORM ITEMS C.RINV-4684
01-19-000-73610 312.25VTP-018597
NAVY CLIP ON TIEINV-4698
01-19-020-73610 9.50

Total : 3,363.75

194950 12/3/2021 004152  ECOLAB PEST ELIMINATION INC. 5713353 COCKROACH/RODENT PROGRAM AND RODENT CEIL
01-26-025-72790 573.44
COCKROACH/RODENT PROGRAM5713354
01-26-025-72790 86.48

Total : 659.92

194951 12/3/2021 004094  EJ EQUIPMENT INC. P32937 WHEELS FOR SEWER CAMERA
64-00-000-72552 903.56VTP-018840

Total : 903.56

194952 12/3/2021 004119  ETP LABS INC. 21-52603 COLIFORM SAMPLES - RESIDENT COMPLAINT  7
60-00-000-72865 410.20
63-00-000-72865 175.80

Total : 586.00

194953 12/3/2021 004019  EVON'S TROPHIES & AWARDS 102221 EMBROIDERY SERVICE FOR SHIRTS AND JACKET
01-21-000-73610 236.00
RETIREMENT PLAQUE R.VIOLETTO112221
01-17-205-72974 205.50

Total : 441.50

194954 12/3/2021 018480  FARNSWORTH GROUP 228712 0170121.28 VTP LOYOLA AMBULATORY CARE CE
01-33-310-72847 1,815.00
0170121.29 VTP OAK RIDGE #29 PROF SVC TH228713

6Page:

Page | 72AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/02/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
7

 3:51:20PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194954 12/3/2021 (Continued)018480  FARNSWORTH GROUP
01-33-310-72847 907.50

Total : 2,722.50

194955 12/3/2021 004176  FEDEX (FEDERAL EXPRESS) 7-553-55100 ACCT#628785953 SHIPPING COSTS
01-13-000-72110 27.93
01-17-205-72110 35.14
ACCT#628785953 SHIPPING CHARGES TO PJM7-569-33431
01-13-000-72110 13.35
ACCT#628785953 SHIPPING COSTS FOR LOYOLA7-576-12233
01-14-000-72110 29.56

Total : 105.98

194956 12/3/2021 020291  FLANNAGAN, T Ref001414342 UB Refund Cst #00450228
60-00-000-20599 24.89

Total : 24.89

194957 12/3/2021 011132  FORCE ENTERPRISES 053824 HOLIDAY BANNER
01-35-000-72954 526.52

Total : 526.52

194958 12/3/2021 004224  FOREST VIEW FARMS 111921 3 HORSE DRAWN CARRIAGE RIDES FOR 2 DAYS
01-35-000-72954 7,780.00VTP-018855

Total : 7,780.00

194959 12/3/2021 020276  FRONTLINE PUBLIC SAFETY SOLTNS FL77127 QUALITY ASSURANCE/QUALITY IMPROVEMENT EV
01-21-210-72655 1,500.00VTP-018856

Total : 1,500.00

194960 12/3/2021 002877  G. W. BERKHEIMER CO.,  INC. 979954 TRUEFLEX V-BELT
01-26-025-72520 51.60
COIL WISK B979955
01-26-025-72520 3.14

Total : 54.74

194961 12/3/2021 004535  GALLS LLC 019683933 PERFORMANCE POLO CREDIT
01-21-000-73610 -39.95
TACTICAL PANTS019722528

7Page:

Page | 73AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/02/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
8

 3:51:20PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194961 12/3/2021 (Continued)004535  GALLS LLC
01-21-000-73610 68.00

Total : 28.05

194962 12/3/2021 019349  GARVEY'S OFFICE PRODUCTS PINV2169577 PAPER
01-19-000-73110 21.99
LETTER TRAYPINV2173218
01-19-000-73110 57.54
LABELS AND STAPLERPINV2174192
01-19-000-73110 53.04

Total : 132.57

194963 12/3/2021 004458  GATTO'S RESTAURANT & BAR 264320 RETIREMENT LUNCH R.VIOLETTO
01-17-205-72974 980.00

Total : 980.00

194964 12/3/2021 004493  GORDON FOOD SERVICE INC. 768184307 POPCORN FOR HOLIDAY EVENT
01-35-000-72954 29.25

Total : 29.25

194965 12/3/2021 004438  GRAINGER 9130195234 TEST LEAD 18IN. L BLACK/RED 1000VAC
01-26-024-73410 38.85

Total : 38.85

194966 12/3/2021 012281  HINCKLEY SPRINGS 5977593112721 ACCT#32542175977593 WATER COOLER RENTAL
01-21-210-73110 133.31

Total : 133.31

194967 12/3/2021 010238  HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES 112921 ****2304 LIGHTS
01-26-023-73870 119.76

Total : 119.76

194968 12/3/2021 011032  HUB INTERNATIONAL MIDWEST LTD. 2501027 4YR NOTARY BOND FOR NOTARY PUBLIC COMMIS
01-15-000-72720 20.00

Total : 20.00

194969 12/3/2021 015854  IFSAP 113021 IFSAP RECOGNITION LUNCH 12/10/21
01-19-000-72170 240.00

8Page:

Page | 74AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/02/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
9

 3:51:20PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 240.00194969 12/3/2021 015854 015854  IFSAP

194970 12/3/2021 005124  ILLINOIS DEPT. OF REVENUE 120221 LATE PAYMENT PENALTY ON Q3 SHORTAGE
84-00-000-20199 15.53

Total : 15.53

194971 12/3/2021 005123  ILLINOIS FIRE INSPECTORS ASSOC 22603 VIRTUAL MINI SEMINAR 11/19/21 "DID YOU K
01-19-000-72145 25.00

Total : 25.00

194972 12/3/2021 005186  INTERSTATE BATTERY SYSTEM 10074201 MT-59 PD 5D
01-17-205-72540 101.15
31-MHD BATTERY #54 STREET10074202
01-26-023-72540 350.85
31-MHD BATTERY10074223
01-26-023-72540 350.85

Total : 802.85

194973 12/3/2021 005250  J & L DOORS, INC 747047 LOCKSET
01-26-025-72520 712.19VTP-018727

Total : 712.19

194974 12/3/2021 005379  KLEIN, THORPE & JENKINS, LTD 219626 5409-001 ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS THRU 6/
01-14-000-72850 4,155.10

Total : 4,155.10

194975 12/3/2021 016801  LIBERTY FLAG & BANNER 18564 PRODUCTION OF NEW HOLIDAY BANNERS
01-35-000-73112 1,600.00VTP-018857
REMOVAL OF SPRING BANNERS & INSTALLATION18565
01-35-000-73112 4,895.00VTP-018858

Total : 6,495.00

194976 12/3/2021 006559  LINDE GAS & EQUIPMENT INC 67348872 ACETYLENE 10/20-11/20/21
01-26-024-73570 58.79
01-26-023-73570 117.58
60-00-000-73570 41.15
63-00-000-73570 41.15
64-00-000-73570 35.28

9Page:

Page | 75AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/02/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
10

 3:51:20PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 293.95194976 12/3/2021 006559 006559  LINDE GAS & EQUIPMENT INC

194977 12/3/2021 012631  MASTER AUTO SUPPLY, LTD. 15030-111127 PIGTAIL SOCKET ,RELAY MONARCH
01-26-023-72540 58.19
MINI BULB,SOCKET,PIGTAIL15030-111133
01-26-023-72540 91.52
SERP BELT-POLY RIB15030-111207
60-00-000-72540 14.36
63-00-000-72540 4.78
64-00-000-72540 8.21
BRAKE PADS15030-111317
01-26-023-72540 124.98

Total : 302.04

194978 12/3/2021 005844  MCDONALD'S 120121 NOV'21 PRISONER MEALS
01-17-220-72230 126.02

Total : 126.02

194979 12/3/2021 019338  MCGILL CONSTRUCTION CO LLC 2021-0233 PARKING LOT -METRA OPA N.STREET,FIRE TRA
62-00-000-75801 11,638.44
30-00-000-75801 112,746.33
71-00-000-75801 119,477.52

Total : 243,862.29

194980 12/3/2021 006074  MENARDS 13648 SNOW BRUSH/SCRAPPERS FOR EMA VEHICLES
01-21-000-72540 35.94
150CT 4*X NET CLEAR13746
01-19-000-73870 44.97
20' X 2" TOW STRAPLOOP13957
60-00-000-73110 7.07
63-00-000-73110 0.78
64-00-000-73110 3.37
35CT LED LIGHTS AND CHRISTMAS TREE13976
01-19-000-72524 99.93
COLOR DUCK,LAD LADLE HEAD GRAY,UTILITY K14068
01-26-024-73115 3.97
01-26-024-73410 4.77

10Page:

Page | 76AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/02/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
11

 3:51:20PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194980 12/3/2021 (Continued)006074  MENARDS
01-26-023-73115 7.94
01-26-023-73410 9.53
60-00-000-73115 2.78
63-00-000-73115 2.78
64-00-000-73115 2.38
60-00-000-73410 6.00
63-00-000-73410 0.66
64-00-000-73410 2.87
GFCI TESTER - SPERRY14085
60-00-000-73570 11.61
63-00-000-73570 11.61
64-00-000-73570 9.96
48" SILVER J MOLD14124
01-26-025-72520 -7.49
RAID DC ANT BAITS 4PK14125
01-26-025-72520 4.84
6X 3/4 PH FL WOOD ZINC, CARPENTER GLUE,S14133
60-00-000-73110 27.99
63-00-000-73110 3.11
64-00-000-73110 13.33
LIGHTS FOR PARADE OF LIGHTS14336
01-26-025-72520 388.66
LIGHTS FOR PARADE OF LIGHTS14337
01-26-025-72520 189.88
RUBBERBAND, SCISSORS,DECOR FOR POST 2 CH14341
60-00-000-73870 38.22
63-00-000-73870 38.22
64-00-000-73870 32.77
ACRYLIC SHEET14382
60-00-000-73870 20.99
63-00-000-73870 20.99
64-00-000-73870 18.00
CORDS AND ADAPATER - SANTA PLATFORM SUPP14383
01-35-000-72954 370.32
HOLIDAY LIGHTS AND TIMER14405
60-00-000-73870 41.62

11Page:

Page | 77AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/02/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
12

 3:51:20PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194980 12/3/2021 (Continued)006074  MENARDS
63-00-000-73870 41.62
64-00-000-73870 35.67
MINI HOOKS14415
60-00-000-73870 3.33
63-00-000-73870 3.33
64-00-000-73870 2.86
ICICLE LIGHTS, BOW,WOOD LATH - POST 2 DE14416
60-00-000-73870 10.60
63-00-000-73870 10.60
64-00-000-73870 9.09
1 COAT SATIN STAIN,PAINT BRUSHES, 9"HEAV14442
01-35-000-72954 49.08
POST 2 HOLIDAY DECOR - MAGNETS,HOOKS14604
60-00-000-73870 21.28
63-00-000-73870 21.28
64-00-000-73870 18.25

Total : 1,697.36

194981 12/3/2021 006020  METROPOLITAN INDUSTRIES, INC. INV033658 CELLULAR MODEM AND RELATED COMPONENTS
60-00-000-75812 2,876.00VTP-018823

Total : 2,876.00

194982 12/3/2021 005856  MONROE TRUCK EQUIPMENT,INC. 335192 MUNCIE ENCODER KIT
01-26-023-72540 547.27

Total : 547.27

194983 12/3/2021 017543  NEMECEK, STEVEN 113021 REIMBURSEMENT CHRISTMAS LIGHTS FOR PARAD
01-26-023-73870 104.57

Total : 104.57

194984 12/3/2021 015723  NICOR 01981510009 ACCT#01981510009 METER 3968968 7780 W 18
01-26-025-72511 302.44
ACCT#53463710003 METER2912216 18241 S 8053463710003
01-26-025-72511 45.65
ACCT#54072310003 METER 4353313 16250 OPA54072310003
01-26-025-72511 1,401.67

12Page:

Page | 78AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/02/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
13

 3:51:20PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194984 12/3/2021 (Continued)015723  NICOR
ACCT#73675410002 METER 3561300 7800 183R73675410002
01-26-025-72511 1,643.99
ACCT#74433410003 METER 3575402 7700 W 1874433410003
01-26-025-72511 41.21
ACCT#90223493009 METER 5080735 6700 SOUT90223493009
01-26-025-72511 302.11
ACCT#96019958527 METER 4582666 7999 W TI96019958527
01-26-025-72511 158.28

Total : 3,895.35

194985 12/3/2021 006475  PARK ACE HARDWARE 066925/1 ACCT#89143 INV#066925/1 HOOKS,VELCRO,SUC
01-26-024-73110 8.26
01-26-023-73110 16.54
60-00-000-73110 10.42
63-00-000-73110 1.16
64-00-000-73110 4.96
ACCT#9404 INV#66891/1 DISH SOAP,COFFEE,C66891/1
01-19-000-72220 47.88
01-19-000-73580 487.81
01-19-000-73870 74.54
01-19-000-73585 72.17
ACCT#891432 INV 66926/1 METR HX NUTS66926/1
60-00-000-73840 12.59
63-00-000-73840 4.20
64-00-000-73840 7.20
ACCT#891432 INV#66931/1 FASTENERS66931/1
01-26-023-73840 11.14
ACCT#891432 INV#66934/1 FASTENERS66934/1
01-26-023-73840 0.68

Total : 759.55

194986 12/3/2021 006597  PITNEY BOWES PURCHASE POWER 8000-9000-0107-6300 ACCT#8000-9000-0107-6300 POSTAGE BY PHON
01-33-300-72110 196.90
01-41-040-72110 18.44
01-13-000-72110 6.47
01-14-000-72110 688.74

13Page:

Page | 79AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/02/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
14

 3:51:20PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194986 12/3/2021 (Continued)006597  PITNEY BOWES PURCHASE POWER
01-17-217-72110 338.85
01-21-000-72110 3.18
01-19-020-72110 66.13
01-35-000-72110 207.20
01-33-310-72110 149.46
01-41-056-72110 274.94
06-00-000-72110 4.77
60-00-000-72110 362.48
64-00-000-72110 155.35

Total : 2,472.91

194987 12/3/2021 006507  POSTMASTER, U. S. POST OFFICE 120121 DEC'21 WATER BILLS
60-00-000-72110 1,913.89
64-00-000-72110 820.24

Total : 2,734.13

194988 12/3/2021 013587  PROSHRED SECURITY 990102475 SHREDDING SERVICES - PD
01-17-205-72750 127.20

Total : 127.20

194989 12/3/2021 020282  QBF GRAPHICS GROUP 51511 PURCHASE OF PROMOTIONAL ITEMS WINTER HAT
01-35-000-73210 710.88VTP-018854
PURCHASE OF PROMOTIONAL ITEMS WINTER HAT51512
01-35-000-73210 824.18VTP-018854

Total : 1,535.06

194990 12/3/2021 020289  RAFFERTY, LAWRENCE 120121 PER DIEM LUNCH ELI TRAINING 1/10-1/14/22
01-17-205-72140 75.00

Total : 75.00

194991 12/3/2021 017584  RELADYNE 1374180-IN (2) 55 GALONS OF DEF FLUID
01-26-023-73535 200.92VTP-018861
01-26-024-73535 100.46VTP-018861
60-00-000-73535 105.48VTP-018861
63-00-000-73535 35.16VTP-018861
64-00-000-73535 60.28VTP-018861

14Page:

Page | 80AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/02/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
15

 3:51:20PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 502.30194991 12/3/2021 017584 017584  RELADYNE

194992 12/3/2021 006870  RELIABLE FIRE EQUIPMENT 51273 6YR COMPLIANCE 20# PRES-ABC,TAMPER SEAL,
01-19-000-72535 290.10

Total : 290.10

194993 12/3/2021 015230  RIDGE LANDSCAPE SERVICES LLC 8021 MOWING NOV'21
01-26-023-72881 24,086.34VTP-018307

Total : 24,086.34

194994 12/3/2021 006874  ROBINSON ENGINEERING CO. LTD. 21110274 08-562.TP TP NBIS PROGRAM MANAGER - BRID
01-26-023-72840 3,459.25
21-R0430 TP SCANNELL DEV-VOLLMER & HARLE21110329
01-14-000-72840 8,287.00
21-R0612 TP PETE'S FRESH MARKET SVC OCT'21110330
28-00-000-72840 2,905.25
21-R0681 TP OAK RIDGE SUB (PANDUIT SITE)21110331
16-00-000-72840 2,765.25
20-R0382 TP MIDLOTHIAN CREEK STREAMBANK21110404
65-00-000-75310 2,632.00
21-R0320 TP CMAQ APPLICATION & PHASE 121110406
01-26-023-72840 1,550.00
21-R0545 TP  KIMBERLY HEIGHTS DRAINAGE P21110430
65-00-000-75310 8,400.00
21-R0708 TP LOYOLA MEDICAL (179TH & LAGR21-R0708
01-14-000-72840 9,605.25

Total : 39,604.00

194995 12/3/2021 016334  RUSH TRUCK CENTERS 3023458200 FILTER OIL RETURN
01-26-024-72540 -32.81
INJECTOR RETURN ORIGINAL INV 30232686353023458704
01-26-023-72540 -517.20
BRAKE SHOE KIT3024550542
01-26-023-72540 195.48
KT SHOE, BRAKE SHOE KIT,RETURN3024555179
01-26-023-72540 -63.84
KT SHOE BRAKE SHOE KIT RETURN ORG INV3023024572143

15Page:

Page | 81AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/02/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
16

 3:51:20PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194995 12/3/2021 (Continued)016334  RUSH TRUCK CENTERS
01-26-023-72540 -63.84
BAT,GRP31 925CCA RET3024662065
01-26-023-72540 -107.73G
BAT GRP 31 925CCA RET3025036955
01-26-023-72540 -107.73
KT SHOE,BRAKE SHOE KIT RET3025036956
01-26-023-72540 -63.84
SHIELD BRK DUST3025604837
01-26-023-72540 65.02
DRUM WHEEL BRK,KIT BRAKE SHOE3025632302
01-26-023-72540 624.64
FILTER KIT,FILTER ELEMENT,FUEL KIT UNIT3025726706
01-26-023-72540 241.09

Total : 169.24

194996 12/3/2021 017416  RUSSO POWER EQUIPMENT SPI10917472 HUSQVARNA K970 16"SAW
60-00-000-72530 808.49VTP-018845
63-00-000-72530 269.50VTP-018845
64-00-000-72530 462.00VTP-018845

Total : 1,539.99

194997 12/3/2021 007629  SAM'S CLUB DIRECT 112321 CANDY FOR HOLIDAY PARADE,TEA,CUTLERY,NAP
01-35-000-72954 111.84
01-14-000-73115 69.96
01-26-023-73115 3.59
01-26-024-73115 1.80
60-00-000-73115 1.26
63-00-000-73115 1.26
64-00-000-73115 1.06
WATER,BANKERS BOXES113021
60-00-000-73115 4.40
63-00-000-73115 4.40
64-00-000-73115 3.77
60-00-000-73110 5.54
63-00-000-73110 0.62
64-00-000-73110 2.64

16Page:

Page | 82AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/02/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
17

 3:51:20PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

194997 12/3/2021 (Continued)007629  SAM'S CLUB DIRECT
01-26-023-73115 12.58
01-26-023-73110 8.79
01-26-024-73115 6.28
01-26-024-73110 4.40
SENIOR CENTER TV120121
01-41-056-72937 567.99

Total : 812.18

194998 12/3/2021 019378  SECUREIT TACTICAL INC 321292. D0473-Y - BIN W/DIVIDER, MEDIUM, YELLOW
01-17-220-73760 54.32VTP-018670

Total : 54.32

194999 12/3/2021 007453  SERVICE SANITATION, INC. 8300389 RESTROOMS FOR FIREMAN TRAINING CENTER 12
01-19-000-72750 190.46

Total : 190.46

195000 12/3/2021 020292  SPECIAL, SCOT S & MEREDITH Ref001414343 UB Refund Cst #00493714
60-00-000-20599 248.13

Total : 248.13

195001 12/3/2021 007224  STANDARD EQUIPMENT COMPANY P32932 SENSOR METAL
01-26-023-72540 115.32
SWEEPER 90AUX-NO START. HARD START, REPLW07422
01-26-023-72530 6,472.73VTP-018806
01-26-023-72530 1,136.73

Total : 7,724.78

195002 12/3/2021 012238  STAPLES BUSINESS ADVANTAGE 3492677956 AVERY LABELS,PAPER,MECHANICAN PENCIL,PEN
01-14-000-73110 59.66
DAY CALENDAR,PAPER SLEEVES, TONER3492677958
01-17-205-73110 260.64
WALL CALENDAR,STAPLES,CERT HOLDER3493206691
01-14-000-73110 100.10
PASTEL PAPER3493206692
01-14-000-73110 70.92
SURGE PLUG AND DATER,PHRASE 2 COLOR3493206694

17Page:

Page | 83AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/02/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
18

 3:51:20PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

195002 12/3/2021 (Continued)012238  STAPLES BUSINESS ADVANTAGE
01-17-205-73110 62.66
LEGAL PADS,SHARPIE,STENO BOOK, POST IT3493206695
01-17-205-73110 153.04

Total : 707.02

195003 12/3/2021 011189  STAPLES CREDIT PLAN 1516 CARD STOCK
01-35-000-73110 109.95

Total : 109.95

195004 12/3/2021 019227  STREET COP TRAINING LLC 54836-576-1-11F9 TRAINING INTERDICTION MASTERMIND 12/6/21
01-17-220-72140 249.00
TRAINING INTERDICTION MASTERMIND 12/6/2154885-576-1-00EF
01-17-220-72140 249.00

Total : 498.00

195005 12/3/2021 007205  SUBURBAN LABORATORIES INC. 197259 DISINFECTANT BY PRODUCTS TESTING
60-00-000-72865 1,053.50VTP-018860
64-00-000-72865 451.50VTP-018860

Total : 1,505.00

195006 12/3/2021 007297  SUTTON FORD INC./FLEET SALES 541304 PIPE EXHAUST PD (5M)
01-17-205-72540 203.84
INSULATOR ASY (27B PD) AND BRACKET ENGIN541509
01-17-205-72540 159.41

Total : 363.25

195007 12/3/2021 006812  THE GALLERY COLLECTION 21A0020860 CHRISTMAS CARDS - PD
01-17-205-73600 213.86

Total : 213.86

195008 12/3/2021 007777  THOMPSON ELEVATOR INSPECTION 21-3011 INGALLS FAMILY CARE ELEVATOR PLAN REVIEW
01-33-300-72853 75.00
14 SEMI-ANNUAL ELEVATOR RE-INSPECTIONS21-3019
01-33-300-72853 532.00

Total : 607.00

195009 12/3/2021 019712  TM TIRE CO INC 137504 FIRESTONE ALL SEASON TIRES  PD 5M

18Page:

Page | 84AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/02/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
19

 3:51:20PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

195009 12/3/2021 (Continued)019712  TM TIRE CO INC
01-17-205-72540 461.96

Total : 461.96

195010 12/3/2021 012259  TPC TRAINING 219409 ELECTRICAL TRAINING
60-00-000-72140 418.25VTP-018582
63-00-000-72140 418.25VTP-018582
64-00-000-72140 358.50VTP-018582

Total : 1,195.00

195011 12/3/2021 011416  VERIZON WIRELESS 9893420832 ACCT#442345192-00001 WATER REPEATER 10/2
60-00-000-72127 31.94
63-00-000-72127 31.94
64-00-000-72127 27.37

Total : 91.25

195012 12/3/2021 010165  WAREHOUSE DIRECT WORKPL SOLTNS5109728-0 COVER REPORT
01-26-024-73110 7.20
01-26-023-73110 14.40
60-00-000-73110 9.07
63-00-000-73110 1.01
64-00-000-73110 4.31

Total : 35.99

195013 12/3/2021 018766  WEST CENTRAL MUNICIPAL 0007182-IN SPRING/FALL PLANTING FY2022
01-26-023-75630 8,467.00VTP-018362

Total : 8,467.00

195014 12/3/2021 011057  WEX BANK 75833768 ACCT#0414-00-849445-2 FUEL PURCHASES
01-17-205-73530 651.02

Total : 651.02

195015 12/3/2021 008342  WHOLESALE DIRECT, INC. 000254462 PLOW GUIDE 48"PAIR
01-26-023-72530 500.39

Total : 500.39

Bank total : 673,586.7092 Vouchers for bank code : apbank

19Page:

Page | 85AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/02/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
20

 3:51:20PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : ipmg

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

3635 12/1/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP210421W008 PAYEE-ALIGN NETWORKS INC
01-14-000-72542 617.94

Total : 617.94

3636 12/1/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200803W006 PAYEE-CIOX HEALTH
01-14-000-72542 35.88

Total : 35.88

3637 12/1/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200803W006-1 PAYEE-ELECTROSTIM MEDCL SVCS
01-14-000-72542 270.96

Total : 270.96

3638 12/1/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200803W006-2 PAYEE-ENCOMPASS SPECIALTY NETWORK
01-14-000-72542 331.22

Total : 331.22

3639 12/1/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200803W006-3 PAYEE-ENCOMPASS SPECIALTY NETWORK
01-14-000-72542 331.22

Total : 331.22

3640 12/1/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200803W006-4 PAYEE-ENCOMPASS SPECIALTY NETWORK
01-14-000-72542 188.73

Total : 188.73

3641 12/1/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200505W003 PAYEE-PETERSON JOHNSON & MURRAY
01-14-000-72542 1,724.00

Total : 1,724.00

3642 12/1/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP190326W026 PAYEE-PETERSON JOHNSON & MURRAY
01-14-000-72542 838.50

Total : 838.50

3643 12/1/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP210323W028 PAYEE-PHOTOFAX INC
01-14-000-72542 275.00

Total : 275.00

3644 12/1/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP210421W008 PAYEE-SOUTH SUBURBAN-SURGICAL SUITES
01-14-000-72542 12,786.10

20Page:

Page | 86AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/02/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
21

 3:51:20PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : ipmg

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 12,786.103644 12/1/2021 018837 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP

3645 12/1/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP201119W024 PAYEE-VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
01-14-000-72542 1,048.33
70-00-000-72542 1,048.33

Total : 2,096.66

3646 12/1/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP210731W002 PAYEE-VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
01-14-000-72542 1,634.50

Total : 1,634.50

3647 12/1/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP210526W019 PAYEE-ADVANCED PAIN CONSULTANTS
01-14-000-72542 127.43

Total : 127.43

3648 12/1/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200803W006-5 PAYEE-ELECTROSTIM MEDCL SVCS
01-14-000-72542 229.42

Total : 229.42

3649 12/1/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200803W006-6 PAYEE-ENCOMPASS SPECIALTY NETWORK
01-14-000-72542 146.28

Total : 146.28

3650 12/1/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200803W006-7 PAYEE-ENCOMPASS SPECIALTY NETWORK
01-14-000-72542 188.64

Total : 188.64

3651 12/1/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP210421W008-2 PAYEE-VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
01-14-000-72542 1,704.52

Total : 1,704.52

3652 12/1/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP210526W019-1 PAYEE-VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
01-14-000-72542 2,247.68

Total : 2,247.68

3653 12/1/2021 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200803W006-8 PAYEE-VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
01-14-000-72542 1,113.02

21Page:

Page | 87AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



12/02/2021
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
22

 3:51:20PM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : ipmg

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 1,113.023653 12/1/2021 018837 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP

Bank total : 26,887.7019 Vouchers for bank code : ipmg

700,474.40Total vouchers :Vouchers in this report111

The Tinley Park Village Board having duly met at Village
Hall do hereby certify that the following claims or demands
against said village were presented and are approved for
payment as presented on the above listing.

In witness thereof, the Village President and Clerk of
the Village of Tinley Park, hereunto set their hands.

______________________________Village President

______________________________Village Clerk

______________________________Date

22Page:

Page | 88AGENDA - 12/7/2021, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 

 
 

ORDINANCE 
NO. 2021-O-086 

 

 
 

ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 112 OF THE TINLEY PARK 
MUNICIPAL CODE 

(Amending the Alcoholic Beverages Ordinance in its Entirety)   
 

 
 

MICHAEL W. GLOTZ, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

 
WILLIAM P. BRADY 

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 
DIANE M. GALANTE 

DENNIS P. MAHONEY 
MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
COLLEN M. SULLIVAN 

Board of Trustees 
 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 
Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606 
  

  

Page | 89AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2021-O-086 

 
ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 112 OF THE TINLEY PARK 

MUNICIPAL CODE 
(Amending the Alcoholic Beverages Ordinance in its Entirety)    

 
WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 

provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, Village staff have undertaken an thorough review of Chapter 112 of the 
Village Code (the “Liquor Ordinance”) and have determined significant changes are necessary to 
allow for a more concise understanding of the rules and regulations for the sales and service of 
alcoholic beverages; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 

Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to amend the Tinley Park Municipal Code to amend Chapter 112, “Alcoholic 
Beverages”, of the Tinley Park Municipal Code; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 

TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1:  The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of facts as 
if said recitals were fully set forth herein.  
 
SECTION 2: That Chapter 112 (Alcoholic Beverages) of Title XI (Business Regulations) is 
deleted and replaced with Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein. 
 
SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.  
 
SECTION 4: That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and 
approval. 
 
SECTION 5: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Ordinance in 
pamphlet form, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law. 

Page | 90AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
PASSED THIS 7th day of December, 2021. 
 
AYES:   
            
NAYS:   
            
ABSENT:  
             
APPROVED THIS 7th day of December, 2021. 
 
 
       ____________________________________ 
                      VILLAGE PRESIDENT 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________ 
                VILLAGE CLERK  

Page | 91AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) SS 
COUNTY OF WILL  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 
 I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Ordinance No. 2021-O-086, “ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 112 OF THE 

TINLEY PARK MUNICIPAL CODE (Amending the Alcoholic Beverages Ordinance in its 

Entirety)” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 

on December 7, 2021.  

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of  

the Village of Tinley Park this 7th day of December, 2021. 

 
       ____________________________________ 
       KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 
 

 
  

Page | 92AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



EXHIBIT A 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page | 93AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



CHAPTER 112:  ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES 
Section 
General Provisions 
   112.01   Definitions 
   112.02   Other laws and regulations may apply 
   112.03   Acts of agent or employee deemed to be act of licensee 
   112.04   Inapplicability of chapter to certain types of alcohol 
License Regulations 
   112.15   License required 
   112.16   Application; initial license application fee 
   112.17   Approval, denial of application 
   112.18   Persons ineligible for license 
   112.19   Licensing premises where previous license revoked 
   112.20   License classification; fee schedule 
   112.21   Hours 
   112.22   Permitted number of licenses 
   112.23   Payment of license fees 
   112.24   License as personal privilege; expiration and renewal 
   112.25   Imposition of conditions, restrictions on individual license 
   112.26   Sale or discontinuance of business 
   112.27   Change of location 
   112.28   Change in ownership 
   112.29   License, warning to minors to be posted on premises 
   112.30   Training requirements 
   112.31   Drive through sales prohibited 
   112.32   Delivery of Alcohol 
   112.33   Fee Schedule 
Sales 
   112.40   Sale to minors, certain other persons prohibited 
   112.41   Parental responsibility 
   112.42   Sales on credit 
   112.43   Sales on Election Day 
   112.44   Sales in certain areas prohibited 
   112.45   Sales, consumption on government property 
   112.46   Conduct on premises 
   112.47   Happy hours 
   112.48   Safety provisions 
   112.49   Misrepresentation of alcoholic beverages 
Health and Sanitation 
   112.60   Sanitation requirements 
   112.61   Inspections 

Page | 94AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



   112.62   Employees 
Administration and Enforcement 
   112.75   Local Liquor Control Commissioner 
   112.76   Suspension, non-renewal or revocation of license, denial of application; notice and 
hearing 
   112.77   Testimony to be given at village hearings 
   112.78   Appeals 
  
   112.99   Penalty 
 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
§ 112.01  DEFINITIONS. 
   For the purpose of this chapter the following definitions shall apply unless the context clearly 
indicates or requires a different meaning. 
   “ALCOHOL."  The product of distillation of any fermented liquid, whether rectified or diluted, 
whatever may be the origin thereof, and includes synthetic ethyl alcohol. It does not include 
denatured alcohol or wood alcohol. 
   “ALCOHOLIC LIQUOR.” Includes alcohol, spirits, wine, beer, and every liquid or solid, 
patented or not, containing alcohol, spirits, wine, or beer and capable of being consumed as a 
beverage by a human being. 
   “BEER.”  A beverage obtained by alcoholic fermentation of an infusion or concoction of barley 
or other grain, malt and hops in water, and includes among other things, beer, ale, stout, lager beer, 
porter, and the like. 
“BEER GARDEN.” An outdoor beer garden permit shall, upon issuance, the license holder to sell 
alcoholic liquor as authorized by their primary classification, outside of the permanent structure of 
his/her premises under the conditions laid out in 112.20 (BG). A beer garden shall have a 
permanent fence, not less than three feet in height, made of wood or other similar material. The 
fencing shall be positioned between the area in which alcoholic liquor can be consumed outside 
and any adjoining residential or commercial property.Define so we can set up regulations for 
patios/beer gardens. Do we want to call patio, beer garden, etc? 

   “CLUB.”  A group of persons or a corporation organized under the laws of this state, not for 
pecuniary profit, or organized solely for the promotion of some common object other than the sale 
of or consumption of alcoholic liquors, which is kept, used, and maintained by its members and 
owns, hires, or leases a building or space in a building of such extent and character as may be 
suitable and adequate for the reasonable and comfortable use and accommodation of its members 
and their guests and is provided with suitable and adequate kitchen and dining room space and 
equipment.  However, such a club shall file with the Local Liquor Control Commissioner at the 
time of its application for an original license or renewal thereof, a list of the names, resident 
addresses, and phone numbers of its officers and members.  Its affairs and management shall be 
conducted by a board of directors, executive committee, or similar board chosen by the members 
at their annual meeting.  No member or any officer, agent, or employee of the club shall be paid 
or directly or indirectly receive, in the form of salary or other compensation, any profits from the 
distribution or sale of alcoholic liquor to the club, the members of the club, or its guests introduced 

Page | 95AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



by members, beyond the amount of such salary as may be fixed and voted on at an annual meeting 
by the members or by its board of directors or other governing body out of the general revenue of 
the club. A Club may engage in the retail sale of alcoholic liquor to members of the public for 
consumption on the premises designated at maximum three days a week.  

   “CONSUMPTION SALES.”  The sale or offering for sale at retail of any alcoholic liquor for 
consumption on the premises where sold. 
  “CRAFT COCKTAIL.” Cocktails made with spirits from a craft distillery that manufactures 
alcoholic liquor in quantities not greater than 100,000 gallons per calendar year or such quantities 
as may be permitted under the Illinois Liquor Control Act, as amended from time to time. 
   “DEDICATED EVENT SPACE.” A room or rooms or other clearly delineated space within a 
retail licensee’s premises that is reserved for the exclusive use of party package invitees during the 
entirety of a party package. Furniture, stanchions and ropes, or other room dividers may be used 
to clearly delineate a dedicated event space. 
   “INFUSION.”  A spirit where ingredients, including, but not limited to, fruits, spices, or nuts, 
are added to naturally infuse flavor into the spirit. 
   “LICENSED TRUCK STOP ESTABLISHMENT.” A facility (i) that is at least a three-acre 
facility with a convenience store, (ii) with separate diesel islands for fueling commercial motor 
vehicles, (ii) that sells at retail more than 10,000 gallons of diesel or biodiesel fuel per month, and 
(iv) with parking spaces for commercial motor vehicles. “COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLES” 
has the same meaning as defined in ILCS Ch. 625, Act 5 §§ 18b-101. The requirement of item (iii) 
of this definition may be met by showing that estimated future sales or past sales average at least 
10,000 gallons per month. 
   “MEAL PACKAGE.”  A food and beverage package, which may or may not include 
entertainment, where the service of alcoholic liquor is an accompaniment to the food, including, 
but not limited to, a meal tour, tasting, or any combination thereof for a fixed price by a retail 
licensee or any other licensee operating within a sports facility, restaurant, winery, brewery, or 
distillery.  
“ON-PREMISE.” Define – we run into issues here frequently for special events & whether or not 
it needs to be issued. Does parking lot/outdoor space count?  
   “ORIGINAL PACKAGE.”  Any bottle, flask, jug, can, cask, barrel, keg, hogshead, or other 
receptacle or container whatsoever used, corked, capped, sealed, and labeled by the manufacturer 
of alcoholic liquor, to contain and to convey any alcoholic liquor. 
   “PACKAGE SALES.”  The sale or offering for sale at retail of alcoholic liquor in the original 
package and not to be consumed or in fact consumed in whole or in part on the premises where 
sold. 
   “PARTY PACKAGE.”  A private party, function, or event for a specific social or business 
occasion, either arranged by invitation or reservation for a defined number of individuals, that is 
not open to the general public and where attendees are served both food and alcohol for a fixed 
price in ana dedicated event space. 
   “PERSON.”  A natural human being, or any applicant or licensee hereunder even if such 
applicant or licensee is a group of persons, a partnership, co-partnership, limited liability company 
or a corporation unless the context of its use clearly indicates it is limited to a natural human being. 

“PREMISES.” The place or location where alcoholic beverages are manufactured, stored, 
displayed, or offered for sale or where drinks containing alcoholic beverages are mixed, concocted 

Page | 96AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



and served for consumption. Not included are sidewalks, streets, parking areas and grounds 
adjacent to any such place or location where alcohol is not served on a regular and on-going basis. 
Optional Language: Premise refers to the geographic location where alcohol is permitted to be 
consumed or sold as depicted and approved on a drawing or diagram which is submitted at the 
time of application for a liquor license. 
   “RESTAURANT.”  Any public place kept, used, maintained, advertised, and held out to the 
public as a place where meals are served, and where meals are actually and regularly served, and 
whose primary business remains the service of food, and without sleeping accommodations, such 
space being provided with adequate and sanitary kitchen and dining room equipment and capacity 
and having employed therein a sufficient number and kind of employees to prepare, cook, and 
serve suitable food for its guests. 
   “RETAILER.”  A person, group of persons, partnership, or corporation who sells or offers for 
sale, alcoholic liquor for use or consumption and not for resale in any form. 
   “SALE.”  Any transfer, exchange, or barter in any manner or by any means whatsoever, 
including the transfer of alcoholic liquors by and through the transfer or negotiation of warehouse 
receipts or certificates for a consideration, and includes and means all sales made by any person, 
whether principal, proprietor, agent, servant, or employee, and further includes dispensing, 
pouring, mixing, giving away or otherwise serving alcoholic liquors. 
   “SELL OR SALE AT RETAIL.”  “SELL AT RETAIL” and “SALE AT RETAIL” refer to and 
mean sales for use or consumption and not for resale in any form. 
   “SERVICE OF FOOD.”  The service of meals for consumption only on the premises in an 
adequate and sanitary kitchen as defined in any appropriate health or food service ordinance of the 
village.  The meals must consist of more than the service or sale of packaged foods such as potato 
chips, pretzels, peanuts, cheese and crackers, or frozen or premade foods, such as pizzas, 
hamburgers, or sandwiches which can be prepared by being heated or warmed in an oven.  The 
meals must be actually and regularly served and eaten at tables and not only at a bar or counter. 
   “SPIRITS.”  Any beverage which contains alcohol obtained by distillation, mixed with water or 
other substances in solution, and includes brandy, rum, whiskey, gin, vodka, or other spirituous 
liquors, and such liquors when rectified, blended, or otherwise mixed with alcohol or other 
substances. 
   “TO SELL.”  Shall include keeping or exposing for sale and keeping with intent to sell. 
   “WINE.”  Any alcoholic beverage obtained by fermentation of the natural contents of fruits or 
vegetables containing sugar, including such beverages when fortified by the addition of alcohol or 
spirits as above defined. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10; Am. Ord. 2015-O-034, 
passed 8-18-15; Am. Ord. 2019-O-073, passed 11-12-19) 
 
§ 112.02  OTHER LAWS AND REGULATIONS MAY APPLY. 
   Nothing in this chapter shall excuse or relieve the owner, proprietor, or person in charge of any 
place within the village where alcoholic liquor is sold from the restrictions and requirements of 
any other ordinances of the village or of the statutes of the state. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10) 
 
§ 112.03  ACTS OF AGENT OR EMPLOYEE DEEMED TO BE ACT OF LICENSEE. 

Page | 97AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



   Every act or omission of whatsoever nature constituting a violation of any of the provisions of 
this chapter by an officer, director, shareholder, associate, member, representative, agent, or 
employee of any licensee, shall be deemed and held to be an act of that employer or licensee and 
shall be punishable in the same manner as if the act or omission had been done or omitted by him 
or her personally. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10) 
 
§ 112.04  INAPPLICABILITY OF CHAPTER TO CERTAIN TYPES OF ALCOHOL. 
   (A)   The provisions of this chapter shall not apply to alcohol used in the manufacture of 
denatured alcohol; to any liquid or solid containing 0.5% or less of alcohol by volume; to flavoring 
extracts, concentrates, syrups, or medicinal, mechanical, scientific, culinary, or toilet preparations; 
or to food products unfit for beverage purposes. However, provisions of this chapter shall not be 
construed to exclude or not apply to alcoholic liquor used in the manufacture, preparation, or 
compounding of such products. 
   (B)   The provisions of this chapter shall not apply to wine intended for use or used by any church 
or religious organization for sacramental purposes. 
   (C)   The provisions of this chapter shall not prevent any duly licensed, practicing physician or 
dentist from possessing or using any alcoholic liquor in the strict practice of his or her profession; 
any hospital or other institution caring for sick and diseased persons from possessing alcoholic 
liquor for the treatment of bona fide patients of that hospital or other institution; or prevent any 
licensed pharmacist from possessing and using alcoholic liquors in the preparation of prescriptions 
written by duly licensed physicians. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10) 
 
LICENSE REGULATIONS 
 
§ 112.15  LICENSE REQUIRED. 
   No person, group of persons, partnership, or corporation shall sell or offer for sale at retail any 
alcoholic liquors within the village without first having obtained a liquor license as herein 
provided.  Each separate place of business or location wherein alcoholic liquor shall be sold or 
offered for sale shall have a separate license. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10)  Penalty, see § 112.99 
 
§ 112.16  APPLICATION; INITIAL LICENSE APPLICATION FEE. 
   (A)   License application.  Every person, group of persons, partnership, co-partnership, limited 
liability company or corporation desiring to engage in the business of selling alcoholic liquor at 
retail shall make application for a liquor license in writing on forms furnished by the village. A 
separate application for each place of business or location shall be made, under oath, and shall be 
filed with the  Local Liquor CommissionerVillage Clerk.  Each applicant shall furnish under oath 
the following information: 
      (1)   The applicant’s name, sex, age, date of birth, social security number, position and 
percentage of ownership in the business; and the name, sex, age, date of birth, social security 
number, position and percentage of ownership in the business of every sole owner, partner, 
corporate officer, director, member of any limited liability company, manager and any person who 

Page | 98AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



owns 5% or more of the shares of the applicant business entity or parent corporations of the 
applicant business entity. 
      (2)   The citizenship of the applicant, his or her place of birth, and if a naturalized citizen, the 
time and place of his or her naturalization. 
      (3)   In case of a limited liability company, corporation or a club, the object for which it was 
organized, a list of the names, resident address, and phone numbers of its officers, directors, 
shareholders, and members, and a certified copy of the articles of incorporation and/or charter. 
      (4)   In case of a co-partnership, the date of the formation of the partnership; in the case of an 
Illinois corporation, the date of its incorporation; in the case of a limited liability company the date 
of its organization in Illinois under the Limited Liability Company Act; or in the case of a foreign 
corporation, the state where it was incorporated and the date of its becoming qualified under the 
Business Corporation Act of 1983 to transact business in the State of Illinois. 
      (5)   The name, character, and address of the business of the applicant. 
      (6)   The location and description of the premises or place of business which is to be operated 
under the license, including the number of bars to be operated thereon. 
      (7)   A statement whether the applicant has made any other application for a similar license on 
premises other than described in this application, and the disposition of that application.  Such 
statement shall include any other application which the applicant was in any way involved with 
regardless of the name, structure, or the like of the business entity. If any license was denied the 
applicant shall include the reasons therefor. 
      (8)   The number, date of issuance and date of expiration of the applicant’s current local retail 
liquor license issued in either the village or issued by any county or other municipality. 
      (9)   The name of the city, village, or county that issued the local retail liquor license (if other 
than the Village of Tinley Park). 
      (10)   The name and address of the landlord of any premises that are leased in any other 
municipality of county in which the applicant has another local retail liquor license. 
      (11)   The date of the applicant’s first request for a state liquor license and whether it was 
granted, denied or withdrawn. 
      (12)   The address of the applicant when the first application for a state liquor license was 
made. 
      (13)   The applicant’s current state liquor license number. 
      (14)   The date the applicant began liquor sales at his or her place of business. 
      (15)   The applicant’s retailer’s occupation tax (ROT) registration number. 
      (16)   Whether the applicant is delinquent in the payment of the retailer’s occupational tax 
(sales tax), and if so, the reasons therefor. 
      (17)   Whether the applicant is delinquent under the cash beer law, and if so, the reasons 
therefor. 
      (18)   In the case of a retailer, whether he or she is delinquent under the 30-day credit law, and 
if so, the reasons therefor. 
      (19)   Whether the applicant possesses a current Federal Wagering Stamp, and if so, the reasons 
therefor. 
      (20)   Whether the applicant, or any other person, directly in his or her place of business is a 
public official, and if so, the particulars thereof. 

Page | 99AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



      (21)   If applicable, the date of the filing of the “assumed name” of the business with the County 
Clerk. 
      (22)   A statement whether the applicant has ever been convicted of either a misdemeanor nor 
a felony and is not disqualified to receive a license by reason of any matter or thing contained in 
this chapter, laws of this state, or other ordinances of the village, and if so the particulars thereof. 
      (23)   Whether a previous license by any state or subdivision thereof, or by the federal 
government has been suspended or revoked, and the reasons therefor. 
      (24)   A statement that the applicant will not violate any of the laws of the state, the United 
States, or any ordinance of the village in the conduct of his or her place of business. 
      (25)   The class of license desired by the applicant. 
      (26)   Whether the applicant owns the premises for which a license is sought, and if he or she 
does not, the name of his or her landlord and the period of his or her lease.  A complete and correct 
copy of the lease is to be attached to the application. 
      (27)   Whether or not the applicant intends to manage and conduct the business in person, and 
if not, the name of the manager or agent who is to conduct the business to be carried on the premises 
for which the license is sought. 
      (28)   A statement that the applicant will be required to and shall require all officers, agents, 
and employees of the applicant to testify (subject to constitutional limitations) at any hearing that 
may be called by the village or any of its committees, commissions, boards, or agencies, or the 
Local Liquor Control Commissioner, relating, directly or indirectly, to any events or occurrences 
of which they may have knowledge arising out of their position as officer, agent, or employee of 
the licensee.  In addition, a statement that the applicant has so informed all officers, agents, and 
employees, and has made the same a condition of employment for all employees. 
      (29)   In addition to the foregoing information, the application shall contain such other 
information as the Local Liquor Control Commissioner may prescribe. 
   (B)   In case the application is made by a partnership, all partners must sign the application and 
the information required by this chapter shall be furnished as to each partner. 
   (C)   In case the applicant is a corporation, the application shall be signed by the president and 
secretary of the corporation, and the corporate seal shall be affixed. 
   (D)   In case the applicant is a limited liability company, the application shall be signed by the 
manager of the limited liability company and, if the manager is not also a member, then the 
application must also be signed by a member. 
   (E)   Every application for a license, whether new or renewal, where the real estate title of the 
premises is in a trustee, shall be accompanied by the sworn affidavit of the land trustee or a 
beneficiary of the trust, disclosing the names, residence addresses, and beneficial interest of each 
beneficiary of the land trust. 
   (F)   Every application for a license, whether new or renewal, shall be accompanied by a copy 
of the applicant’s policy of dram shop insurance written by a responsible insurance company 
authorized and licensed to do business in this state insuring such applicant against liability as 
required under ILCS Ch. 235, Act 5, § 6-21, as amended from time to time. The applicant shall 
keep the policy of insurance in full force and effect during the term of the license (and any 
renewals), or shall provide a suitable substitute policy.  Each such policy shall contain a provision 
that it cannot be cancelled without ten days’ prior written notice to the Local Liquor Control 
Commissioner of the village. Each such policy shall provide coverage in the minimum amount of 
$1,000,000, or such higher amounts as may be required by law. 

Page | 100AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



   (G)   By making application hereunder, the applicant agrees that the Local Liquor Control 
Commissioner shall cause to be conducted a background search and credit check on the applicant, 
and applicant further agrees to cooperate fully regarding the same, including but not limited to 
identifying and authorizing the release of relevant credit information. 
   (H)   The applicant must also provide a letter of intent indicating the type and nature of the 
applicant’s business, and the types of activities to be conducted on the licensed premises.  Any 
basic change in the activities to be conducted or the type and nature of the premises or business 
must be submitted to the Local Liquor Control Commissioner for approval. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10) 
 
§ 112.17  APPROVAL, DENIAL OF APPLICATION. 
   (A)   All applications for license under this chapter shall be delivered by the Village Clerk to the 
Local Liquor Control Commissioner or his/her designee.  It shall be the duty of the Local Liquor 
Control Commissioner to investigate and consider the application. For this purpose the Local 
Liquor Control Commissioner may enlist the aid of the Chief of Police and any other village 
officials or employees that he or she deems necessary to complete the investigation. The 
investigation shall include a background search via fingerprinting to be completed at the Tinley 
Park Police Department. The investigation may also include aand credit check and review of any 
outstanding fees owed to the Village. At any time during the pendency of an application the Local 
Liquor Control Commissioner shall have the right to compel the applicant to submit to any 
examination and to produce any books and records which, in the judgment of the Local Liquor 
Control Commissioner, are material to the determination of whether the applicant is qualified to 
receive a license under the provisions of this code, or whether the premises sought to be licensed 
are suitable for such purposes. The Local Liquor Control Commissioner shall also have the right 
to require the applicant to answer any charges made in any objection to the issuance of the license 
made by the Chief of Police, a prosecuting official, or by the sheriff or prosecuting attorney of the 
county relative to the same. The failure of any applicant to appear at the time and place fixed by 
the Local Liquor Control Commissioner for his or her examination or to produce books and records 
when requested, unless for good cause shown, shall be deemed to be an admission that the 
applicant is not qualified to receive a license and, therefore, a basis for denial of the license. 
   (B)   Upon completion of the investigation, the Local Liquor Control Commissioner shall 
approve or disapprove the issuance of a license based on the application, provided, in the case of 
approval, that there exists an available license as set forth in § 112.22. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10) 
                 
Cross-reference: 
   Hearing upon denial of license application, see §§ 112.76 and 112.77 
   Appeals, see § 112.78 
 
§ 112.18  PERSONS INELIGIBLE FOR LICENSE. 
   No license shall be issued to: 
   (A)   A person who is not a resident of the village; provided, however, a special event license 
may be issued to a person who is a non-resident. 

Page | 101AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



   (AB)   A person who is not of good character and reputation in the community in which he or 
she resides. 
   (BC)   A person who is not a citizen of the United States. 
   (CD)   A person who has been convicted of a felony or misdemeanor under federal or state law, 
if the Local Liquor Control Commissioner determines after investigation that such person has not 
been sufficiently rehabilitated to warrant the public trust and to have issued to him or her a 
license.  The burden of proof of sufficient rehabilitation shall be on the applicant. 
   (DE)   A person who has been convicted of being the keeper or is keeping a house of ill fame or 
prostitution. 
   (EF)   A person who has been convicted of pandering or other crime or misdemeanor opposed 
to decency and morality or involving moral turpitude. 
   (FG)   A person who has been convicted of a felony or misdemeanor under any federal or state 
law dealing with or regulating alcoholic liquor, drugs, cannabis sativa, or any controlled substances 
as defined under any such law. 
   (GH)   A person whose license issued under this chapter has been revoked for cause, or any 
person who applies as an individual but who was a partner in a partnership or an officer, manager, 
director, or shareholder with at least a 5% ownership interest in a corporation which corporation 
or partnership is ineligible for a license or has previously had a license revoked. 
   (HI)   A person who has had a license issued by any other unit of government which has been 
revoked for cause. 
   (JI)   A person who has had a license issued under this chapter or by any other unit of government 
which has been suspended, if the Local Liquor Control Commissioner determines, after 
investigation, that such person has not been sufficiently rehabilitated to warrant the public trust 
and to have issued to him or her a license.  The burden of proof of sufficient rehabilitation shall be 
on the applicant. 
   (JK)   A partnership, unless all of the members of the partnership are qualified to obtain a license. 
A co-partnership, if any general partner thereof, or any limited partnership thereof, owning more 
than 5% of the aggregated limited partner interest in such co-partnership would not be eligible to 
receive a license hereunder for any reason. 
   (KL)   A corporation or limited liability company, if any officer, member, manager, or director 
thereof, or any stockholder or stockholders owning in the aggregate more than 5% of the stock of 
the corporation, would not be eligible to receive a license hereunder for any reason other than 
citizenship and residence within the village.. 
   (LM)   A corporation or limited liability company, unless it is incorporated in Illinois, or unless 
it is a foreign corporation or limited liability company which is qualified under the Illinois Business 
Corporation Act or the Limited Liability Company Act to transact business in Illinois. 
   (MN)   A person whose place of business is conducted by a manager or agent unless the manager 
or agent possesses the same qualifications required by the licensee. 
   (NO)   A person who has been convicted of a violation of any federal or state law concerning the 
manufacture, possession, or sale of alcoholic liquor, or has forfeited his or her bond to appear in 
court to answer charges for any such violation. 
   (OP)   A person who does not beneficially own the premises for which a license is sought, or 
does not have a lease thereon for the full period for which the license is to be issued. 
   (PQ)   Any law-enforcing public official of the village, including the Local Liquor Control 
Commissioner, the President, and the Village Trustees.  No such official shall be interested in any 

Page | 102AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



way, either directly or indirectly, in the manufacture, sale, or distribution of alcoholic liquor, 
except that a license may be granted to such official in relation to premises which are not located 
within the village, if the issuance of such a license is approved by the State Liquor Control 
Commission. However, a license may be granted to any member of the Village Board of Trustees 
in relation to premises that are located within the village if: 
      (1)   The sale of alcoholic liquor pursuant to the license is incidental to the selling of food; 
      (2)   The issuance of the license is approved by the State Commission; 
      (3)   The issuance of the license is in accordance with all applicable village ordinances; and 
      (4)   The official granted a license does not vote on alcoholic liquor issued pending before the 
Board to which the license holder is elected. 
   (QR)   A person who is not a beneficial owner of the business to be operated by the licensee. 
   (RS)   A person who has been convicted of a gambling offense under the laws of this state as 
heretofore or hereafter amended. 
   (ST)   A person to whom a federal gaming device stamp or a federal wagering stamp has been 
issued by the federal government for a prior or current tax period. 
   (TU)   A partnership to which a federal gaming device stamp or a federal wagering stamp has 
been issued by the federal government for a prior or current tax period, unless the person or entity 
is eligible to be issued a license under the State Raffles Act (ILCS Ch. 230, Act 15 §§ 0.01 et seq.) 
or the Illinois Pull Tabs and Jar Games Act (ILCS Ch. 230, Act 20 §§ 1 et seq.) 
   (UV)   A corporation or limited liability company, if any officer, manager, member or director 
thereof, or any stockholder owning in the aggregate more than 5% of the stock of that corporation, 
has been issued a federal gaming device stamp or a federal wagering stamp for a prior or current 
tax period. 
   (VW)   Any premises for which a federal gaming device stamp or a federal wagering stamp has 
been issued by the federal government for the period within which the license is to be effective. 
   (WX)   A person who intends to sell alcoholic liquors for use or consumption on his or her 
licensed retail premises who does not have liquor liability insurance coverage for that premises in 
the minimum amount of $1,000,00 per occurrence, or such higher amounts as may be required by 
law. 
   (XY)   Any person intending to use the license in a premise smaller than 2,000 square feet. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10; Am. Ord. 2013-O-013, 
passed 4-23-13) 
 
§ 112.19  LICENSING PREMISES WHERE PREVIOUS LICENSE REVOKED. 
   When any license hereunder has been revoked for any cause, no license shall be granted to any 
person, group of persons, partnership, firm, limited liability company or corporation for the period 
of one year thereafter for the conduct of the sale of alcoholic liquor in the premises described in 
the revoked license. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10) 
 
§ 112.20  LICENSE CLASSIFICATION; FEE SCHEDULE. 
   Liquor licenses issued pursuant to the provisions of this chapter are hereby divided into 259 
classes, as follows (for each class of license the terms “retail sale,” “selling,” “sale,” “sell,” and/or 

Page | 103AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



“offer to sell” shall include dispensing, pouring, mixing, giving away or otherwise serving any 
alcoholic liquor): 
   (A)   (1)   Class A License.  Shall authorize the retail sale of alcoholic liquor by the drink only 
on the premises designated therein for consumption on such premises or the retail sale of alcoholic 
liquor to be consumed off the premises, provided that such alcoholic liquor shall at the time it 
leaves the premises be sealed in its original container.  Drive-in or drive-up sales are 
prohibited.  The annual fee for this license shall be $1,500. Holders of a Class A license may be 
allowed to have extended hours pursuant to § 112.21 hereof, if approved by the Local Liquor 
Control Commissioner. The annual fee for the extended hours shall be $1,000.  Video gaming as 
defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 1 et seq., shall not be 
allowed in a class A licensed premises. 
      (2)   Class AV License.  Shall authorize the retail sale of alcoholic liquor by the drink only on 
the premises designated therein for consumption on such premises or the retail sale of alcoholic 
liquor to be consumed off the premises, provided that such alcoholic liquor shall at the time it 
leaves the premises be sealed in its original container. Drive-in or drive-up sales are 
prohibited.  The annual fee for this license shall be $1,500.  Holders of a Class AV license may be 
allowed to have extended hours pursuant to § 112.21, if approved by the Local Liquor Control 
Commissioner.  The annual fee for the extended hours shall be $1,000.  Video gaming as defined 
under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 1 et seq., shall be authorized so 
long as the licensee also has a video gaming license issued by the Illinois Gaming Board in 
accordance with the provisions of the Illinois Video Gaming Act and all rules, regulations, and 
restrictions imposed by the Illinois Gaming Board; and the operation of video gaming terminals 
shall not be permitted during the hours alcoholic liquor sales are prohibited. 
      (3)   Class AV-1 License.  Shall authorize the retail sale of alcoholic liquor by the drink only 
on the premises designated therein for consumption on such premises or the retail sale of alcoholic 
liquor to be consumed off the premises, provided that such alcoholic liquor shall at the time it 
leaves the premises be sealed in its original container. Drive-in or drive-up sales are 
prohibited.  Holders of a Class AV-1 license shall be allowed to have extended hours pursuant to 
§ 112.21. Video gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, 
§§ 1 et seq., shall be authorized so long as the licensee also has a video gaming license issued by 
the Illinois Gaming Board in accordance with the provisions of the Illinois Video Gaming Act and 
all rules, regulations, and restrictions imposed by the Illinois Gaming Board; and the operation of 
video gaming terminals shall not be permitted during the hours alcoholic liquor sales are 
prohibited. 
 
   (B)   Class B License.  Shall authorize the retail sale of alcoholic liquor on the premises 
designated therein, but not for consumption on the premises where sold, provided that such 
alcoholic liquor shall at the time it leaves the premises be sealed in its original container. Drive-in 
or drive-up sales are prohibited. The annual fee for this license shall be $1,200.  Video gaming as 
defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 1 et seq., shall not be 
allowed in a class B licensed premises. 
 
  (BG) Class BG License: Beer Garden. The Class BG license shall become effective January 1, 
2023. It shall serve as a supplement license for existing license holders who operate or wish to 
operate an outdoor beer garden area. A Class BG license shall designate on a site or patio plan an 
area immediately adjoining the licensee’s indoor establishment, which contiguous area shall be 

Page | 104AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



used for the purposes of the license, and which area will hereinafter be referred to as a beer garden. 
The beer garden may not exceed 50% of the establishment interior occupancy, and shall have its 
boundaries clearly marked with the appropriate enclosure as determined by the Liquor 
Commissioner or designees. The beer garden must be enclosed by at minimum, a three-foot barrier 
on all sides, as a means of separating the beer garden from pedestrians. The Liquor Commissioner, 
in his or her sole and absolute discretion, shall approve the location of a beer garden or where the 
zoning ordinance regulates the use will supersede the Liquor Commissioner’s discretion. 

(1) It shall be the responsibility of the establishment to ensure staff periodically observe the 
beer garden to enforce all applicable requirements.  

 (2)   Such sale and consumption of liquor shall be limited to the designated beer garden. 

      (3)   Adequate area for pedestrian flow through the beer garden shall be maintained at all times. 

      (4)   Emergency ingress and egress and access by and to fire apparatus in the beer garden shall 
be subject to review and approval of the Fire Department. 

      (5)   The beer garden shall be maintained in a clean and sanitary condition and shall be kept 
from debris at all times. 

      (6)   All trash containers located in the beer garden shall be lidded at all times and all refuse 
shall be regularly removed. 

      (7)   Licensees shall obtain all licenses, certifications, permits, and other approvals required 
for the legal operation of the beer garden. 

      (8)   Licensees shall comply with all other requirements applicable to the beer garden in the 
code and other applicable codes, ordinances, and regulations. 

      (9)   It shall be unlawful to sell, offer, give away or permit to be sold, offered or given away, 
at retail, in or upon a licensed beer garden, any liquor between the hours of 12:00 a.m. and 9:00 
a.m. on all days of the week. 

      (10)    Following the closing times and prior to the opening times set forth in of this section of 
the city code, every non-licensee person located in the beer garden area shall relocate indoors or 
otherwise leave the outdoor premises, which shall be closed and remain closed. 

      (11)   All doors directly opening into or out of such location, place or premises for ingress 
thereto or egress therefrom shall be securely locked during the time that sales in the beer garden 
are prohibited. 

   (C)   (1)   Class C License.  Shall authorize the retail sale of alcoholic liquor on the premises 
designated therein solely for the consumption on the premises by a club as defined in this chapter. 
Drive-in or drive- up sales are prohibited. The annual fee for this license shall be $75.  Video 
gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 1 et seq., shall not be 
allowed in a class A licensed premises. 
      (2)   Class CV License.  Shall authorize the retail sale of alcoholic liquor on the premises 
designated therein solely for the consumption on the premises by a club as defined in this chapter. 
Drive-in or drive-up sales are prohibited. The annual fee for this license shall be $75.  Video 
gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 1 et seq., shall 

Page | 105AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



be authorized so long as the licensee also has a video gaming license issued by the Illinois Gaming 
Board in accordance with the provisions of the Illinois Video Gaming Act and all rules, 
regulations, and restrictions imposed by the Illinois Gaming Board; and the operation of video 
gaming terminals shall not be permitted during the hours alcoholic liquor sales are prohibited. 
      (3)   Class CC License.  The holder of a Class C or CV license may, in addition, obtain a Class 
CC license.  A holder of a Class CC license shall be subject to all regulations relative to holders 
of Class C and CV licenses, provided that holders of Class CC licenses may on one day of each 
week engage in the retail sale of alcoholic liquor to the general public for consumption on the 
premises designated. Drive-in or drive-up sales are prohibited. The annual fee for this license shall 
be $75, in addition to the annual fee paid for a Class C License. 
   (D)   (1)   Class D License.  Shall authorize the retail sale of alcoholic liquor on the premises 
designated therein for consumption by the drink on such premises only. Further, the sale of 
alcoholic liquor shall be restricted to sales made in conjunction with the licensee’s operation of a 
restaurant on the premises.  The sale of alcoholic liquor on the premises is restricted to service of 
alcoholic liquor at tables or booths only.  Drive-in or drive- up sales are prohibited.  A current 
menu must be attached to the licensee’s liquor license application; any substantial deviation from 
this menu must be reviewed and approved by the Liquor Commissioner to ensure that the primary 
purpose of the business remains the service of food.  No bar stools or bar shall be allowed other 
than a service bar for the wait staff.  No music of any type - live or jukebox - is permitted. 
Appropriate background music for dining is permitted.  No dancing of any type shall be allowed. 
Servers of alcohol must meet Illinois age requirements.  Package (take out) sale of any alcoholic 
beverages is prohibited; provided, however, notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a 
restaurant may permit a patron to remove one unsealed and partially consumed bottle of wine for 
off- premise consumption provided that the patron has purchased a meal and consumed a portion 
of the bottle of wine with the meal on the restaurant premises. A partially consumed bottle of wine 
that is to be removed from the premises pursuant to this section shall be securely sealed by the 
licensee or an agent of the licensee prior to removal from the premises and placed in a transparent 
one-time use tamper- proof bag. The licensee or agent of the licensee shall provide a dated receipt 
for the bottle of wine to the patron. Wine that is resealed in accordance with the provisions of this 
section and not tampered with shall not be deemed an unsealed container. Appropriate village 
departments must approve any outdoor dining together with the approval of the Liquor 
Commissioner before making final determination.  Violation of any of the above will constitute 
grounds for termination of the liquor license. The annual fee for this license shall be 
$1,000..  Video gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, 
§§ 1 et seq., shall not be allowed in a class D licensed premises. 
      (2)   Class DV License.  Shall authorize the retail sale of alcoholic liquor on the premises 
designated therein for consumption by the drink on such premises only. Further, the sale of 
alcoholic liquor shall be restricted to sales made in conjunction with the licensee's operation of a 
restaurant on the premises.  The sale of alcoholic liquor on the premises is restricted to service of 
alcoholic liquor at tables or booths only. Drive-in or drive-up sales are prohibited. A current menu 
must be attached to the licensee's liquor license application; any substantial deviation from this 
menu must be reviewed and approved by the Liquor Commissioner to ensure that the primary 
purpose of the business remains the service of food. No bar stools or bar shall be allowed other 
than a service bar for the wait staff. No music of any type - live or jukebox - is 
permitted.  Appropriate background music for dining is permitted. No dancing of any type shall 
be allowed. Servers of alcohol must meet Illinois age requirements. Package (take out) sale of any 

Page | 106AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



alcoholic beverages is prohibited; provided, however, notwithstanding any other provision of this 
chapter, a restaurant may permit a patron to remove one unsealed and partially consumed bottle of 
wine for off-premise consumption provided that the patron has purchased a meal and consumed a 
portion of the bottle of wine with the meal on the restaurant premises. A partially consumed bottle 
of wine that is to be removed from the premises pursuant to this section shall be securely sealed 
by the licensee or an agent of the licensee prior to removal from the premises and placed in a 
transparent one-time use tamper-proof bag. The licensee or agent of the licensee shall provide a 
dated receipt for the bottle of wine to the patron. Wine that is resealed in accordance with the 
provisions of this section and not tampered with shall not be deemed an unsealed container. 
Appropriate village departments must approve any outdoor dining together with the approval of 
the Liquor Commissioner before making final determination. Violation of any of the above will 
constitute grounds for termination of the liquor license. The annual fee for this license shall be 
$1,000. Video gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 
1 et seq., shall be authorized so long as the licensee also has a video gaming license issued by the 
Illinois Gaming Board in accordance with the provisions of the Illinois Video Gaming Act and all 
rules, regulations, and restrictions imposed by the Illinois Gaming Board; and the operation of 
video gaming terminals shall not be permitted during the hours alcoholic liquor sales are 
prohibited. 
 
   (E)   (1)   Class E License.  Shall authorize the retail sale of wine and beer only on the premises 
designated therein for consumption by the drink on such premises only. Further, the sale of wine 
and beer shall be restricted to sales made in conjunction with the licensee’s operation of a 
restaurant on the premises.  The sale of wine and beer on the premises shall be further restricted to 
service of such wine and beer at tables or booths only.  Drive-in or drive-up sales are prohibited.  A 
current menu must be attached to the licensee’s liquor license application; any substantial deviation 
from this menu must be reviewed by the Liquor Commissioner to ensure that the primary purpose 
of the business remains the service of food.  No bar stools or bar shall be allowed other than a 
service bar for the wait staff.  No music of any type - live or jukebox - is permitted.  Appropriate 
background music for dining is permitted.  No dancing of any type shall be allowed. Servers of 
alcohol must meet Illinois age requirements.  Package (take out) sale of any alcoholic beverages 
is prohibited; provided, however, notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a restaurant 
may permit a patron to remove one unsealed and partially consumed bottle of wine for off- premise 
consumption provided that the patron has purchased a meal and consumed a portion of the bottle 
of wine with the meal on the restaurant premises. A partially consumed bottle of wine that is to be 
removed from the premises pursuant to this section shall be securely sealed by the licensee or an 
agent of the licensee prior to removal from the premises and placed in a transparent one-time use 
tamper- proof bag. The licensee or agent of the licensee shall provide a dated receipt for the bottle 
of wine to the patron. Wine that is resealed in accordance with the provisions of this section and 
not tampered with shall not be deemed an unsealed container.  Appropriate village departments 
must approve any outdoor dining together with the approval of the Liquor Commissioner before 
making final determination.  Violation of any of the above will constitute grounds for termination 
of the liquor license.  The annual fee for this license shall be $1,000.  Video gaming as defined 
under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 1 et seq., shall not be allowed in 
a class E licensed premises. 
      (2)   Class EV License.  Shall authorize the retail sale of wine and beer only on the premises 
designated therein for consumption by the drink on such premises only. Further, the sale of wine 

Page | 107AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



and beer shall be restricted to sales made in conjunction with the licensee's operation of a restaurant 
on the premises. The sale of wine and beer on the premises shall be further restricted to service of 
such wine and beer at tables or booths only. Drive-in or drive- up sales are prohibited. A current 
menu must be attached to the licensee's liquor license application; any substantial deviation from 
this menu must be reviewed by the Liquor Commissioner to ensure that the primary purpose of the 
business remains the service of food. No bar stools or bar shall be allowed other than a service bar 
for the wait staff. No music of any type - live or jukebox - is permitted. Appropriate background 
music for dining is permitted. No dancing of any type shall be allowed. Servers of alcohol must 
meet Illinois age requirements. Package (take out) sale of any alcoholic beverages is prohibited; 
provided, however, notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a restaurant may permit a 
patron to remove one unsealed and partially consumed bottle of wine for off-premise consumption 
provided that the patron has purchased a meal and consumed a portion of the bottle of wine with 
the meal on the restaurant premises. A partially consumed bottle of wine that is to be removed 
from the premises pursuant to this section shall be securely sealed by the licensee or an agent of 
the licensee prior to removal from the premises and placed in a transparent one-time use tamper-
proof bag. The licensee or agent of the licensee shall provide a dated receipt for the bottle of wine 
to the patron. Wine that is resealed in accordance with the provisions of this section and not 
tampered with shall not be deemed an unsealed container. Appropriate village departments must 
approve any outdoor dining together with the approval of the Liquor Commissioner before making 
final determination. Violation of any of the above will constitute grounds for termination of the 
liquor license. The annual fee for this license shall be $1,000. Video gaming as defined under the 
Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 1 et seq., shall be authorized so long as the 
licensee also has a video gaming license issued by the Illinois Gaming Board in accordance with 
the provisions of the Illinois Video Gaming Act and all rules, regulations, and restrictions imposed 
by the Illinois Gaming Board; and the operation of video gaming terminals shall not be permitted 
during the hours alcoholic liquor sales are prohibited. 
 
   (F)   Class F License.  Shall authorize the retail sale of alcoholic liquor on the premises 
designated therein for consumption by the drink on such premises only, when premises are owned 
by any park district organized under “The State Park District Code,” provided the park district 
provides or causes to be provided dram shop liability insurance in maximum insurance coverage 
limits as provided by state law so as to save harmless the village and park district from all financial 
loss, damage, or harm.  The park district shall fully comply with all provisions of the “State Park 
District Code” and “An Act in Relation to Alcoholic Liquors” of the state.  If an event is being 
conducted on park property by a legal entity other than the park district, the entity conducting the 
event shall first receive approval from the park district to conduct the event and sell alcoholic 
liquor, and shall then apply for a license hereunder.  Any such entity shall be required to provide 
the necessary insurance coverage or shall be, by agreement with the park district, covered by the 
park district’s policies of insurance.  The annual fee for this license shall be $15.  Video gaming 
as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 1 et seq., shall not be 
allowed in a class F licensed premises. 
 
   (G)   (1)   Class G License.  Shall authorize the retail sale of beer and wine only on the premises 
designated therein, provided the beer and wine are sold only in their original package and not for 
consumption on the premises where sold.  Effective January 1, 2022, the minimum square footage 
requirement for a Class G license shall be 3,500 square feet The annual fee for this license shall 

Page | 108AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



be $1,200.  Video gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, 
§§ 1 et seq., shall not be allowed in a class G licensed premises. 
 
      (2)   Class G-1 License. Shall authorize the licensee to sell at retail wine by the glass at wine 
tasting events on the licensed premises for consumption on the licensed premises. The license fee 
for a G-1 license shall be $200. Nothing in the issuance of a Class G-1 license pursuant to this 
division (G) shall be considered to relieve the licensee of any responsibility for complying with all 
applicable state and federal regulations relating to the sale of alcoholic beverages, and all 
applicable business and other regulations of the village. No licensee shall be allowed to have more 
than four events per year.  Video gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS 
Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 1 et seq., shall not be allowed in a class G-1 licensed premises. 
   (H)   Class H License.  Shall authorize the retail sale of alcoholic liquor on the premises 
designated therein, but not for consumption on the premises where sold, provided that such 
alcoholic liquor shall at the time it leaves the premises be sealed in its original container as part of 
a gift or fruit basket, and further provided that such alcoholic liquor be incidental to said gift or 
fruit basket.  The value of the alcoholic liquor shall not exceed 75% of the total value of the fruit 
or gift basket.  Drive-in or drive-up sales are prohibited.  The annual fee for such license shall be 
$300.  Video gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 1 
et seq., shall not be allowed in a class H licensed premises. 
   (I)   Class I license.  Shall authorize the retail sale of alcoholic liquor on the premises designated 
therein at concession stands.  This license shall be available only to concessionaires at outdoor 
music theaters and similar facilities.  Notwithstanding the provisions of § 112.18, the applicant for 
(and holder of) a Class I liquor license need not own or be the beneficial owner of the subject 
premises, nor need it be a lessee of the subject premises.  Nevertheless, such holder shall hold a 
Class I liquor license as an agent for the owners of the subject premises.  Further, the sale of such 
alcoholic liquor shall be also restricted as follows: 
      (1)   No one under the age of 21 shall be allowed to serve, mix, or sell or give away any 
alcoholic liquor under a Class I liquor license. 
      (2)   Concession stands may be located in the concourse, on norther and southern portions of 
the grassy hill area along the fence line, as well as in the parking lot of an outdoor music theatre 
when contained within a fenced in area as described in division (I)(3) below. 
      (3)   Service of alcohol may be permitted in expanded areas of the premises enclosed via 
fencing subject to the following restrictions: 
         (a)   An expanded area extending out from Gate 4 may be constructed, to be enclosed by 
metal fencing, and alcohol may be sold at concession stands or via mobile vendors within said area 
on dates when an event which will have an attendance of at least 23,000 people occurs. 
         (b)   An expanded area consisting of a separate fenced in enclosure located within the parking 
lot may be constructed, to be enclosed by metal fencing, and alcohol may be sold at concession 
stands or via mobile vendors within said area on dates when an event which requires the 
construction of an additional stage within the parking lot occurs. 
         (c)   Expanded areas of the premises enclosed by fencing may be accessed by patrons only 
after going through standard ticketing and security checkpoints. 
         (d)   Notice must be provided to the village of an event which the licensee will be adding 
service in an expanded area under this division (I)(3) no less than 60 days prior to the event which 
requires the construction of the expanded area. 

Page | 109AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



         (e)   Expanded areas enclosed via fencing are subject to all of the requirements outlined in 
division (I)(7) below. Expanded areas enclosed via fencing are subject to all the ongoing inspection 
requirements outlined in division (I)(11) below and must be approved by any such inspectors prior 
to the event date. 
      (4)   There shall be no tailgating or possession of any king of alcoholic liquor in the parking 
lots or any other location other than as expressly approved herein.  “TAILGATING” shall mean 
persons driving to the facility and commencing to consume food and/or beverages brought with 
them. 
      (5)   There shall be no dispensing of alcoholic liquor in their original containers, nor in bottles 
or cans of any kind whatsoever, except that beer may be served in aluminum cans.  All drink 
containers must be either plastic or paper, and must be made of either recyclable and/or 
biodegradable products, or aluminum cans. 
      (6)   The maximum size drink to be dispensed for beer shall be 25 ounces, for wine shall be 8 
ounces, and for wine coolers shall be 12 ounces, and for alcoholic liquor shall be 2 ounces. Full 
bottles of wine, up to but not exceeding 750 milliliters, may be served but only in plastic decanters. 
When a full bottle of wine is served no other alcoholic liquor may be served during that transaction. 
      (7)   The Village Police Department as agents for and/or the Local Liquor Commissioner 
reserve the right to prohibit the sale of or to stop all sales of alcoholic liquor or to restrict the 
number of drinks sold to any one individual, if and when the public health, welfare and safety so 
requires. 
      (8)   Any holder of a Class I liquor license shall submit its training program for its employees 
regarding dispensing of alcoholic liquor to review and approval by the Police Department of the 
village, and the Police Department of the village shall take an active part in such training program. 
      (9)   The sale, dispensing or giving away of alcoholic liquor at the concession stands or via 
mobile vendors shall be allowed to begin at the time the parking lot gates are open for the specific 
concert or event; provided, however, if the gates are open more than two hours prior to the 
scheduled start of the concert or event, no sale, dispensing or giving away of beer and wine can be 
made more than two hours before the scheduled start unless otherwise approved by the Local 
Liquor Commissioner. 
      (10)   All selling, giving away or dispensing of alcoholic liquor shall cease promptly at 10:30 
p.m.; provided, however, if the scheduled start of the concert or event is prior to 8:00 p.m., then 
all selling, giving away or dispensing of beer and wine shall cease one-half hour before the 
scheduled end of the concert or event (for purposes of this provision, the end of the concert or 
event shall be when the performers quit performing on stage).  Anyone standing in line at 10:30 
p.m. (or earlier cut-off time as above indicted) shall not be allowed to obtain any alcoholic liquor, 
and the holder of the liquor license shall be required to make certain that the line for alcoholic 
liquor is cut off at a sufficient time to ensure that all sales will cease at 10:30 p.m. (or earlier cut-
off time as above indicated). 
      (11)   All of the concession stands, including portable stands, stands within fenced in areas, or 
mobile vendors, shall be subject to review and approval by the Building, Fire, Health and Police 
Departments of the village, and no liquor license shall be issued without such approval.  Also, such 
concession stands shall be subject to continuing inspection by the said Building, Fire, Health and 
Police Departments, and if such structures are not in compliance with all village codes, the liquor 
license shall be suspended by appropriate proceedings until such time as such structures are 
brought into conformance. 

Page | 110AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



      (12)   Easily readable signs shall be posted in conspicuous and prominent areas within all 
concession stands indicating that anyone under the age of 30 years will be subject to an 
identification check, and the holder of the liquor license will insist upon at least one picture 
identification to prove the person’s age.  A student identification card shall not be accepted by the 
holder to prove the person’s age. 
      (13)   The holder of the liquor license shall provide employees, other than employees working 
in the concession stands, around the concession stand area to be on the lookout for underage 
drinking, and also will have such persons scattered throughout the entire facility to prevent 
underage drinking and any other problems such as fights and the like. 
      (14)   The holder of the Class I liquor license shall also be governed by and comply with the 
“Policies Governing Responsible Alcohol Service” as published by the First Midwest Bank 
Amphitheater of this village, which is on file and available for public inspection at the Village Hall 
during regular village business hours. A copy of such “Policies” will be provided to the holder of 
the Class I license, and regardless of whether it is provided by the village, the holder of such license 
shall be required to comply with all of the provisions thereof and shall be deemed to have 
knowledge of all such provisions. 
      (15)   The sale of beer shall be permitted via mobile vendors within the lawn areas. 
      (16)   The annual fee for this license shall be $10,000. 
      (17)   Video gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40 §§ 
1 et seq., shall not be allowed in a class I licensed premises. 
   (J)   Class J License. Shall authorize the retail sale of alcoholic liquor only on the premises 
designated therein, and shall be available only for outdoor music theatres and similar facilities. 
Notwithstanding the provisions of § 112.18, the applicant for (and holder of) a Class J liquor 
license need not own or be the beneficial owner of the subject premises, nor need it be a lessee of 
the subject premises. Nevertheless, such holder shall hold a Class J liquor license as an agent for 
the owners of the subject premises.  In addition, the sale of alcoholic liquor shall be further 
restricted as follows: 
      (1)   No one under the age of 21 shall be allowed to serve, mix, or sell or give away any 
alcoholic liquor under a Class J liquor license. 
      (2)   There shall be no tailgating or possession of any kind of alcoholic liquor in the parking 
lots or any other location other than as expressly approved herein. “TAILGATING” shall mean 
persons driving to the facility and commencing to consume food and/or beverages brought with 
them.  
      (3)   The Village Police Department as agents for and/or the Local Liquor Commissioner 
reserve the right to prohibit the sale of or to stop all sales of alcoholic liquor or to restrict the 
number of drinks sold to any one individual, if and when the public health, welfare and safety so 
requires. 
      (4)   Except as indicated below, there shall be no dispensing of alcoholic liquor in original 
containers, nor in bottles or cans of any kind whatsoever, except that beer may be served in 
aluminum cans. All containers must be either plastic or paper, and must be made of either 
recyclable and/or biodegradable products, or aluminum cans. 
      (5)   The maximum size drink to be dispensed for beer shall be 25 ounces, for wine shall be 8 
ounces, and for wine coolers shall be 12 ounces, and for alcoholic liquor shall be 2 ounces. Full 
bottles of wine, up to but not exceeding 750 milliliters, may be served but only in plastic decanters. 
When a full bottle of wine is served no other alcoholic liquor may be served during that transaction. 

Page | 111AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



      (6)   Any holder of a Class J liquor license shall submit its training program for its employees 
regarding dispensing of alcoholic liquor to review and approval by the Police Department of the 
village, and the Police Department of the village shall take an active part in such training programs.  
      (7)   All of the facilities shall be subject to review and approval by the Building, Fire, Health 
and Police Departments of the village, and no liquor license shall be issued without such approval. 
Also, such facilities shall be subject to the continuing inspection by the said Building, Fire, Health 
and Police Departments, and if such structures are not in compliance with all village codes, the 
liquor license shall be suspended by appropriate proceedings until such time as such structures are 
brought into conformance. 
      (8)   The sale, dispensing or giving away of alcoholic liquor under this license shall be allowed 
to begin at the time the parking lot gates are open for the specific concert or event; provided, 
however, if the gates are open more than two hours prior to the scheduled start of the concert or 
event, no sale, dispensing or giving away of alcoholic liquor can be made more than two hours 
before the scheduled start unless otherwise approved by the Local Liquor Commissioner. 
      (9)   (a)   The selling, dispensing or giving away of alcoholic liquor under this license shall be 
allowed in the following areas at a music theatre facility: 
            1.   Tent areas; 
            2.   Skybox areas;  
            3.   Club rooms;  
            4.   Golden boxes. 
         (b)   The specific restrictions in connection with each of the aforesaid areas are as set forth 
below. 
      (10)   In the tent areas, alcoholic liquor must be served by the drink only, and shall only be 
served in conjunction with the service of catered dinners. Alcoholic liquor can be taken out of the 
tent area, and consumed throughout the venue. The tent areas shall be restricted to private parties 
only, and the holder of the liquor license must provide sufficient security to make certain that 
entrance to the tent areas is restricted to invitees only. 
      (11)   In the skybox areas (skyboxes are private boxes located at the upper levels of the 
facilities with restricted access and are purchased on a yearly basis), the sale, dispensing of giving 
away of all alcoholic liquor must terminate at the end of the concert (when the performers cease 
performing on stage).  Alcoholic liquor can be sold in original containers, provided that the 
maximum original container for beer must be 12 ounces, the maximum original container for wine 
must be 750 milliliters, and the maximum original container for spirits must be 750 milliliters. 
Spirits may be sold in their original container in the skybox areas only and in no other area of the 
licensed premises. The owner of the Class J liquor license shall provide adequate security 
personnel and concierges to prevent underage drinking in the skyboxes and at the skybox levels, 
and such personnel shall be present at all times on the skybox levels to monitor drinking at the 
skybox levels. There has to be at least one adult above the age of 25 years present in the skybox 
before access to alcoholic liquor shall be allowed. Identification will be checked by employees or 
agents of the license holder within the first 30 minutes of the concert to determine whether there 
are any underage persons in the skybox and adequate provisions will be made to prevent underage 
drinking in the skyboxes. Only individuals with skybox tickets will be allowed in the skybox areas, 
and there must be sufficient security on hand to make certain that entrance is limited only to those 
with skybox tickets. Also, prominent signs will be posted in the skybox areas prohibiting any 
consumption of alcoholic liquor by anyone under the age of 21 years of age. Finally, the holder of 

Page | 112AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



such liquor license shall make certain that there are adequate personnel available to 
monitor  drinkingmonitor drinking in the skyboxes throughout the concert. 
      (12)   Consumption of alcoholic beverages in the club rooms (private rooms located on all 
levels) is limited to guests holding a ticket to the club room, and sufficient security must be 
provided to restrict entrance to invitees only. Alcoholic liquor may be taken out of the club rooms 
and consumed throughout the venue. The sale, dispensing or giving away of alcoholic liquor in 
the club rooms must cease at the end of the concert.   
      (13)   Consumption of alcoholic liquor in the floor boxes (box seating located behind the lower 
level pavilion reserved seating) shall be by the drink only. There shall only be waiter or waitress 
service to the floor boxes. Service to the floor box area shall cease at 10:30 p.m. or at the time 
sales cease at the concession stands at the music theatre, whichever first occurs. 
      (14)   Easily readable signs shall be posted in conspicuous and prominent areas within all club 
rooms indicating that anyone under the age of 30 years will be subject to an identification check, 
and the holder of the liquor license will insist upon at least one picture identification to prove the 
person’s age. A student identification card shall not be accepted by the holder to prove the person’s 
age. 
      (15)   The holder of the Class J liquor license shall also be governed by and comply with the 
“Policies Governing Responsible Alcohol Service” as published by the First Midwest Bank 
Amphitheater of this village which is on file and available for public inspection at the Village Hall 
during regular village business hours. A copy of such “Policies” will be provided to the holder of 
the Class J license, and regardless of whether it is provided by the village, the holder of such license 
shall be required to comply with all of the provisions thereof and shall be deemed to have 
knowledge of all such provisions. 
      (16)   Notwithstanding the foregoing time limits, the performers featured at the concert shall 
be allowed to have a party after the concert in any one of the club rooms, but consumption of 
alcoholic liquor at any such party shall cease no later than two hours after the end of the concert. 
The holder of the liquor license shall notify the Police Department when such an entertainer party 
is to occur. 
      (17)   The sale of beer shall be permitted via mobile vendors within the lawn area. 
      (18)   The annual fee for this license shall be $10,000. 
      (19)   Video gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, 
§§ 1 et seq., shall not be allowed in a class J licensed premises. 
 
   (K)   (1)   Class K License.  Shall authorize the retail sale of alcoholic liquor only on the premises 
designated therein, and shall be available only for banquet hall facilities.  Such facilities must be 
unconnected with any restaurant, theatre, or nightclub, or similar business, and shall occupy the 
entire building in which the facilities are located.  If the banquet facility is contained within a 
building occupying other facilities, specifically including the Metra Train Station, approval of the 
Local Liquor Commissioner is required.  The banquet hall facilities must have seating for at least 
250 75 persons for full sit-down dinners, and sale of alcoholic liquor shall be limited to sales in 
conjunction with banquets or other planned events only.  The annual fee for this license shall be 
$600 if the facility has a maximum seating capacity of 275 or less, and $1,500 if the facility has a 
seating capacity in excess of 275.  Video gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, 
ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 1 et seq., shall not be allowed in a class K licensed premises. 
 

Page | 113AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



      (2)   Class K-1 License.  Shall authorize the retail sale of alcoholic liquor only on the premises 
designated therein, and shall be available only for use in conjunction with banquet functions. Such 
banquet facilities must be unconnected with any restaurant, theater or nightclub, or similar 
business, and may not have seating for more than 250 persons. Such facilities may be contained 
within a building occupying other facilities, specifically including Metra train station facilities. 
The annual fee for this license shall be $200. Video gaming as defined under the Illinois Video 
Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 1 et seq., shall not be allowed in a class K-1 licensed 
premises. 
   (L)   Class L License.  Shall authorize the retail sale of alcoholic liquor on the premises 
designated therein, when premises are owned or operated by any religious not-for-profit 
organization, for consumption of the drink on such premises only.  Further, the sale of alcoholic 
liquor shall be restricted to sales made in conjunction with a special event sponsored by such 
religious not-for-profit organization, but not to exceed six such special events per calendar 
year.  The license shall authorize the sale of alcoholic liquor only between the hours of 11:00 a.m. 
and 12:00 midnight.  Such sales shall take place only in enclosed structures (including tents), but 
consumption may take place in the open air on property owned or leased by the not-for- profit 
organization.  Drive-in and drive-up sales are prohibited. The annual fee for such license shall be 
$50.  Video gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 1 
et seq., shall not be allowed in a class L licensed premises. 
 
   (M)   Class M License.  Shall authorize the retail sale of alcoholic liquor on the premises 
designated therein for consumption of the drink on such premises only.  This license shall be 
available only for commercial facilities which run or lease their facilities on a limited basis for 
private business outings or picnics.  The number of such outings or picnics shall not exceed 15 
events per year, unless a greater number is authorized by the Village President.  Such events must 
be contained in a designated portion of the facilities of the liquor licensee, which designated area 
must be approved in advance for each activity by the Chief of Police or his or her designee.  Such 
events must be limited to invitees of the business only, and may not be open to the general public, 
or anyone unrelated to the business holding the event.  The serving of liquor shall be done solely 
by professional bartenders, and neither the licensee nor the company holding the event can utilize 
their own employees as bartenders.  No one under the age of 21 years shall be served, and a 
prominent sign must be posted in the designated area so indicating.  The annual fee for this license 
shall be $1,500.  Video gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, 
Act 40, §§ 1 et seq., shall not be allowed in a class M licensed premises. 
   (N)   Class N License.  Shall authorize a hotel to serve complimentary beer and wine on the 
premises designated therein for consumption of the drink on such premises for two hours each day, 
seven days per week, and also to operate a pantry selling packaged beer and wine for the 
convenience of guests staying at the hotel.  The hours and location in the hotel where the beer and 
wine will be served are subject to the approval of the Village President (the Local Liquor 
Commissioner).  The holder of a Class N license may only provide complimentary beer and wine 
and sell packaged beer and wine to individuals age 21 and over and who are guests of the hotel.  A 
“GUEST” is defined as an individual renting a room in the hotel at the time of service.  A sign 
shall be posted in the area of the hotel where the beer and wine are served stating the age and guest 
requirement.  Hotel guests, prior to service, must provide proof that they are at least 21 years of 
age and guests of the hotel. The annual fee for this license shall be $400.  Video gaming as defined 

Page | 114AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 1 et seq., shall not be allowed in 
a class N licensed premises. 
 
   (O)   (1)   Class O License: Micro Brewery. Shall authorize the licensee to manufacture beer 
products on the licensed premises and to make sales at retail of the manufactured beer products, 
for consumption on or off the licensed premises. Nothing in the issuance of a Class O license 
pursuant to this division (R) shall be considered to relieve the licensee of any responsibility for 
complying with all applicable state and federal regulations relating to the manufacture and/or sale 
of beer products, and all applicable business and other regulations of the village. The license fee 
for a Class O license shall be $500.  Video gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming 
Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 1 et seq., shall not be allowed in a class O licensed premises. 
      (2)   Class OV License: Micro Brewery. Shall authorize the licensee to manufacture beer 
products on the licensed premises and to make sales at retail of the manufactured beer products, 
for consumption on or off the licensed premises. Nothing in the issuance of a Class OV license 
pursuant to this division (O) shall be considered to relieve the licensee of any responsibility for 
complying with all applicable state and federal regulations relating to the manufacture and/or sale 
of beer products, and all applicable business and other regulations of the village. The license fee 
for a Class OV license shall be $500. Video gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming 
Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 1 et seq., shall be authorized so long as the licensee also has a video 
gaming license issued by the Illinois Gaming Board in accordance with the provisions of the 
Illinois Video Gaming Act and all rules, regulations, and restrictions imposed by the Illinois 
Gaming Board; and the operation of video gaming terminals shall not be permitted during the 
hours alcoholic liquor sales are prohibited. 
 
   (P)   Class P License: Bring Your Own Beer or Wine. Shall authorize any restaurant to allow its 
customers to bring their own beer and/or wine to the restaurant premises for consumption on the 
premises only. Such consumption shall be solely in conjunction with the licensee’s operation of 
the restaurant and is further restricted to consumption only at tables or booths at which meals are 
served. . A current menu must be attached to the licensee’s liquor license application and any 
substantial deviation from the menu must be reviewed and approved by the Local Liquor Control 
Commissioner to ensure that the primary purpose remains the service of food. The license fee for 
a Class P license shall be $250.  Video gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, 
ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 1 et seq., shall not be allowed in a class P licensed premises. 
   (Q)   Class Q License: Special Event License. Shall allow the licensee to sell and offer for sale, 
at retail, alcoholic liquor use or consumption, but not for resale in any form and only at the location 
and on the specific date(s) designated for the special event in the license. An applicant for a special 
event retailer license must submit with the application proof of a valid state special use permit 
license. An applicant for a special event retailer license must also submit with the application proof 
satisfactory to the Liquor Control Commissioner that the applicant will provide dram shop liability 
insurance in the maximum limits. A Class Q license may be issued to either a resident or non- 
resident and to either a profit or not-for-profit organization or groups. The Liquor Control 
Commissioner can impose conditions as he or she deems appropriate on any such license. A special 
use permit license may be granted for the following time periods: one day or less; two or more 
days to a maximum of 15 days per location in any 12-month period. An applicant for a special use 
permit license must also submit with the application proof  satisfactory to the Local Liquor Control 
Commissioner that the applicant will provide dram shop liability insurance to the maximum 

Page | 115AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



limits.  Video gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 
1 et seq., shall not be allowed in a class Q licensed premises. 
 
   (R)   (1)   Class R License: Craft Beers. Shall authorize the licensee to sell craft beer, cider, beer 
and wine products on the licensed premises and to make sales at retail of craft beer products and 
cider products only for consumption on or off the licensed premises, provided that such beer and/or 
cider shall at the time it leaves the licensed premises be sealed in its original container. In addition, 
the licensee shall be authorized to make sales at retail of craft cocktails containing alcoholic liquor 
for consumption on the premise. Furthermore, Iin addition, the licensee shall be authorized to make 
sales at retail of other beer,  and wine and craft alcoholic liquor products for consumption off the 
premises only. A craft beer means beer brewed by a craft brewer as that term is defined in the 
Illinois Liquor Control Act. Nothing in the issuance of a Class R license pursuant to this division 
(R) shall be considered to relieve the licensee of any responsibility for complying with all 
applicable state and federal regulations relating to the manufacture and/or sale of beer products, 
and all applicable business and other regulations of the village. The license fee for a Class R license 
shall be $500.  Video gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 
40, §§ 1 et seq., shall not be allowed in a class R licensed premises. 
      (2)   Class RV License: Craft Beers. Shall authorize the licensee to sell craft beer, cider, beer 
and wine products on the licensed premises and to make sales at retail of craft beer products and 
cider products only for consumption on or off the licensed premises, provided that such beer and/or 
cider shall at the time it leaves the licensed premises be sealed in its original container. In addition, 
the licensee shall be authorized to make sales at retail of craft cocktails containing alcoholic liquor 
for consumption on the premise. Furthermore, Iin addition, the licensee shall be authorized to make 
sales at retail of other beer, and wine and craft alcoholic liquor products for consumption off the 
premises only. A craft beer means beer brewed by a craft brewer as that term is defined in the 
Illinois Liquor Control Act. Nothing in the issuance of a Class RV license pursuant to this division 
(R) shall be considered to relieve the licensee of any responsibility for complying with all 
applicable state and federal regulations relating to the manufacture and/or sale of beer products, 
and all applicable business and other regulations of the village. The license fee for a Class RV 
license shall be $500. Video gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 
230, Act 40, §§ 1 et seq., shall be authorized so long as the licensee also has a video gaming license 
issued by the Illinois Gaming Board in accordance with the provisions of the Illinois Video 
Gaming Act and all rules, regulations, and restrictions imposed by the Illinois Gaming Board; and 
the operation of video gaming terminals shall not be permitted during the hours alcoholic liquor 
sales are prohibited. 
 
   (S)   (1)   Class S License: Brew Pubs. “Brew Pub” means a person who manufactures beer only 
at a designated premises to make sales to importing distributors, distributors, and to non-licensees 
for use and consumption only, who stores beer at the designated premises, and who is allowed to 
sell at retail from the licensed premises, provided that a brew pub licensee shall not sell for off-
premises consumption more than 50,000 gallons per year. A brew pub license shall allow the 
licensee (i) to manufacture beer only on the premises specified in the license, (ii) to make sales of 
the beer manufactured on the premises or, with the approval of the State Liquor Commission, beer 
manufactured on another brew pub licensed premises that is substantially owned and operated by 
the same licensee to importing distributors, distributors, and to non-licensees for use and 
consumption, (iii) to store the beer upon the premises, and (iv) to sell and offer for sale at retail 

Page | 116AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



from the licensed premises, provided that a brew pub licensee shall not sell for off-premises 
consumption more than 50,000 gallons per year. The primary purpose of any holder of a brew pub 
license shall be the service of food. A current menu must be attached to the licensee’s liquor license 
application; any substantial deviation from this menu must be reviewed and approved by the 
Liquor Commissioner to ensure that the primary purpose of the business remains the service of 
food. Any sale of beer for off premises consumption shall be in a sealed container. The license fee 
for a Class license shall be $500.  Video gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, 
ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 1 et seq., shall not be allowed in a class R licensed premises. 
      (2)   Class SV License: Brew Pubs. "Brew pub" means a person who manufactures beer only 
at a designated premises to make sales to importing distributors, distributors, and to non-licensees 
for use and consumption only, who stores beer at the designated premises, and who is allowed to 
sell at retail from the licensed premises, provided that a brew pub licensee shall not sell for off-
premises consumption more than 50,000 gallons per year. A brew pub license shall allow the 
licensee (i) to manufacture beer only on the premises specified in the license, (ii) to make sales of 
the beer manufactured on the premises or, with the approval of the State Liquor Commission, beer 
manufactured on another brew pub licensed premises that is substantially owned and operated by 
the same licensee to importing distributors, distributors, and to non-licensees for use and 
consumption, (iii) to store the beer upon the premises, and (iv) to sell and offer for sale at retail 
from the licensed premises, provided that a brew pub licensee shall not sell for off-premises 
consumption more than 50,000 gallons per year. The primary purpose of any holder of a brew pub 
license shall be the service of food. A current menu must be attached to the licensee's liquor license 
application; any substantial deviation from this menu must be reviewed and approved by the 
Liquor Commissioner to ensure that the primary purpose of the business remains the service of 
food. Any sale of beer for off premises consumption shall be in a sealed container. The license fee 
for a Class SV license shall be $500. Video gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming 
Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, §§ 1 et seq., shall be authorized so long as the licensee also has a video 
gaming license issued by the Illinois Gaming Board in accordance with the provisions of the 
Illinois Video Gaming Act and all rules, regulations, and restrictions imposed by the Illinois 
Gaming Board; and the operation of video gaming terminals shall not be permitted during the 
hours alcoholic liquor sales are prohibited. 
   (T)   (1)   Class TV Video Gaming Hall. A “video gaming hall” means an establishment whose 
primary purpose is to operate video gaming terminals as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming 
Act (ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, § 5) and in which alcoholic liquor is drawn, poured, mixed, or 
otherwise served for consumption on the premises which is subsidiary to the operation of the video 
gaming terminals. In determining whether an establishment's primary purpose is video gaming, 
the considerations include but are not limited to: 
         (a)   A seating area for video gaming terminals being greater than the seating area for food 
and beverage service or merchandise sales; 
         (b)   The absence of a full service kitchen; 
         (c)   An estimated net revenue of at least 40% or more derived from video gaming terminals, 
and 
         (d)   An overall size of 2,000 square feet or less. Fraternal establishments and veteran 
establishments as defined by the Illinois Video Gaming Act (ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40, § 5) are exempt 
from this definition. 
      (2)   A class TV license shall authorize the retail sale of wine and beer only on the premises 
designated therein for consumption by the drink on such premises only. The annual fee for this 

Page | 117AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



license shall be $1,000. Video gaming as defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 
230, Act 40, § 1 et seq., shall be authorized so long as the licensee also has a video gaming license 
issued by the Illinois Gaming Board in accordance with the provisions of the Illinois Video 
Gaming Act and all rules, regulations, and restrictions imposed by the Illinois Gaming Board; and 
the operation of video gaming terminals shall not be permitted during the hours alcoholic liquor 
sales are prohibited. The premises in which a video gaming hall is located must be at least 2,000 
square feet. A video gaming hall shall not be located on any street in which is solely owned by the 
village or within 500 feet of any church, school, day care center, or another video gaming hall. 
   (U)   (1)   Class U licenses. A class U license shall authorize the following for licensed truck stop 
establishments: 
         (a)   “LICENSED TRUCK STOP ESTABLISHMENT” means a licensed truck stop 
establishment as defined by the Illinois Video Gaming Act (ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40 § 5). Alcoholic 
liquor sold at licensed truck stop establishments must be sold in the original package as defined in 
ILCS Ch. 235, Act 5 § 1-3.06, and such alcoholic liquor shall at the time it leaves the premises be 
sealed in its original container. No alcoholic liquor, except in the original package, shall be sold 
upon any premises licensed as a truck stop establishment. There shall be no consumption 
whatsoever of alcoholic liquor on the premises of a licensed truck stop establishment. The annual 
fee for this license shall be $1,000. 
      (21)   Class UV licenses. A class UV license shall authorize the following for licensed truck 
stop establishments: 

(a)          (a)   A “LICENSED TRUCK STOP ESTABLISHMENT” means a licensed truck 
stop establishment as defined by the Illinois Video Gaming Act (ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40 
§ 5). Alcoholic liquor sold at licensed truck stop establishments must be sold in the 
original package as defined in ILCS Ch. 235, Act 5 § 1-3.06, and such alcoholic liquor 
shall at the time it leaves the premises be sealed in its original container. No alcoholic 
liquor, except in the original package, shall be sold upon any premises licensed as a 
licensed truck stop establishment. There shall be no consumption whatsoever of 
alcoholic liquor on the premises of a licensed truck stop establishment. Video gaming as 
defined under the Illinois Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40 §§ 1 et seq., shall 
be authorized so long as the licensee also has a video gaming license issued by the Illinois 
Gaming Board and the Village of Tinley Park in accordance with the provisions of the 
Illinois Video Gaming Act and all rules, regulations, and restrictions imposed by the 
Illinois Gaming Board and the village; and the operation of video gaming terminals shall 
not be permitted during the hours alcoholic liquor sales are prohibited. The annual fee 
for this license shall be $1,000. 

      (2)   Class UV-2 licenses. A class UV-2 license shall authorize the following for licensed 
truck stop establishments: 

(a)   A “LICENSED TRUCK STOP ESTABLISHMENT” means a licensed truck stop 
establishment as defined by the Illinois Video Gaming Act (ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40 § 5). 
Alcoholic liquor sold at licensed truck stop establishments must be sold in the original 
package as defined in ILCS Ch. 235, Act 5 § 1-3.06, and such alcoholic liquor shall at the 
time it leaves the premises be sealed in its original container. No alcoholic liquor, except 
in the original package, shall be sold upon any premises licensed as a licensed truck stop 
establishment. There shall be no consumption whatsoever of alcoholic liquor on the 
premises of a licensed truck stop establishment. Video gaming as defined under the Illinois 
Video Gaming Act, ILCS Ch. 230, Act 40 §§ 1 et seq., shall be authorized so long as the 

Page | 118AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



licensee also has a video gaming license issued by the Illinois Gaming Board and the 
Village of Tinley Park in accordance with the provisions of the Illinois Video Gaming Act 
and all rules, regulations, and restrictions imposed by the Illinois Gaming Board and the 
village. The operation of video gaming terminals for a Class UV-2 shall be permitted 24/7.  
 

 
   (V)   Samples - Giving Away. Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit the holder 
of a Class B, Class G, Class G-1, Class Q or Class R from giving away free samples of alcoholic 
liquor under the following conditions: 
      (1)   Not more than two samples of any type may be given away to any one individual; 
      (2)   No sample may be less than one ounce nor more than two ounces; 
      (3)   The licensee gives advance notice to the Local Liquor Control Commissioner detailing 
when such free sampling is to be provided and receives written approval by the Local Liquor 
Control Commissioner; 
      (4)   Such free sampling shall not occur more than 12 days in any given calendar year. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed 1-22-85; Am. Ord. 88-0-092, passed 10-25-88; Am. Ord. 90-0-040, passed 
5-15-90; Am. Ord. 91-0-010, passed 3-5-91; Am. Ord. 94-0-098, passed 11-15-94; Am. Ord. 96-
0-033, passed 6-18-96; Am. Ord. 99-0- 029, passed 6-1-99; Am. Ord. 2000-O-063, passed 9-5-00; 
Am. Ord. 2003-O-086, passed 9-16-03; Am. Ord. 2005-O-002, passed 1-25- 05; Am. Ord. 2006-
O-030, passed 6-27-06; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10; Am. Ord. 2014-O-006, passed 4-
29-14; Am. Ord. 2014-O-017, passed 6-17-14; Am. Ord. 2015-O-021, passed 6-16-15; Am. Ord. 
2015-O-033, passed 8-18-15; Am. Ord. 2016-O-045, passed 6-21-16; Am. Ord. 2019-O-020, 
passed 5-7-19; Am. Ord. 2019-O-073, passed 11-12-19; Am. Ord. 2020-O-086, passed 12-15-20) 
 
CLASS XX: BEER GARDEN.  Shall designate on a site or patio plan an area immediately 
adjoining the licensee’s indoor establishment, which contiguous area shall be used for the purposes 
of the license, and which area will hereinafter be referred to as a beer garden. The beer garden may 
not exceed 50% of the establishment interior occupancy, and shall have its boundaries clearly 
marked with the appropriate enclosure as determined by the Liquor Commissioner or designees. 
The beer garden must be enclosed by at minimum, a three-foot barrier on all sides, as a means of 
separating the beer garden from pedestrians. The Liquor Commissioner, in his or her sole and 
absolute discretion, shall approve the location of a beer garden or where the zoning ordinance 
regulates the use will supersede the Liquor Commissioner’s discretion. 
      (3)   Such sale and consumption of liquor shall be limited to the designated beer garden. 

      (5)   Adequate area for pedestrian flow through the beer garden shall be maintained at all times. 

      (6)   Emergency ingress and egress and access by and to fire apparatus in the beer garden shall 
be subject to review and approval of the Fire Department. 

      (7)   The beer garden shall be maintained in a clean and sanitary condition and shall be kept 
from debris at all times. 

      (8)   All trash containers located in the beer garden shall be lidded at all times and all refuse 
shall be regularly removed. 

Page | 119AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



      (9)   Licensees shall obtain all licenses, certifications, permits, and other approvals required 
for the legal operation of the beer garden. 

      (10)   Licensees shall comply with all other requirements applicable to the beer garden in the 
code and other applicable codes, ordinances, and regulations. 

      (11)   It shall be unlawful to sell, offer, give away or permit to be sold, offered or given away, 
at retail, in or upon a licensed beer garden, any liquor between the hours of 12:00 a.m. and 9:00 
a.m. on all days of the week. 

      (12)    Following the closing times and prior to the opening times set forth in of this section of 
the city code, every non-licensee person located in the beer garden area shall relocate indoors or 
otherwise leave the outdoor premises, which shall be closed and remain closed. 

      (13)   All doors directly opening into or out of such location, place or premises for ingress 
thereto or egress therefrom shall be securely locked during the time that sales in the beer garden 
are prohibited. 

 
 

§ 112.21  HOURS. 
   (A)   It shall be unlawful to keep open to the public or to permit to be opened in the village any 
place where alcoholic liquor is sold for consumption on the premises between the hours of 2:00 
a.m. and 6:00 a.m. on any weekday or Saturday, or between the hours of 4:00 a.m. and 6:00 a.m. 
on New Year’s Day, or between the hours of 2:00 a.m. and 9:00 a.m. on Sunday. However, 
licensees operating a golf course within the village shall be prohibited from selling alcoholic liquor 
between the hours of 2:00 a.m. and 8:00 a.m. on Sunday. If approved by the Local Liquor Control 
Commissioner and upon payment of the annual fee, hHolders of a Class AV-1 license shall be 
allowed to remain open to the public until 3:00 a.m. on Saturday and Sunday. Extended hours 
allowed pursuant to this section may be revoked by the Local Liquor Control Commissioner for 
any violations of state law or this chapter. It shall be unlawful to sell, offer to sell, dispense, mix, 
pour, give away or otherwise serve any alcoholic liquors during such hours. It shall be further 
unlawful to allow anyone to consume alcoholic liquors on any licensed premises during such 
hours. 
 
   (B)   It shall be unlawful to keep open for business or to admit the public to any premises in or 
on which alcoholic liquor is sold for consumption on the premises during the hours within which 
the sale of such liquor is prohibited.  However, in the case of restaurants or mercantile 
establishments holding a liquor license, such establishments may be kept open, but no alcoholic 
liquor may be sold, offered for sale, dispensed, mixed, drawn, poured, given away or otherwise 
served or consumed by any person during such hours. 
   (C)   It shall be unlawful to sell, dispense, mix, draw, pour, give away or otherwise serve any 
alcoholic liquor in any premises having a Class B or a Class G retail liquor license between the 
hours of 2:00 a.m. and 7:00 a.m. on any weekday, Saturday, or Sunday. 
   (D)   It shall be unlawful to sell, mix, draw, dispense, pour, give away or otherwise serve any 
alcoholic liquor in any premises having a Class K License between the hours of 2:00 a.m. and 
10:00 a.m. on any weekday, Saturday, or Sunday. 

Page | 120AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



(C) Class UV-2 License holders are permitted to operate video gaming 24 hours a day, seven days 
a week.  
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed 1-22-85; Am. Ord. 91-0-010, passed 3-5-91; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 
5-25-10; Am. Ord. 2020-O-023, passed 5-19-20; Am. Ord. 2020-O-069, passed 11- 17-
20)  Penalty, see § 112.99 
 
§ 112.22  PERMITTED NUMBER OF LICENSES[HL1]. 
   (A)   There shall be in force the following: 
  
Class of License Permitted Number 
A 2018 
AV 186 
AV-1 9 
B 1520 
C  04 
CVC  34 
D  15 
DV 3 
E 78 
EV 10 
F  1 
G 34 
I  1 
J  1 
K  43 
L  3 
M  1 
N  31 
O 23 
OV 1 
P 1 
Q N/A 
R 1 
S 1 
UV 13 
UV-2 1 

  
   (B)   No license shall be issued in excess of the above limitations. 

Page | 121AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



(Ord. 85-0-001, passed 1-22-85; Am. Ord. 88-0-052, passed 5-24-88; Am. Ord. 88-0-059, passed 
7-27-88; Am. Ord. 88-0-063, passed 8-2-88; Am. Ord. 88-0-092, passed 10-25-88; Am. Ord. 90-
0-040, passed 5-15-90; Am. Ord. 91-0-010, passed 3-5-91; Am. Ord. 91-0-076, passed 11-26-91; 
Am. Ord. 92-0-027, passed 4-28-92; Am. Ord. 92-0-074, passed 11-3-92; Am. Ord. 93-0-014, 
passed 3-2-93; Am. Ord.94-0-058, passed 8-2-94; Am. Ord. 94-0-063, passed 8-23-94; Am. Ord. 
94-0-074, passed 9-27-94; Am. Ord. 94-0-098, passed 11-15-94; Am. Ord. 96-0-033, passed 6-18-
96; Am. Ord. 97-0-026, passed 4-22-97; Am. Ord. 97-0-058, passed 8-26-97; Am. Ord. 97-0-063, 
passed 9-16-97; Am. Ord. 98-0- 002, passed 1-20-98; Am. Ord. 99-0-019, passed 4-20-99; Am. 
Ord. 99-0-029, passed 6-1-99; 99-0-062, passed 10-5-99; Am. Ord. 2000-O-039, passed 6-27-00; 
Am. Ord. 2000-O-061, passed 9-5- 00; Am. Ord. 2000-O-062, passed 9-5-00; Am. Ord. 2000-O-
063, passed 9-5-00; Am. Ord. 2000-O-091, passed 10-17-00; Am. Ord. 2001-O-005, passed 3-20-
01; Am. Ord. 2001-O-015, passed 3-27-01; Am. Ord. 2001-O-022, passed 4-17-01; Am. Ord. 
2002-O-050, passed 9-17-02; Am. Ord. 2002-O-077, passed 11-19-02; Am. Ord. 2003-O-003, 
passed 1-21-03; Am. Ord. 2003-O-008, passed 1-28-03; Am. Ord. 2003-O-020, passed 6-24-03; 
Am. Ord. 2003-O-058, passed 7-1-03; Am. Ord. 2004-O-053, passed 8-3- 04; Am. Ord. 2004-O-
059, passed 8-24-04; Am. Ord. 2004-O-064, passed 9-21-04; Am. Ord. 2004-O-088; Am. Ord. 
2006-O-008, passed 2-21-06; Am. Ord. 2006-O-030, passed 6-27-06; Am. Ord. 2006-O-072, 
passed 11-21-06; Am. Ord. 2007-O-013, passed 3-27-07; Am. Ord. 2007-O-019, passed 4-3-07; 
Am. Ord. 2007-O-053, passed 9-18-07; Am. Ord. 2008-O-014, passed 4-22-08; Am. Ord. 2008-
O-032, passed 7-22- 08; Am. Ord. 2009-O-004, passed 2-24-09; Am. Ord. 2009-O-047, passed 
10-20-09; Am. Ord. 2009-O-059, passed 11-24-09; Am. Ord. 2009-O-073, passed --09; Am. Ord. 
2010-O-007, passed 3-2-10; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10; Am. Ord. 2011-O-053, passed 
12-6-11; Am. Ord. 2012-O-056, passed 1-8-13; Am. Ord. 2013-O-025, passed 7- 16-13; Am. Ord. 
2013-O-035, passed 8-20-13; Am. Ord. 2013-O-057, passed 12-17-13; Am. Ord. 2014-O-006, 
passed 4-29-14; Am. Ord. 2014-O-017, passed 6-17- 14; Am. Ord. 2015-O-033, passed 8-18-15; 
Am. Ord. 2015-O-059, passed 12-1-15; Am. Ord. 2016-O-004, passed 2-2-16; Am. Ord. 2016-O-
015, passed 4-19-16; Am. Ord. 2016-O-027, passed 6-21- 16; Am. Ord. 2016-O-038, passed 7-5-
16; Am. Ord. 2016-O-050, passed 8-2-16; Am. Ord. 2016-O-061, passed 11-15-16; Am. Ord. 
2016-O-070, passed 12-6-16; Am. Ord. 2017-O-005, passed 1-17- 17; Am. Ord. 2017-O-019, 
passed 4-3-17; Am. Ord. 2017-O-038, passed 5-16-17; Am. Ord. 2017-O-045, passed 7-11-17; 
Am. Ord. 2017-O-046, passed 7-11-17; Am. Ord. 2017-O-049, passed 8-15- 17; Am. Ord. 2017-
O-050, passed 8-15-17; Am. Ord. 2018-O-024, passed 5-1-18; Am. Ord. 2018-O-054, passed 10-
2-18; Am. Ord. 2018-O-055, passed 10-2-18; Am. Ord. 2018-O-074, passed 12-4-18; Am. Ord. 
2019-O-004, passed 2-5-19; Am. Ord. 2019-O-005, passed 2-5-19; Am. Ord. 2019-O-006, passed 
2-5-19; Am. Ord. 2019-O-028, passed 6-4-19; Am. Ord. 2019-O-029, passed 6-18-19; Am. Ord. 
2019-O-030, passed 6-4-19; Am. Ord. 2019-O-031, passed 6-4-19; Am. Ord. 2019-O-046, passed 
8-20-19; Am. Ord. 2019-O-062, passed 10-15-19; Am. Ord. 2019-O-063, passed 10-15-19; Am. 
Ord. 2019-O-083, passed 12-17-19; Am. Ord. 2020-O-011, passed 2-18- 20; Am. Ord. 2020-O-
030, passed 6-9-20; Am. Ord. 2020-O-031, passed 6-9-20; Am. Ord. 2020-O-047, passed 8-18-
20; Am. Ord. 2020-O-048, passed 8-18-20; Am. Ord. 2020-O-070, passed 11- 17-20; Am. Ord. 
2020-O-087, passed 12-15-20; Am. Ord. 2021-O- 005, passed 2-2-21; Am. Ord. 2021-O-009, 
passed 3-2-21; Am. Ord. 2021-O-013 passed 3-16-21) 
 
§ 112.23  PAYMENT OF LICENSE FEES. 
   (A)   In addition to the individual license fees provided for in § 112.3220, each licensee shall pay 
at the time of filing an initial application for a liquor license a separate initial application fee in the 

Page | 122AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



amount of $400250. The cost of fingerprinting for the purpose of conducting a background check 
is included in the application fee.As part of the application fee, all applicants will pay $26.25 for 
fingerprinting costs. No application shall be processed until such application fee is paid. 
   (B)   All license fees provided in § 112.20  shall be paid in advance on an annual basis on or 
before the last day of December each year (or in the event of a new license, issued as of a date 
other than January 1, in full on or before the time of issuance of the license). In the event that any 
license fee is not paid when due, such license fee shall be increased $200 if paid within the first 
week after the date it was due, $250 if paid in the second week after the date it was due and $500 
if paid any time thereafter. No license shall be issued until the license fee and this later fee are paid 
in full. If after six months the annual installment has not been paid, the licensed premises shall be 
closed and not re-opened until the license fee and late fee are paid in full, unless the Local Liquor 
Control Commissioner determines that there are sufficient reasons existing to allow the licensed 
premises to remain open for a stated period of time. 
   (C)   Every license shall expire on December 31 following its issuance. In the event a license is 
revoked or abandoned prior to December 31, there shall be no refund of any license fee. 
   (D)   All license fees shall be paid to the Village.at the office of the Village Clerk. 
   (E)   All license fees collected by the Finance Department Village Clerk shall be forthwith paid 
to the Village Treasurer and the Local Liquor Commissioner or his/her designee Village Clerk 
shall keep a record of all licenses issued. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed 1-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10; Am. Ord. 2020-O-018, 
passed 4-21-20) 
 
LICENSE FEE SCHEDULE  
 
§ 112.24  LICENSE AS PERSONAL PRIVILEGE; EXPIRATION AND RENEWAL. 
   (A)   Any license issued hereunder shall be purely a personal privilege to expire not later than 
December 31 next after issuance unless sooner revoked as provided in this chapter.  Such license 
shall not constitute property; be subject to attachment, garnishment, or execution; be alienable or 
transferable, voluntarily or involuntarily; nor shall it be subject to being encumbered or 
hypothecated. 
      (1)   Such license shall not descend by the laws of testate or intestate devolution, but it shall 
cease and terminate upon the death of the licensee. Such license shall also cease and terminate 
upon the insolvency or bankruptcy of any licensee. 
      (2)   However, the executor or administrator of the estate of any deceased licensee or the trustee 
of any insolvent or bankrupt licensee, when such estate consists in part of alcoholic liquor, may 
continue the business of the sale at retail of such alcoholic liquor under order of the appropriate 
court and may exercise the privileges of the deceased, insolvent, or bankrupt licensee after the 
death of the decedent or insolvency or bankruptcy until the expiration of the license but no longer 
than six months after the death, bankruptcy, or insolvency of the licensee. 
   (B)   Any licensee may renew his or her license at the expiration thereof provided he or she is 
then qualified to receive a license and further provided that the premises for which the renewal 
license is sought meets all applicable health requirements, contains no building or fire/safety 
violations or other violations of any applicable laws and ordinances, and otherwise meets with the 
approval of the Local Liquor Control Commissioner in the lawful exercise of his or her powers 
and duties. Further, the renewal privilege herein provided for shall not be construed as a vested 

Page | 123AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



right which shall in any case prevent the Board of Trustees from decreasing or increasing the 
number of licenses to be issued within the village. 
      (1)   Liquor License renewals will be issued by the Local Liquor Commissioner or his/her 
designee in advance of December 31st.  Renewal payments must be made prior to December 31st. 
Application for renewal of a license shall be filed with the Village Clerk on or before November 
15 preceding the expiration thereof.  Application for renewal shall be made under oath and shall 
be upon an application blank prepared by the village. 
      (2)   Each application for renewal shall be treated and considered in the same manner as 
provided for in § 112.16. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed 1-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10) 
 
§ 112.25  IMPOSITION OF CONDITIONS, RESTRICTIONS ON INDIVIDUAL LICENSE. 
   The Local Liquor Control Commissioner may, as a condition to the issuance of any liquor 
license, impose such conditions and restrictions upon each license as he or she may deem necessary 
to ensure that operation of the liquor establishment shall not be harmful to the safety, morals, and 
welfare of the community.  The conditions imposed upon each liquor license shall be enumerated 
upon the license, shall be displayed at all times in a prominent place in the establishment, and shall 
reiterate in detail such conditions. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed 1-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10)  Penalty, see § 112.99 
 
§ 112.26  SALE OR DISCONTINUANCE OF BUSINESS. 
   In the event any licensee shall sell the business or discontinue operation for a period of more 
than 30 days (except closing for remodeling and repairs), or any partnership or corporation or 
limited liability company shall be dissolved, the license shall terminate forthwith.  However, other 
than in the case of the termination of a partnership or the dissolution of a corporation or limited 
liability company, a licensee may continue the license in full force and effect, provided the Local 
Liquor Control Commissioner is notified by the licensee within 40 days from the date of the sale 
of the business or its discontinuance of a desire to maintain the license, the licensee otherwise 
complies with all applicable provisions of this chapter, and the licensee designates a location 
within the village acceptable to the Local Liquor Control Commissioner as the address or location 
of the license. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed 1-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10)  Penalty, see § 112.99 
 
§ 112.27  CHANGE OF LOCATION. 
   A retail liquor license shall permit the sale of alcoholic liquor only on the premises described in 
the application and license.  This location may be changed only upon written application to make 
such a change and approval thereof issued by the Local Liquor Control Commissioner.  No change 
of location shall be permitted unless the licensee files with the State Liquor Control Commission 
and the Local Liquor Control Commissioner a request in writing and a statement under oath which 
shows the proposed new location complies with all requirements of state law and is a proper one 
for retail sale of alcoholic liquor under the laws of this state and ordinances of the village. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed 1-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10)  Penalty, see § 112.99 
 
§ 112.28  CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP. 

Page | 124AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



   Any changes in partners; members; officers; directors; persons holding directly, beneficially, or 
through any form of indirect or concealed ownership or control more than 5% of the stock or 
ownership interest of any licensee or premises for which a license has been issued or managers of 
establishments licensed under this chapter, shall be reported in writing to the Local Liquor Control 
Commissioner within ten days of the change.  All such new individuals shall meet all the standards 
of this chapter and must otherwise qualify to hold a liquor license.  All such changes shall be 
subject to review by the Local Liquor Control Commissioner. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed 1-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10)  Penalty, see § 112.99 
 
§ 112.29  LICENSE, WARNING TO MINORS TO BE POSTED ON PREMISES. 
   (A)   Every licensee shall cause his or her license or licenses to be framed and hung in plain view 
in a conspicuous place on the licensed premises. 
   (B)   In every tavern or other place in the village where alcoholic liquor is sold, there shall be 
displayed at all times in a prominent place a printed warning which shall read substantially as 
follows: 
   “WARNING - You are subject to a fine of up to Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) under the 
ordinances of the Village of Tinley Park if you purchase alcoholic liquor when under the age of 
21 years, or misrepresent your age for the purpose of purchasing or obtaining alcoholic liquor.” 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed 1-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10) Penalty, see § 112.99 
 
§ 112.30  TRAINING REQUIREMENTS. 
   (A)   Within 90 days of the effective date of Ord. 2010-O-024 and thereafter, managers for 
establishments holding any class of liquor license shall, upon demand, show proof of completion 
of a state-certified Beverage Alcohol Sellers and Servers Education and Training Program 
(BASSET) or its equivalent, meeting the minimum curriculum requirements of the Illinois 
Department of Alcoholism and Substance Abuse (DASA), Title 77, Chapter XVI, Part 3500. 
   (B)   Within 90 days of the effective date of Ord. 2010-O-024 and thereafter, all persons 
employed by an establishment holding a Class A, D, E, G-1, I, J, K, K-1, M or O license, who 
serve or sell alcoholic beverages shall, and all “bouncers” and security personnel, upon demand, 
show proof of completion of a state-certified Beverage Alcohol Sellers and Servers Education and 
Training Program (BASSET) or its equivalent, meeting the minimum curriculum requirements of 
the Illinois Department of Alcoholism and Substance Abuse (DASA), Title 77, Chapter XVI, Part 
3500. 
   (C)   Within 90 days of the effective date of Ord. 2010-O-024 and thereafter, each holder of a 
Class Q or R license shall have on premises at all times a person designated to manage the selling 
and/or serving of alcoholic beverages. That person shall, upon demand, show proof of completion 
of a state-certified Beverage Alcohol Sellers and Servers Education and Training Program 
(BASSET) or its equivalent, meeting the minimum curriculum requirements of the Illinois 
Department of Alcoholism and Substance Abuse (DASA), Title 77, Chapter XVI, Part 3500. 
   (D)   New employees or managers of a licensee who are required to complete such training shall, 
within 90 days after the beginning of their employment with the licensee, complete the BASSET 
program or its equivalent, meeting the minimum curriculum requirements of the Illinois 
Department of Alcoholism and Substance Abuse (DASA), Title 77, Chapter XVI, Part 3500, and 
shall, until completion of the program, work under the supervision of a person who has completed 
the program. 

Page | 125AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



(Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10) 
 
§ 112.31  DRIVE THROUGH SALES PROHIBITED. 
   Under no circumstances may any licensee or licensed establishment sell or deliver any alcoholic 
beverage through any drive- through or drive-up window. 
(Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10) 
§ 112.32  DRIVE THROUGH SALES PROHIBITEDDELIVERY OF ALCOHOL. 
Delivery of alcoholic beverages by any licensee or licensed establishment is subject to the 
provisions of 235 ILCS 5/5-1(d). 
 
§ 112.323 FEE SCHEDULE. 
 

CLASS LICENSE TYPE CURRENT FEE FEE EFF. 1/1/2022 
A Bar $1,500 $2,250 
AV Bar  (Video Gaming) $1,500 $2,250 
AV-1 Bar (Video Gaming)  – Extended 

Hours 
$2,500 $3,000 

B Liquor Store $1,200 $2,000 
BG Beer Garden – (Supplemental)  N/A $500 (eff. 1/1/23) 
C Club $75 $200 
CV Club (Video Gaming) $75 $200 
D Sit Down Dining $1,000 $1,500 
DV Sit Down Dining (Video Gaming) $1,000 $1,500 
E Sit Down Dining - Beer & Wine  $1,000 $1,500 
EV Sit Down Dining - Beer & Wine 

(Video Gaming) 
$1,000 $1,500 

F Park District $15 $100 
G Liquor Store – Beer & Wine  $1,200 $1,800 
I Amphitheatre  $10,000 $10,000 
J Amphitheatre $10,000 $10,000 
K Banquet $600 $2,000 
L Churches / Non-for-profit $50 $100 
N Hotel $400 $1,200 
O Micro Brewery $500 $1,000 
OV Micro Brewery (Video Gaming) $500 $1,000 
P BYOB $250 $500 
Q Special Event $25 / $50 $125 / $150 
R Craft Brews $500 $1,000 
RV Craft Brew (Video Gaming) $500 $1,000 
S Brew Pub $500 $1,000 
SV Brew Pub (Video Gaming) $500 $1,000 
UV Truck Stop $1,000 $2,000 
UV-2 Truck Stop 24/7 $1,000 $2,000 

 
SALES 
 

Page | 126AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



§ 112.40  SALE TO MINORS, CERTAIN OTHER PERSONS PROHIBITED. 
   (A)  No licensee nor any officer, shareholder, associate, member, representative, agent, or 
employee of a licensee shall sell, give, or deliver alcoholic liquor, beer, or wine to any person 
under the age of 21 years, to any intoxicated person, or to any person known by him or her to be 
an habitual drunkard, spendthrift, insane, mentally ill, mentally deficient, or in need of mental 
treatment. No person, after purchasing or otherwise obtaining alcoholic liquor, shall sell, give, or 
deliver alcoholic liquor to another person under the age of 21 years except in the performance of 
a religious ceremony or service. 
   (B)   Any person to whom the sale, gift, or delivery of any alcoholic liquor is prohibited because 
of age shall not purchase or accept a gift of alcoholic liquor nor have alcoholic liquor in his or her 
possession. 
   (C)   If a licensee or his or her agents or employees believes or has reason to believe that a sale 
or delivery of any alcoholic liquor is prohibited because of the age of the prospective recipient, he 
or she shall, before making such sale or delivery, demand presentation of some form of positive 
identification, containing proof of age, issued by a public officer in the performance of his or her 
official duties. 
   (D)   No person shall transfer, alter, or deface any identification card; use the identification card 
of another; carry or use a false or forged identification card; or obtain an identification card by 
means of false information.  No person shall purchase, accept delivery, or have possession of 
alcoholic liquor using an identification card in violation of this section.  The consumption of 
alcoholic liquor by any person under 21 years of age is forbidden. 
   (E)   The possession and dispensing to, or consumption by a minor of alcoholic liquor in the 
performance of a religious service or ceremony is not prohibited by this section. 
   (F)   It shall be unlawful for any holder of a retail liquor dealer’s license, his or her agent, 
representative, or employee, or an officer of the license holder, to suffer or permit any minor to be 
or remain in any room or compartment adjoining or adjacent to or situated in the room or place 
where the licensed premises is located.  However, this shall not apply to any person under the age 
of 21 who is accompanied by his or her parent or guardian, or as to minors to any licensed premises 
which derives its principal business from the sale of service or commodities other than alcoholic 
liquor, provided that in no event shall any minors, with or without a parent or guardian, be 
permitted in any bar area in such business’ licensed premises. 
   (G)   In addition to all other fines and penalties which may be authorized by law, the Local 
Liquor Control Commissioner may suspend or revoke the retail dealer’s license for any violation 
of this section. 
   (H)   It shall be unlawful for any person to sell, give, serve or deliver alcoholic liquor to minors, 
except as authorized by this chapter. 
   (I)   Nothing herein contained shall be construed to prohibit anyone between the age of 18 years 
and the age of 21 years from serving, mixing, or selling alcoholic liquor as an employee of a retail 
liquor license holder. 
   (J)   It shall be unlawful to have any functions, events, parties, dances or any other type of 
gathering in any licensed premises which are specifically intended for persons under the age of 21 
years such as teen nights or teen dance parties; provided, however, this provision shall not apply 
to planned events (such as weddings, school sponsored dances, etc.) to be located in the non-bar 
area of a licensed premises. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10)  Penalty, see § 112.99 

Page | 127AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
§ 112.41  PARENTAL RESPONSIBILITY. 
   (A)   No person under the age of 21 years shall purchase, receive, or accept as a gift, nor consume 
any alcoholic liquor, nor have any alcoholic liquor in his or her possession within the 
village.  However, the possession, dispension, or consumption by a person under the age of 21 
years of alcoholic liquor in the performance of a religious service or ceremony is not prohibited 
by this chapter. 
   (B)   It shall be unlawful for any parent or legal guardian of any person under the age of 21 years 
to allow such person to purchase, receive, consume, or possess alcoholic liquor in violation of this 
chapter upon either public or private property within the village.  However, the provisions of this 
section shall not apply to the consumption of alcoholic liquor by a person under 21 years of age 
when in the privacy of the home of his or her parent or legal guardian and when under the direct 
supervision and with the approval of that parent or legal guardian. 
   (C)   It shall be unlawful for any owner or occupant of any premises located within the village 
to allow any person under the age of 21 years to remain on the premises while in possession of 
alcoholic liquor or while consuming alcoholic liquor in violation of this chapter. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10)  Penalty, see § 112.99 
 
§ 112.42  SALES ON CREDIT. 
   (A)   No person shall sell or furnish alcoholic liquor at retail to any person on credit, except for 
charges on a nationally recognized credit or bank charge card (such as American Express, Visa, or 
Master Charge); on a pass book; order on a store; in exchange for any goods, wares, or 
merchandise; or in payment for any services rendered.  If any person shall extend credit for such 
purpose, the debt thereby attempted to be created shall not be recoverable at law. 
   (B)   Nothing herein contained shall be construed to prevent any club from permitting checks or 
statements for alcoholic liquor to be signed by members or bona fide guests of members and 
charged to the account of such members or guests in accordance with the by-laws of the club. 
Further, nothing herein contained shall be construed to prevent any hotel from permitting checks 
or statements for liquor to be signed by guests residing at the hotel and charged to the accounts of 
those guests. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10)  Penalty, see § 112.99 
 
§ 112.43  SALES ON ELECTION DAY. 
   Alcoholic beverages may be sold at retail on the day of any national, state, county, or municipal 
election, including primary elections, during the hours the polls are open within the corporate 
boundaries of this village. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10) 
 
§ 112.44  SALES IN CERTAIN AREAS PROHIBITED. 
   (A)   No license shall be issued for the sale at retail of an alcoholic liquor within 100 feet of any 
church, school, hospital, home for aged or indigent persons, or for veterans, their spouses or 
children, or any military or naval station. However, this prohibition shall not apply to hotels 
offering restaurant service, regularly organized clubs, or to restaurants, food shops, or other places 
where the sale of alcoholic liquors is not the principal business carried on, if that place of business 

Page | 128AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



so exempted has been established for such purposes prior to the taking effect of ILCS Ch. 235, Act 
5 § 6-11, nor to the renewal of a license for the sale at retail of alcoholic liquor on premises within 
100 feet of any church where that church has been established within 100 feet since the issuance 
of the original license. In the case of a church, the distance of 100 feet shall be measured to the 
nearest part of any building used for worship services or educational programs (as determined in 
accordance with any applicable statutory provisions or judicial decisions) and not to property 
boundaries. 
   (B)   No license shall be issued to any person for the sale at retail of any alcoholic liquor at any 
store or other place of business where the majority of customers are minors of school age or where 
the principal business transacted consists of school books, school supplies, food, lunches, or drinks 
for such minors. 
   (C)   Nothing in this section shall prohibit the issuance of a license to a church of private school 
to sell at retail alcoholic liquor if any such sales are limited to periods when groups are assembled 
on the premises solely for the promotion of some common object other than the sale or 
consumption of alcoholic liquors. 
   (D)   Nothing in this section shall prohibit a church or church affiliated school from locating 
within 100 feet of a property for which there is a pre-existing license to sell alcoholic liquor at 
retail. In these instances, the Plan Commission may, by ordinance adopted simultaneously with 
the granting of an initial special use zoning permit for the church or church affiliated school, 
provide that the 100-foot restriction in this section shall not apply to that church or church affiliated 
school and future retail liquor licenses. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed 1-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10) 
 
§ 112.45  SALES, CONSUMPTION ON GOVERNMENT PROPERTY. 
   Unless specifically authorized by the laws of this state, the United States Government, this code, 
or the Local Liquor Control Commissioner, no alcoholic liquor shall be sold or consumed on or 
delivered to or on any building or property belonging to or under the control of the United States 
Government, the state, or any of its political subdivisions, including but not limited to buildings, 
lots or parcels of real estate, public streets, rights-of-way, and easements. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10)  Penalty, see § 112.99 
 
§ 112.46  CONDUCT ON PREMISES. 
   Every licensee and every officer, shareholder, associate, member, agent, representative, and 
employee of every licensee under this chapter shall be subject to the following regulations, and all 
persons shall likewise be subject to the applicable regulations set forth below (when the term 
“LICENSEE” is used in this section, it shall be deemed to include every officer, shareholder, 
associate, member, agent, representative, and employee of the licensee): 
   (A)   Every licensee shall conduct his or her place of business in a quiet, decent, and respectable 
manner and shall eject therefrom or refuse admittance thereto to all persons rendering themselves 
objectionable or undesirable by reason of undue noise or other acts disturbing the peace. 
   (B)   It shall be unlawful for any licensee to give or deliver any alcoholic liquor or intoxicating 
beverage to a person under the influence of intoxicating liquor. Soliciting of drinks or prostitution 
is prohibited. 

Page | 129AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



   (C)   Every licensee shall immediately report to the village police any act by a person or patron 
rendering himself or herself objectionable, causing undue noise or disturbance, breach of the 
peace, or unlawful conduct. 
   (D)   No person licensed under the provisions hereof shall engage in any loud or boisterous 
talking, obscene or profane language, quarreling, singing, fighting, or other disturbance of persons 
passing along any street or public way in the vicinity thereof or to the disturbance of the peace and 
quiet of persons doing business or residing in the neighborhood thereof. 
   (E)   All licensees dispensing or serving food or alcoholic liquor shall be decently 
clothed.  Topless or similar attire is prohibited. 
   (F)   It shall be unlawful for any persons, while acting as a waiter, waitress, bartender, 
entertainer, or in any other position to: 
      (l)   Expose his or her genitals, pubic hair, buttocks, natal cleft, perineum, anal region, or pubic 
hair region;  
      (2)   Expose any device, costume, or covering which gives the appearance of or simulates the 
genitals, pubic hair, buttocks, natal cleft, perineum, anal region, or pubic hair regions;  
      (3)   Expose any portion of the female breast at or below the areola thereof; or 
      (4)   To allow any customer or any other person to perform any of the above. 
   (G)   It shall be unlawful for any licensee to permit or allow any waiter, waitress, bartender, 
entertainer, or any other employee or any person to commit any of the unlawful acts in this 
section.  A person shall be deemed to be a waiter, waitress, bartender, or entertainer if such person 
acts in that capacity without regard to whether or not such person is paid any compensation by the 
management of the establishment in which the activity is performed. 
   (H)   It shall be unlawful for any licensee to permit or allow any act or form of entertainment 
which, when considered as a whole, would be considered obscene (i.e., has its predominant appeal 
to prurient interests) as such term is defined by state law. 
   (I)   It shall be unlawful for any licensee to permit or allow any of the following:  male or female 
striptease (regardless of whether they strip off all of their clothes), lingerie (either male or female) 
fashion shows, wet T-shirt contests, mud or jell-o wrestling or wrestling in any substance other 
than air, and any similar contest or performance. 
   (J)   It shall be unlawful to employ in any premises used for the retail sale of alcoholic liquor any 
person who is afflicted with, or who is a carrier of any contagious, infectious, or venereal disease. 
   (K)   It shall be unlawful for any licensee to suffer or permit any species of gambling in his or 
her premises or any part thereof or any places adjacent thereto under his or her control. 
   (L)   No licensee, nor any officer, shareholder, associate, member, representative, agent, or 
employee of a licensee, shall sell, offer to sell, or serve any drink of alcoholic liquor to any person 
on any one date at a reduced price other than that charged other purchasers of drinks on that day. 
   (M)   It shall be unlawful for any licensee, or any officer, shareholder, associate, member, 
representative, employee, or agent of any licensee, on licensed premises where alcoholic liquor is 
sold or offered for sale for consumption thereon, to engage in any of the following practices: 
      (1)   Offer or serve any free drink to any person. 
      (2)   Sell or offer to sell to any person or group of persons any drink or drinks at a price less 
than the price regularly charged for such drink or drinks during the same calendar week, except at 
private functions not open to the public. 

Page | 130AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



   (N)   The provisions of this section shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, the restrictions and 
prohibitions on the sale and promotion of alcoholic liquor contained in ILCS Ch. 235. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 90-0-025, passed 9-4-90; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 
5-25-10)  Penalty, see § 112.99 
 
§ 112.47  HAPPY HOURS. 
   (A)   All retail licensees shall maintain a schedule of the prices charged for all drinks of alcoholic 
liquor to be served and consumed on the licensed premises or in any room or part thereof. 
Whenever a hotel or multi-use establishment which holds a valid retailer’s license operates on its 
premises more than one establishment at which drinks of alcoholic liquor are sold at retail, the 
hotel or multi-use establishment shall maintain at each such establishment a separate schedule of 
the prices charged for such drinks at that establishment. 
   (B)   No retail licensee or employee or agent of such licensee shall: 
      (1)   Sell more than one drink of alcoholic liquor for the price of one drink of alcoholic liquor; 
      (2)   Sell, offer to sell or serve to any person an unlimited number of drinks of alcoholic liquor 
during any set period of time for a fixed price, except at private functions not open to the general 
public or as provided in § 6-28.5 of the Liquor Control Act of 1934 (ILCS Ch. 235, Act 5, § 6-
28.5) and this § 112.47 of the Tinley Park Municipal Code; 
      (3)   Increase the volume of alcoholic liquor contained in a drink, or the size of a drink of 
alcoholic liquor, without increasing proportionately the price regularly charged for the drink on 
that day; 
      (4)   Encourage or permit, on the licensed premises, any game or contest which involves 
drinking alcoholic liquor or the awarding of drinks of alcoholic liquor as prizes for such game or 
contest on the licensed premises; or 
      (5)   Advertise or promote in any way, whether on or off the licensed premises, any of the 
practices prohibited above under this division (B). 
   (C)   A retail licensee may: 
      (1)   Offer free food or entertainment at any time; 
      (2)   Include drinks of alcoholic liquor as part of a meal package; 
      (3)   Sell or offer for sale a party package only if the retail licensee: 
         (a)   Offers food in the dedicated event space; 
         (b)   Limits the party package to no more than three hours; 
         (c)   Distributes wristbands, lanyards, shirts, or any other such wearable items to identify 
party package attendees so the attendees may be granted access to the dedicated event space; and 
         (d)   Excludes individuals not participating in the party package from the dedicated event 
space; 
      (4)   Include drinks of alcoholic liquor as part of a hotel package; 
      (5)   Negotiate drinks of alcoholic liquor as part of a hotel package; 
      (6)   Provide room service to persons renting rooms at a hotel; 
      (7)   Sell pitchers (or the equivalent, including, but not limited to, buckets of bottled beer), 
carafes, or bottles of alcoholic liquor which are customarily sold in such manner, or sell bottles of 
spirits: 
      (8)   Advertise events permitted under this section; 

Page | 131AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



      (9)   Include drinks of alcoholic liquor as part of an entertainment package where the licensee 
is separately licensed by municipal ordinance that: 
         (a)   Restricts dates of operation to dates during which there is an event at an adjacent 
stadium; 
         (b)   Restricts hours of serving alcoholic liquor to two hours before the event and one hour 
after the event; 
         (c)   Restricts alcoholic liquor sales to beer and wine; 
         (d)   Requires tickets for admission to the establishment; and 
         (e)   Prohibits sale of admission tickets on the day of an event and permits the sale of 
admission tickets for single events only; and 
      (10)   Discount any drink of alcoholic liquor during a specified time period only if: 
         (a)   The price of the drink of alcoholic liquor is not changed during the time that it is 
discounted; 
         (b)   The period of time during which anv drink of alcoholic liquor is discounted does not 
exceed four hours per day and fifteen hours per week: however, this period of time is not required 
to be consecutive and mav be divided by the licensee in any manner; 
         (c)   The drink of alcoholic liquor is not discounted between the hours of 10:00 p.m. and the 
licensed premises’ closing hour; and 
         (d)   Notice of the discount of the drink of alcoholic liquor during a specified time is posted 
on the licensed premises or on the licensee’s publicly available website at least 7 days prior to the 
specified time. 
   (D)   A violation of this section shall be grounds for suspension or revocation of the licensee’s 
liquor license, in addition to any and all other penalties that may be applicable. 
(Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10; Am. Ord. 2015-O-034, passed 8-18-15)  Penalty, see § 112.99 
 
§ 112.48  SAFETY PROVISIONS. 
   (A)   A licensee may not permit the use of any pyrotechnic device or fireworks within its licensed 
premises unless the lead pyrotechnic operator and distributor possesses a valid state pyrotechnic 
license and also has received a permit from the village. A licensee, or any agent or employee of 
that licensee, may not use mace, pepper spray, or any other toxic air-released compound within its 
licensed premises. Violation of this division (A) by any licensee or any employee or agent of a 
licensee is due cause for revocation of the license. 
   (B)   No person may impede any person who is attempting to exit the premises of a licensee due 
to an emergency that constitutes a threat to the health or safety of persons within the licensed 
premises. For the purpose of this provision, the term “IMPEDE A PERSON WHO IS 
ATTEMPTING TO EXIT” includes physically restraining the person or blocking or locking an 
exit while the licensed premises is open to the public. Violation of this division (B) is due cause 
for revocation of the license. 
   (C)   A licensee where premises has an authorized capacity (i) of at least 250 persons, (ii) or 
otherwise set by the State Fire Marshal, or (iii) otherwise set by local ordinance, whichever is 
lowest, must place a panic bar on each exit of its licensed premises. A licensee whose premises 
has an authorized capacity of at least 500 persons that conducts live entertainment within its 
licensed premises must, before the commencement of the live entertainment, make an 

Page | 132AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



announcement to the patrons of the licensed premises that generally informs those patrons of the 
locations of exits and fire escapes at the licensed premises. 
   (D)   A licensee shall not permit occupancy of the licensed premises in excess of the maximum 
occupancy load requirements established from time to time by the village or the Local Liquor 
Control Commissioner, and indicated on the license. Each licensee must post and continuously 
maintain a sign located in a conspicuous place (approved by the village) on the licensed premises 
indicating such maximum occupancy load for the licensed premises. If such overcrowding were 
to occur the licensee, its agents and/or employees shall immediately remedy the same by requiring 
a significant number of individuals to leave the premises. If such reduction to at most the maximum 
occupancy load requirement is not immediately accomplished, the licensed premises shall be 
immediately closed and shall not re-open until the situation has been reviewed by the Local Liquor 
Control Commissioner. Such overcrowding is considered a serious offense and may result in 
revocation of the license. Such overcrowding event shall be documented in accordance with such 
policy or policies established from time to time by the village or the Local Liquor Control 
Commissioner. 
   (E)   No temporary signs shall be placed on doors, and the maximum coverage of window signs 
may not exceed 25% of the total window area. 
(Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10)  Penalty, see § 112.99 
 
§ 112.49  MISREPRESENTATION OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES. 
   It shall be unlawful for any person to sell, dispense, pour, or mix any alcoholic beverage which 
is represented to be of a certain quantity or kind, a given brand name, or of certain ingredients 
when it is in fact different from such representation. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10)  Penalty, see § 112.99 
 
HEALTH AND SANITATION 
 
§ 112.60  SANITATION REQUIREMENTS. 
   (A)   All premises used for the retail sale of alcoholic liquor or for the storage of such liquor for 
sale shall be kept in full compliance with the village ordinances regulating the condition of 
premises used for the storage or sale of food for human consumption, and shall be in a clean and 
proper sanitary condition.  All persons employed or working in any such premises shall keep clean 
and be cleanly clothed. 
   (B)   All utensils, appliances, vessels, receptacles, refrigerators, closets, rooms, or other places 
or things whatsoever which are used for the purpose of selling or offering for sale such liquors or 
for storing or dispensing the same, must at all times be kept in a clean, wholesome, and sanitary 
condition. 
   (C)   A retail licensee that is preparing an infusion for consumption on the premises shall comply 
with the following requirements: 
      (1)   The infusion shall be mixed and stored on the premises of the licensee; 
      (2)   The container that the infusion is stored in must have a lid and be in sanitary condition; 
      (3)   The infusion shall not be aged for more than fourteen days; 
      (4)   The infusion must be used or destroyed within twenty-one days after the end of the aging 
process; 

Page | 133AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



      (5)   Cleaning records for the container that the infusion is stored in must be available for 
inspection by agents of the State Commission; and 
      (6)   The container that the infusion is stored in must have a label affixed to the container that 
provides the production date of the infusion, the base spirit of the infusion, the date the infusion 
will finish the aging process, and the date by which the infusion must be destroyed. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed 1-22-85; Am. Or. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10; Am. Ord. 2015-O-034 
passed 8-18-15)  Penalty, see § 112.99 
 
§ 112.61  INSPECTIONS. 
   (A)   It shall be the duty of the Local Liquor Control Commissioner or his or her authorized 
agent, and he or she is hereby authorized and empowered from time to time to inspect and examine 
the premises wherein retail liquor business is carried on, for the purpose of ascertaining whether 
or not all health ordinances of the village relative to the carrying on of such business are being 
complied with at such premises. 
   (B)   It shall be the duty of every such person, group of persons, partnership, firm,  or corporation 
licensed under the provisions of this chapter to permit such inspections to be made and to exhibit 
the premises to those authorized persons making such inspections. A record of all such inspections 
shall be kept on file in the office of the Local Liquor Control Commissioner.  Failure to permit 
such inspections shall be sufficient cause to revoke or suspend a license for the premises. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10)  Penalty, see § 112.99 
 
§ 112.62  EMPLOYEES. 
   (A)   Every person in charge of licensed premises shall keep himself or herself and his or her 
employees in a clean condition and cleanly clothed.  No person who has tuberculosis or any 
venereal or communicable skin disease or who has an infectious or contagious disease shall engage 
in or be employed in and about such business or such premises, or engaged in any way in the 
handling, preparation, or distribution of alcoholic liquor. 
   (B)   Every person in charge of such premises and his or her employees shall obtain and keep in 
effect all necessary health certificates as may be required by the State Department of Public Health 
and/or any other government agencies, including any certificates required because the liquor 
establishment serves food as well as alcoholic liquor. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10)  Penalty, see § 112.99 
 
ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
 
§ 112.75  LOCAL LIQUOR CONTROL COMMISSIONER. 
   (A)   The President of the village shall be the Local Liquor Control Commissioner of the village 
and shall be charged with the administration of this chapter.  He or she may designate one or more 
persons to assist him or her in the exercise of such duties as he or she may deem necessary.  The 
compensation of the Local Liquor Control Commissioner shall be fixed by ordinance adopted by 
the Board of Trustees. 
   (B)   The Local Liquor Control Commissioner shall have the following powers, functions, and 
duties: 

Page | 134AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



      (l)   Grant, suspend for not more than 30 days, or revoke for cause, in accordance with the 
provisions of this chapter, all local licenses or permits issued to persons or corporations for 
premises within his or her jurisdiction. 
      (2)   Enter or authorize any law enforcement officer or peace officer to enter at any time upon 
any premises licensed  hereunderlicensed hereunder, to determine whether any of the provisions 
of this chapter or any rules or regulations adopted by him or her, the village, or by any other agency 
having the authority to do so have been or are being violated, and at the time of such entry to 
examine such premises in connection therewith. 
      (3)   Receive complaints from any citizen that any of the provisions of this chapter, any rules 
or regulations adopted pursuant thereto, or any other applicable rules or regulations, have been or 
are being violated and to act upon such complaints in the manner hereinafter provided. 
      (4)   Deny any application for the issuance or renewal of a license to an applicant he or she has 
determined to be ineligible therefor. 
      (5)   Examine, or cause to be examined under oath, any applicant for a local license or for a 
renewal thereof, or any licensee upon whom notice of revocation, suspension, or non-renewal has 
been served in the manner hereinafter provided; examine, or cause to be examined, any applicant 
or licensee, and the books and records of any applicant or licensee; hear testimony and take proof 
for his or her information in the performance of his or her duties; and for such purpose to issue 
subpoenas which shall be effective in any part of this state.  For the purpose of obtaining any of 
the information desired by the Local Liquor Control Commissioner under this section, he or she 
may authorize his or her agent to act on his or her behalf. 
      (6)   Receive local license fees and pay the same forthwith to the Village Clerk or Treasurer as 
the case may be. 
      (7)   Appeal to the Circuit Court or any other court of competent jurisdiction any decision of 
the State Liquor Control Commission which reverses or modifies any order issued or penalty 
imposed by the Local Liquor Control Commissioner. 
      (8)   Revoke or suspend extended hours of operation otherwise allowed under this chapter. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 90-0-069, passed 9-25-90; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, 
passed 5-25-10) 
 
§ 112.76  SUSPENSION, NON-RENEWAL OR REVOCATION OF LICENSE, DENIAL OF 
APPLICATION; NOTICE AND HEARING. 
   (A)   The Local Liquor Control Commissioner may suspend or revoke any license issued 
pursuant to the provisions of this chapter if he or she determines that the licensee has violated any 
of the provisions of the State Liquor Control Act, the provisions of this chapter, any applicable 
rules or regulations established by the State Liquor Control Commission, any applicable rules or 
regulations established by the Local Liquor Control Commissioner, or for any other grounds 
established in the State Liquor Control Act. 
   (B)   No license shall be revoked, suspended, or non-renewed except after a public hearing by 
the Local Liquor Control Commissioner with written notice sent to the licensee at least three days 
prior to the hearing affording the licensee an opportunity to appear and defend.  However, if the 
Local Liquor Control Commissioner has reason to believe that any continued operation of a 
particular licensed premises will immediately threaten the welfare of the community, he or she 
may, upon the issuance of a written order stating the reason for such conclusion, and without notice 
or hearing, order the licensed premises closed for not more than seven days, giving the licensee an 

Page | 135AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



opportunity to be heard during that period.  If such licensee is also engaged in the conduct of 
another business or businesses on the licensed premises, such order shall not be applicable to such 
other business or businesses. 
      (l)   The notice provided hereunder shall include the time, date, and place of the hearing and a 
general description of the alleged cause for the possible revocation or suspension or the reason for 
the non-renewal.  At any hearing hereunder, the licensee shall be entitled to all the protections and 
rights allowed by law. 
      (2)   Such different or additional procedures as may be allowed by law may be established from 
time to time by the Local Liquor Control Commissioner and approved by the President and Board 
of Trustees of the village. 
   (C)   The Local Liquor Control Commissioner shall, within 28 days after the hearing, if he or 
she determines after the hearing that the license should be revoked, suspended, or non- renewed, 
state the reason or reasons for such determination in a written order of revocation, suspension, or 
non-renewal, and shall serve a copy of the order within 28 days upon the licensee. 
   (D)   The licensee, after the receipt of the order of suspension or revocation shall have the 
privilege, within a period of 20 days after the receipt of the order of suspension or revocation, of 
appealing the order to the State Liquor Control Commission.  If, and only if, such right exists under 
state law, the licensee shall have the similar right to appeal any decision of non-renewal within 
this 20-day period to the State Liquor Control Commission. 
   (E)   In the event an appeal is taken from an order of the Local Liquor Control Commissioner, 
the appeal shall be limited to a review of the official record of the proceedings of the Local Liquor 
Control Commissioner as provided by resolution heretofore enacted by the Village Board of 
Trustees and as hereby confirmed. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 2003-O-059, passed 7-1-03; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, 
passed 5-25-10) 
 
§ 112.77  TESTIMONY TO BE GIVEN AT VILLAGE HEARINGS. 
   (A)   As a condition attached to issuance of, or renewal of a liquor license hereunder, it shall be 
the duty of each licensee to require all officers, agents, and employees of the licensee to testify 
(subject to any constitutional restrictions) at any hearing that may be conducted by the village or 
any of its committees, commissions, boards, or agencies, or the Local Liquor Control 
Commissioner, regardless of whether they would otherwise be subject to subpoena power, when 
such hearings may relate directly or indirectly to any events or occurrences of which they may 
have knowledge arising out of their position as officer, agent, or employee of the licensee. 
   (B)   It shall further be the duty of licensee to inform all such officers, agents, and employees of 
their duty to testify hereunder, and the licensee shall make the same a condition of employment 
for all licensee’s employees. 
   (C)   If any such officer, agent, or employee fails or refuses to testify to the full extent of his or 
her knowledge at any such hearing when requested to do so by the village, such failure shall be 
deemed to constitute a violation of this section by the licensee, unless the failure or refusal is based 
upon a constitutional right not to so testify. 
   (D)   The violation of the provisions of this section shall constitute due cause for the suspension 
and/or revocation of the license of the licensee, and/or sufficient grounds for non- renewal of any 
such license.  Any such suspension, non-renewal, or revocation shall be effective only after 
compliance with the procedures and provisions set forth in § 112.76 hereof, or otherwise in 

Page | 136AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



conformity with law.  The suspension, revocation, or non-renewal of a license shall be an 
additional remedy and shall not prevent or exclude a prosecutorial action for a fine under § 112.99. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10) 
 
§ 112.78  APPEALS. 
   (A)   In the exercise of the home rule powers of the village and pursuant to the provisions of 
ILCS Ch. 235, Act 5 § 7-9, any appeal from an order of the Local Liquor Control Commissioner 
shall be limited to a review of the official record of the proceedings of the Local Liquor Control 
Commissioner, and it is hereby resolved that such review shall be solely on the record. 
   (B)   A certified official record of any proceeding before the Local Liquor Control 
Commissioner  shallCommissioner shall  be taken  and prepared by a certified court reporter or 
certified shorthand reporter and shall be filed by the Local Liquor Control Commissioner with 
the  State Liquor Commission within five days after notice is received by the Local Liquor Control 
Commissioner of the filing of an appeal from an order of the Local Liquor Control Commissioner. 
   (C)   The Liquor Control Commissioner shall have the power and right to appeal to the Circuit 
Court or any other court of competent jurisdiction any decision of the State Liquor Control 
Commission which reverses or modifies any order issued or penalty imposed by the Local Liquor 
Control Commissioner. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 90-0-069, passed 9-25-90; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, 
passed 5-25-10) 
 
§ 112.99  PENALTY. 
   Any person, group of persons, partnership, firm, or corporation violating any provision of this 
chapter shall be fined not less than $25 nor more than $500 for each offense; and a separate offense 
shall be deemed committed on each day during or on which the violation occurs or continues.  In 
addition, the Local Liquor Control Commissioner shall have the power to revoke, non-renew, or 
suspend licenses granted under this chapter pursuant to its provisions. 
(Ord. 85-0-001, passed l-22-85; Am. Ord. 2010-O-024, passed 5-25-10) 

Page | 137AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

Date:   November 16, 2021  
 
To:   Village Board of Trustees  
                                       
From:   Hannah Lipman, Assistant Village Manager  
 
Subject:  Video Gaming Request (Class UV-2) – Lenny’s Gas N Wash (7451 183rd 

St) 
 
Background:  
Lennys Gas N Wash has approached the Mayor’s Office seeking 24/7 gaming at their 183rd St. 
location. While the State of Illinois permits truck stops to operate video gaming 24/7, Tinley Park’s 
current local ordinances do not. However, in the ongoing liquor code updates, an additional 
license class (UV-2) was created which would permit video gaming 24/7 to any establishment 
awarded said license should the Board wish to consider this request.  
 
Of all of their operating locations, Lenny’s is permitted to operate video gaming 24/7 except for 
Tinley Park. They have had practically no issues, and in fact feel that it is safer for employees and 
customers to have people around at all hours of the day.  
 
Request: Award a Class UV-2 Video Gaming license to Lenny’s Gas N Wash 97451 183rd St)   

Page | 138AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 

 
 

ORDINANCE 
NO. 2021-O-087 

 

 
 

AN ORDINANCE AWARDING A CLASS “UV-2” LIQUOR LICENSE TO 
LENNY’S GAS N WASH – 7451 183RD STREET 

 

 
 

MICHAEL GLOTZ, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

 
WILLIAM P. BRADY 

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 
DIANE M. GALANTE 

DENNIS P. MAHONEY 
MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
COLLEEN M. SULLIVAN 

Board of Trustees 
 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 
Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606 
  

   

Page | 139AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2021-O-087 

 
AN ORDINANCE AWARDING A CLASS “UV-2” LIQUOR LICENSE TO 

LENNY’S GAS N WASH – 7451 183RD STREET 
 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Title XI, Chapter 112, Section 22 of the Village Code, liquor 
licenses may be authorized by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 
and the number of liquor licenses authorized to be issued for each class shall be kept on record in 
the office of the Village Clerk; and  

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the said Village of Tinley Park 
and its residents to amend Title XI, Chapter 112, Section 22 of the Village Code to establish the 
number of Class “UV-2” licenses in the Village at one (1); and  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 

TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS: 

 
SECTION 1:  The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as finding of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein. 
 
SECTION 2:  Pursuant to Title XI, Chapter 112, Section 22 of the Village of Tinley Park Village 
Code, the number of Class “UV-2” licenses that can be issued by the Village shall be one (1). This 
Ordinance reflects the availability of one Class “UV-2” liquor license to be awarded to Lenny’s 
Gas N Wash – 8451 183rd Street.  
 
SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.  
 
 
SECTION 4: That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and 
approval.  

Page | 140AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
PASSED THIS 7th day of December, 2021. 
 
AYE S:              

NAYS:              

ABSENT :              

APPROVED THIS 7th day of December, 2021. 
 

 

       ____________________________________ 
                      VILLAGE PRESIDENT 
ATTEST: 

 

__________________________________ 
                VILLAGE CLERK  

Page | 141AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) SS 
COUNTY OF WILL  ) 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 
 I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Ordinance No. 2021-O-087, “AN ORDINANCE AWARDING A CLASS “UV-2” 

LIQUOR LICENSE TO LENNY’S GAS N WASH – 7451 183RD STREET” which was adopted 

by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on December 7, 2021.  

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of  

the Village of Tinley Park this 7th day of December, 2021.  

 

       ____________________________________ 
       KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page | 142AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Date: December 07, 2020

To: Village Board

From: Jason Zorena, CCEO
Code Compliance Officer

Subject:  7231 171st Street-First Merchants Bank – ATM Sign in Parkway 

Discussion: This case (CE-2021-11-00657) was generated due to the new 7-Eleven building being 
constructed. It was found that as they were completing the sidewalks, the above property had an ATM 
sign in the parkway, preventing 7-Eleven from connecting the sidewalk to the current curb cut to the 
West. The sign was constructed in the Cook County R.O.W. without a permit and the Village does not 
record of a sign permit in our files. A notice was issued to First Merchants Bank to a mailing address in 
Indiana to have them remove the sign. Upon re-inspection, it was found the sign had not been removed. 
According to the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance, the Village Board may declare the sign a nuisance and 
order it to be removed.

Section 9-C.7 (Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance) Removal of Signs
The Village reserves the right to require removal of signs, at the owner’s expense, in the following 
circumstances:

d. When any sign is deemed unsafe, insecure, or a danger to the public, or has been constructed,
erected, or maintained in violation of the provisions of this Section, the Zoning Administrator or
their designee shall give written notice to the permittee thereof. If the permittee fails to remove or
alter the structure so as to comply with the standards herein set forth within ten (10) days after
such notice, then the President and Board of Trustees, on the recommendation of the Zoning
Administrator or their designee, may declare such sign to be a public nuisance and direct the
removal of such sign as required by law.

Recommendation:  Direct staff to send notice ordering the removal of the sign.

Interoffice

Memo

Page | 143AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 

 
 

RESOLUTION 
NO. 2021-R-102 

 

 
 

A RESOLUTION DECLARING A NUISANCE PURSUANT TO SECTION 9-C-7 OF 
THE TINLEY PARK ZONING ORDINANCE AT  

(7231 171st Street - First Merchants Bank) 
 

 
 

MICHAEL W. GLOTZ, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

 
WILLIAM P. BRADY 

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 
DIANE M. GALANTE 

DENNIS P. MAHONEY 
MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
COLLEN M. SULLIVAN 

Board of Trustees 
 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 
Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606 
  

   



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2021-R-102 

 
A RESOLUTION DECLARING A NUISANCE PURSUANT TO SECTION IX-C-7 OF 

THE TINLEY PARK ZONING ORDINANCE AT  
(7231 171st Street - First Merchants Bank) 

 
WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 

provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section IX of the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance codifies certain regulations 
related to signs; and  

 
WHEREAS, Village staff have determined that an ATM sign was constructed in the Cook 

County right-of-way at 7231 171st Street; and and that said sign was constructed without a permit; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, said sign was constructed without a permit, and in violation of Section IX-

D-2 of the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance, which prohibits the construction of freestanding signs 
in the public right-of-way; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section IX-C-7 of the Tinley Park Zoning Code, the Zoning 

Administrator provided written notice of the violations to property owner, First Merchants Bank, 
on November 4, 2021, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A; and 

 
WHEREAS, First Merchants Bank has refused to remove the structure or otherwise 

comply with the Tinley Park Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 

Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of said Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to declare the sign a public nuisance and direct the removal of such sign as required 
by law; and  

   
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 

TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS: 

 
SECTION 1:  The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein. 



 
SECTION 2: That this President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park hereby find 
that it is in the best interest of the Village and its residents to declare the freestanding sign located 
in the public right-of-way at 7231 171st Street a public nuisance, and direct the Village 
Administrator and Village Attorney to take all necessary steps to secure its removal as required by 
law.  
 
SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Resolution shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 
 
SECTION 4: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Resolution in 
pamphlet form, and this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law. 
 
PASSED THIS 7th day of December, 2021. 
 
AYES:              

NAYS:              

ABSENT:              

APPROVED THIS 7th day of December, 2021. 

 

       ____________________________________ 
                      VILLAGE PRESIDENT 
ATTEST: 

 

 

__________________________________ 
                VILLAGE CLERK  



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) SS 
COUNTY OF WILL  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 
 I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Resolution No. 2021-R-102, “A RESOLUTION DECLARING A NUISANCE 

PURSUANT TO SECTION IX-C-7 OF THE TINLEY PARK ZONING ORDINANCE AT (7231 

171st Street - First Merchants Bank),” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees 

of the Village of Tinley Park on the 7th day of December, 2021.  

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of  

the Village of Tinley Park this 7th day of December, 2021. 

 

 

       ____________________________________ 
       KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 
 

   



 
EXHIBIT A 

 

 

Initial Notice 
Village of Tinley Park, 16250 S Oak Park Ave, Tinley Park, IL 60477, (708) 

444‐5000, Community Development (708) 444‐5100 

Complaint # CE-2021-11-00657 
November 4, 2021 

 
FIRST MERCHANTS BANK 200 E 
JACKSON ST MUNCIE IN 47305 

Complaint: Zoning, Signs Location: 7231 171ST ST, TINLEY PARK IL 60477 
Date of Occurrence: 11/4/2021 Abate Violation By: 11/18/2021 
 

To whom it may concern: 
 

The Village of Tinley Park has received a complaint in reference to the ATM sign that was installed in a public right- of-way. 
The complaint was investigated and found it to be valid in violation of the following codes or ordinances: 
Zoning Ordinance Sections 1 - 10 
D. 2. Freestanding Signs: c. Location: Freestanding signs shall be only constructed within the premises of the development 
that the sign identifies and shall not be constructed in the public right-of-way. Additionally, freestanding signs shall not be 
located within easements. Freestanding signs must be set back a minimum of ten feet (10’) from all property lines. 
Freestanding signs shall not obstruct clear sight triangles near intersections. 

 
Zoning Ordinance Sections 1 - 10 
C. GENERAL PROVISIONS 7. Removal of Signs: The Village reserves the right to require removal of signs, at the owner’s 
expense, in the following circumstances: 

 
Zoning Ordinance Sections 1 - 10 
C. GENERAL PROVISIONS d. When any sign is deemed unsafe, insecure, or a danger to the public, or has been constructed, 
erected, or maintained in violation of the provisions of this Section, the Zoning Administrator or their designee shall give written 
notice to the permittee thereof. If the permittee fails to remove or alter the structure so as to comply with the standards herein 
set forth within ten (10) days after such notice, then the President and Board of Trustees, on the recommendation of the Zoning 
Administrator or their designee, may declare such sign to be a public nuisance and direct the removal of such sign as required 
by law." 

Therefore, abate all and any violations by the designated date. The ATM sign must be removed. A sidewalk needs to be installed 
in the right-of-way and this can not occur until you remove the sign. Signs are not allowed to be installed in a public right-of-way. 
All work is to be completed in a workmanlike manner. Permits may be required. Please 
contact the Building Department at (708) 444-5100 to confirm. 

 
Disregarding any section of this notice can result in a citation being issued with a fine of $750.00 for each violation that 
continues after notice has been served, and each day shall be deemed a separate offense. Failure to pay any fine, or 

reimburse the Village for any action taken, shall be charged against the real estate upon which the structure is located and 
shall be a lien upon such real estate. 

 
If you have any questions please contact Code Compliance Officer at 708 444-5100. Sincerely, 

Jason Zorena 

Code Compliance Officer 



                                             
Finance Department Memorandum 
To: Village Board 
From: Hannah Lipman Interim Treasurer/Finance Director and  

Brad Bettenhausen, Financial & Administrative Consultant 
 
Date: 23 November 2021 
Re: 2021 Tax Levy 
 
The Village’s Fiscal Policies Manual memorialized the Village’s policy relative to the 
determination of the amount of the annual property tax levy.  The established formula is as 
follows: 

Current year levy = Prior year extended levy + increase in levy for inflation + increase in 
levy for new property growth.  The basis for the prior year extended levy has 
historically and consistently been the “Total Levy” as reflected on the final Cook County 
Agency Rate Reports for the applicable prior tax levy year for better than half a century. 

 
Following the requirements of the Truth in Taxation Act (TITA), at the Committee of the Whole 
meeting held on October 19, 2021, the Board met to make the required “determination of the 
levy” in compliance with the TITA.  Treasurer/Finance Director Brown had proposed an 
increase of between 3.7% and 4.6%.  While I do not believe the proposed levy recommendation 
was unreasonable or unjustifiable, the Village Board provided direction to limit the increase to 
1%.  The Library Board met on October 27, 2021 to make its levy determination, and directed to 
limit their increase to one-half of one percent (0.5%). 
 
Normally, the levy ordinance and related tax abatements are handled at the December Board 
meetings.  The draft levy Ordinance 2021-O-080 that was prematurely pushed forward for first 
reading at the November 2, 2021 Board meeting reflected an incorrect total levy amount.  The 
levy amount had been calculated from the prior year’s Village and Library levy requests instead 
of the respective Extended Levy amounts, and did not correctly reflect the Library’s levy 
guidance using the lower percentage increase.  The difference in calculations from the 
established formula methodology was nearly $870,000 lower in total than intended, and this 
amount would be lost not only in the current year, but every tax year thereafter. 
 
Ordinance 2021-O-080 has been corrected to properly calculate the amounts of the respective 
Village and Library levy requests following the Village’s established formula as documented in 
the Fiscal Policy Manual.  The related abatement ordinances have also been reviewed, and 
revised as necessary to correct “scrivener errors.” 
 
I am also attaching updated comparison of the differences between Cook and Will County tax 
processes, and an overview of 2020 tax year.  Should you have any questions, please do not 
hesitate to contact. 
  

Page | 144AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Summary and Comparison of Cook and Will County Property Tax Assessment Systems 

  Cook County Will County 

Assessment Process   

Residential Assessment rate 10% 33.33% 

Commercial Assessment rate 25% 33.33% 

Equalization Factor 3.2234 (2020) 1.0000 

Effective Residential Assessment rate - equalized  32.22% (2020) 33.33% 

Effective Commercial Assessment rate – equalized 80.59% (2020) 33.33% 

Homeowner Exemption $10,000 beginning 2017 $6,000 

Senior Exemption $8,000 beginning 2017 $5,000 

 ket Value primarily determined by County Assessor Township Assessor 

Township Assessor role in valuing property Nominal Significant 

How Assessor Market Value is primarily 
determined 

(Traditionally, some 
derivative of original sale 

value periodically adjusted 
by inflation/real estate 

market changes) 

Sales Value 

Frequency of Adjustment of Assessor Market Value Every 3 years for market 
adjustments; unless major 

change to property (addition, 
demolition) or appeal 
Last Reassessments 

2017/2020 

Annually - by actual sale 
or inflation/market 

adjustments 

Comprehensive 
reassessment reviews 

every 4 years (last 2019) 

Assessor Market compared to True Market Value Intended to be Comparable Reasonably Comparable 

Levy, Extension, Tax Rates   

Loss and cost adjustments to levy Automatic (Must opt out) Must request 

Loss and cost adjustment rates 3% added automatically; 
5% for debt service levies 

Local government must 
request and specify the 

loss and cost rates 

Determination of tax rate Total Extended Levy to Total 
EAV 

Will Co Share of Levy to 
Will Co EAV 

Proration of levy across county lines Actual proportion of EAV Actual Will EAV to 
Total EAV using 

Estimated Cook EAV 

Adjustment for using Estimated Cook Co EAV Not Applicable +/- adjustment in 
following tax year 

 

Page | 145AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



2020 
Prior Tax Year EAV Details at a Glance 

 

  
EAV 

Percent 
Total 

 
Dollar Change 

Percent 
Change 

Cook $1,274,432,956 77.7% 115,973,938 10.0% 

Will 366,351,270 22.3% 10,010,046 2.8% 

Total $1,640,784,226 100.0% 125,983,984 8.3% 
 

Cook County Equalization Factor: 3.2234  Percent change 10.5% (3rd highest)  
 

 
Exemptions 

 
Cook 

Percent 
Change 

 
Will 

Percent 
Change 

 
Total 

Percent 
Change 

Homeowner 153,117,995 -1.0% 14,544,035 1.3% 167,662,030 -0.8% 

Senior 43,714,354 1.8% 3,132,985 6.7% 46,847,339 2.1% 

Senior Freeze 34,295,473 30.9% 1,390,250 36.0% 36,315,723 31.1% 

All Other 13,186,901 22.5% 2,222,611 26.7% 15,409,512 4.6% 

Total 244,944,723 4.2% 21,289,881 6.1% 266,234,604 3.5% 
 

 Cook Will Total 

PTELL New EAV - 
County determined  3,223,145 1,568,487 4,791,632 

Percent Change 300.0% -44.6% 31.8% 

 

Page | 146AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 

 
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 
 

 
ORDINANCE 

NO. 2021-O-080 
 

 
 

AN ORDINANCE LEVYING TAXES FOR CORPORATE PURPOSES FOR THE 
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 2021 TAX LEVY YEAR 

 
 

  MICHAEL W. GLOTZ, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

 
WILLIAM P. BRADY 

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 
DIANE M. GALANTE 

DENNIS P. MAHONEY 
MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
COLLEEN M. SULLIVAN 

Board of Trustees 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 
Peterson, Johnson, and Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL  60606 
 

Page | 147AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois 

 

 
ORDINANCE NUMBER 2021-O-080 

AN ORDINANCE LEVYING TAXES FOR CORPORATE PURPOSES FOR THE 
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 2021 TAX LEVY YEAR 

 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 

provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 

and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 

25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of 

Article VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and 

affairs, including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park is authorized under the Illinois Property Tax 

Code to levy a tax against the equalized assessed value of all taxable properties within the 

corporate limits of the municipality to support its operations. 

NOW THEREFORE Be It Resolved by the President and Board of Trustees of the 

Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, that: 

               Section 1:            A tax in the aggregate amount of $29,264,099 for the following sums 

of money as detailed in APPENDIX A, or as much thereof as may be authorized by law, to 

defray all expenses and liabilities of the Village, be and the same is hereby levied for the 2021 

tax levy year for the purposes specified against all taxable property in the Village of Tinley Park. 

              Section 2:            The taxes levied hereunder are levied pursuant to the home rule 

powers of the Village of Tinley Park. 

              Section 3:            The Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park is hereby directed to 

file with the Clerk of Cook County and the Clerk of Will County duly certified copies of this 

Ordinance within the time prescribed by law. 

Page | 148AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 

              Section 4:           The Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this 

Ordinance in pamphlet form and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its 

passage, approval, and publication as required by law. 

ADOPTED this 7th day of December, 2021, by the Corporate Authorities of the Village 

of Tinley Park on a roll call vote as follows: 

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

 
APPROVED this 7th day of December, 2021, by the President and Board of Trustees of the 
Village of Tinley Park. 
 
             
       ________________________________ 
        Village President  
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 
                 Village Clerk 
  

Page | 149AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 

 
 

STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
    ) SS.  
COUNTY OF COOK  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 

 I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties 

of Cook and Will, and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and 

correct copy of Ordinance No. 2021-O-080 “AN ORDINANCE LEVYING TAXES FOR 

CORPORATE PURPOSES FOR THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 2021 TAX LEVY 

YEAR,” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 

on  December 7, 2021. 

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 7th day of December, 2021. 

 

 

 
      __________________________________________ 
        VIL L AGE  CL E RK  
  

Page | 150AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE 
WITH THE TRUTH IN TAXATION IN ACCORDANCE 

WITH CHAPTER 35 SECTIONS 200/18-55 THROUGH 200/18-101.65 
ILLINOIS COMPILED STATUTES 

 

I, Michael W. Glotz, Village President, hereby certify to the Cook and Will County Clerk that the 
Village of Tinley Park has complied with all provisions of Truth in Taxation, as amended, with 
respect to the adoption of the tax levy for year 2021. 

(CHECK ONE BOX) 

The District levied an amount of ad valorem tax that is less than or equal to 105% 
of the final aggregate extension plus any amount abated prior to extension for the 
preceding year, therefore the publication and hearing provisions of Truth in 
Taxation are inapplicable. 

                                                OR 

The District levied an amount of ad valorem tax that is greater than 105% of the 
final aggregate extension plus any amount abated prior to extension for the 
preceding year, therefore the publication and hearing provisions of Truth Said 
public hearing was held on ____________________(Date).  

       

____________________________ 
Village President  

 
 

___       _December 7, 2021______ 
Date 

 
  

 

 

Page | 151AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE 
WITH THE TRUTH IN TAXATION IN ACCORDANCE 

WITH CHAPTER 35 SECTIONS 200/18-55 THROUGH 200/18-101.65 
ILLINOIS COMPILED STATUTES 

 

I, Michael W. Glotz, Village President, hereby certify to the Cook and Will County Clerk that the 
Village of Tinley Park has complied with all provisions of Truth in Taxation, as amended, with 
respect to the adoption of the tax levy for year 2021. 

(CHECK ONE BOX) 

The District levied an amount of ad valorem tax that is less than or equal to 105% 
of the final aggregate extension plus any amount abated prior to extension for the 
preceding year, therefore the publication and hearing provisions of Truth in 
Taxation are inapplicable. 

                                                OR 

The District levied an amount of ad valorem tax that is greater than 105% of the 
final aggregate extension plus any amount abated prior to extension for the 
preceding year, therefore the publication and hearing provisions of Truth Said 
public hearing was held on ____________________(Date).  

       

____________________________ 
Village President  

 
 

___  ___December 7, 2021_______ 
Date 

 
 

 

 

Page | 152AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



APPENDIX "A"

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
COOK & WILL COUNTIES ILLINOIS

a Home Rule Unit

TAX LEVY 2021

Village of Tinley Park (Agency 03-1270-000)

TOTAL GENERAL CORPORATE PURPOSE
65 ILCS 5/8-3-1

Salaries 8,760,255

PUBLIC LIABILITY INSURANCE
745 ILCS 10/9-107

Corporate Liability 850,000

AUDIT EXPENSE
65 ILCS 5/8-8-8 10,000

POLICE PROTECTION TAX
65 ILCS 5/11-1-3, 5/11-1-5.1

Salaries 3,500,000

FIRE PROTECTION TAX
65 ILCS 5/11-7-1, 5/11-7-3

Salaries 2,750,000

EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT (ESDA/EMA)
65 ILCS 5/8-3-16

Salaries 75,000
Ambulance service 450,000

525,000

SOCIAL SECURITY
40 ILCS 5/21-110, 5/21-110.1 900,000

ILLINOIS MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT FUND
40 ILCS 5/7-171 1,400,000

POLICE PENSION
40 ILCS 5/3-125 3,993,868

BONDS and INTEREST net of ABATEMENT
65 ILCS 5/8-1-3, 5/8-5-16, 5/8-1-4

2013 GO Bonds 350,000

TOTAL - VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 23,039,123

Page | 153AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



APPENDIX "A"

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
COOK & WILL COUNTIES ILLINOIS

a Home Rule Unit

TAX LEVY 2021

Village of Tinley Park Public Library Fund (Agency 03-1270-001)

FREE PUBLIC LIBRARY
75 ILCS 5/3-1, 5/3-4, 5/3-7 4,873,576

BUILDING & SITES - LIBRARY
75 ILCS 5/3-1, 5/3-4 300,000

AUDIT EXPENSE
65 ILCS 5/8-8-8 20,000

SOCIAL SECURITY - LIBRARY
40 ILCS 5/21-110, 5/21-110.1 170,000

ILLINOIS MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT FUND
40 ILCS 5/7-171 275,000

PUBLIC LIABILITY INSURANCE
745 ILCS 10/9-107 50,000

BOND AND INTEREST net of ABATEMENT
75 ILCS 5/5-2, 5/5-7

2011 GO Library Refunding 536,400

TOTAL - TINLEY PARK PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND 6,224,976

TOTALS RECAP
03-1270-000 VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 23,039,123
03-1270-001 TINLEY PARK PUBLIC LIBRARY FD 6,224,976

TOTAL - VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AGENCIES 29,264,099

Page | 154AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 
 

 
ORDINANCE 

NO. 2021-O-081 
 
 
AN ORDINANCE ABATING A PORTION OF THE 2021 TAX LEVY REQUIREMENTS 

AS PROVIDED FOR IN THE BOND ORDER DATED AUGUST 16, 2011 IN 
CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF $5,940,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION 

REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2011 OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK 
AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS. 

 
 

MICHAEL W. GLOTZ, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

 
WILLIAM P. BRADY 

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 
DIANE M. GALANTE 

DENNIS P. MAHONEY 
MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
COLLEEN M. SULLIVAN 

Board of Trustees 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 
Peterson, Johnson, and Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL  60606 
 

Page | 155AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois 

 

 
ORDINANCE NUMBER 2019-O-081 

AN ORDINANCE ABATING A PORTION OF THE 2021 TAX LEVY REQUIREMENTS 
AS PROVIDED FOR IN THE BOND ORDER DATED AUGUST 16, 2011 IN 

CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF $5,940,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION 
REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2011 OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK 

AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS. 
 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 

provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 

and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 

25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 

VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 

including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 

 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park have 

heretofore authorized and adopted an ordinance, being Ordinance Number 2003-O-056, entitled 

"An Ordinance Providing for the Issue of $9,700,000 General Obligation Library Bonds, Series 

2003, of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, and for the Levy and 

Collection of a Direct Annual Tax for the payment of the Principal and Interest on Said Bonds 

as, adopted June 24, 2003, providing for the borrowing of money and have issued bonds of the 

Village of Tinley Park in the amount of $9,700,000; and 

 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park have 

heretofore authorized and adopted an ordinance being Ordinance Number 2011-O-037, entitled 

AAn ordinance providing for the issuance of not to exceed $7,200,000 General Obligation 

Refunding Bonds, Series 2011, of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, 

authorizing the execution of a bond order in connection therewith and providing for the levy and 

collection of a direct annual tax for the payment of the principal of and interest on said bonds,” 

Page | 156AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



adopted July 5, 2011, which directed the refunding of said General Obligation Library Bonds, 

Series 2003 aforementioned; and 

 

WHEREAS, on August 16, 2011, the Village Clerk, and Treasurer (the Designated 

Officers) entered into a contract for the sale of $5,940,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds, 

Series 2011 of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois in accordance to the 

aforementioned Ordinance 2011-O-037 and issued a Bond Order detailing the sale and the Series 

2011 bonds, terms of the Series 2011 bonds, and the taxes to be levied to provide for the debt 

service of the Series 2011 bonds as contained in Exhibit III of the Bond Order.  Said Series 2011 

bonds issued for the sole purpose of refunding the aforementioned General Obligation Library 

Bonds, Series 2003; and 

 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park have 

caused to be filed with the Clerk's Office of both Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, a certified 

copy of the Bond Ordinance and Bond Order as aforesaid, directing the said Clerks to levy and 

collect an annual tax for the purpose of paying the principal and interest upon the bonds 

heretofore authorized; and 

 

WHEREAS, there is available to the Village of Tinley Park a sum estimated to be 

$150,000, said estimated sum to be received from the Village's Surtax Capital Projects Fund; and 

 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park deem it in 

the best interest of the residents and taxpayers of the Village of Tinley Park that the funds 

derived from the herein described source be used to abate a portion of the payment of interest 

and principal on the aforesaid bonds for the tax levy year 2021. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the President and Board of Trustees of 

the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, as follows:   

 

  

Page | 157AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



              Section 1:           That the sum of $150,000, which will be derived from revenue sources 

herein described above, is hereby appropriated for the specific purpose of paying a portion of the 

principal and interest on the bonds which fall due on or before December 1, 2022, and that 

portion of the Bond Order which provides for a 2021 tax levy to meet the requirements to pay 

$686,400 for principal and interest on said bonds be and the same is hereby abated and reduced 

in the amount of $150,000 leaving a 2021 levy in the amount of $536,400 to pay the remaining 

portion of said interest and principal on the bonds. 

 

  Section 2:           That the Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park is hereby 

authorized and directed to file a certified copy of this ordinance, abating a portion of the 2021 tax 

levy requirement for the payment of principal and interest due on the issuance of $5,940,000 

General Obligation Refunding Bonds, with the Clerk’s, Office of both Cook and Will Counties, 

Illinois, as provided for in the Bond Order dated August 16, 2011, in due time and in the manner 

expressed by law, and the County Clerks of both Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, are hereby 

authorized and directed to abate said tax as provided in this ordinance. 

 

                Section 3:           This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its 

passage and approval pursuant to law. 

 

ADOPTED  this 7th day of  December, 2021, by the Corporate Authorities of the Village 

of Tinley Park as follows: 

AYES:   

NAYS:   

ABSENT:  
    

APPROVED this 7th day of December, 2021, by the President of the Village of Tinley 
Park.     

 
                                                                               

                        VILLAGE PRESIDENT 
 
ATTEST:         
                  _______________________                           

VILLAGE CLERK 
 

Page | 158AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
    ) SS. 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 

 I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will, and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Ordinance No. 2021-O-081 “AN ORDINANCE ABATING A PORTION OF THE 2019 

TAX LEVY REQUIREMENTS AS PROVIDED FOR IN THE BOND ORDER DATED 

AUGUST 16, 2011 IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF $5,940,000 GENERAL 

OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2011 OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, 

COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS ,” which was adopted by the President and Board of 

Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on December 7, 2021. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 7th day of December, 2021. 

 

 

 
      __________________________________________ 
                VILLAGE CLERK  

Page | 159AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 
 

 
ORDINANCE 

NO. 2021-O-082 
 

 
AN ORDINANCE ABATING ALL OF THE 2021 TAX LEVY REQUIREMENTS AS 
PROVIDED FOR IN THE BOND ORDER DATED JUNE 5, 2013 IN CONNECTION 
WITH THE ISSUANCE OF $11,340,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 

2013 OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS 

 
 

MICHAEL W. GLOTZ, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

 
WILLIAM P. BRADY 

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 
DIANE M. GALANTE 

DENNIS P. MAHONEY 
MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
COLLEEN M. SULLIVAN 

Board of Trustees 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 
Peterson, Johnson, and Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL  60606 
 

Page | 160AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois 

 

 
ORDINANCE NUMBER 2021-O-082 

AN ORDINANCE ABATING ALL OF THE 2021 TAX LEVY REQUIREMENTS AS 
PROVIDED FOR IN THE BOND ORDER DATED JUNE 5, 2013 IN CONNECTION 
WITH THE ISSUANCE OF $11,340,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 

2013 OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS 

 
 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 

provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 

and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 

25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 

VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 

including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 

 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park have 

heretofore authorized and adopted an ordinance, being Ordinance Number 2013-O-014, entitled 

"An ordinance providing for the issuance of not to exceed $13,950,000 General Obligation 

Bonds, Series 2013, of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, authorizing 

the execution of one or more bond orders in connection therewith and providing for the levy and 

collection of a direct annual tax for the payment of the principal of and interest on said bonds, as 

adopted June 4, 2013; and 

 

WHEREAS, on June 5, 2013, the Village Clerk, and Treasurer (the Designated Officers) 

entered into a contract for the sale of $11,340,000 Taxable General Obligation Bonds, Series 

2013 of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois in accordance to the 

aforementioned Ordinance 2013-O-014 and issued a Bond Order detailing the sale and the Series 

2013 bonds, terms of the Series 2013 bonds, and the taxes to be levied to provide for the debt 

service of the Series 2013 bonds as contained in Exhibit III of the Bond Order; and 

Page | 161AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park have 

caused to be filed with the Clerk's Office of both Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, a certified 

copy of the Bond Ordinances and Bond Order as aforesaid, directing the said Clerks to levy and 

collect an annual tax for the purpose of paying the principal and interest upon the bonds 

heretofore authorized; and 

 

WHEREAS, there is available to the Village of Tinley Park a sum estimated to be 

$640,250 to be derived from: 

• The Hotel/Motel Tax Debt Service Reserve Fund ($396,100) 

• Surtax Capital Projects Fund ($74,361.74) 

• Water and Sewer Revenue Fund ($141,457.21) 

• Stormwater Management Fund ($17,695.77) 

• New Bremen Tax Increment Finance District fund ($10,635.28); and  

 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park deem it in 

the best interest of the residents and taxpayers of the Village of Tinley Park that the funds 

available in the aforementioned Village Funds, be used to abate all of the payment of interest and 

principal on the aforesaid bonds for the tax levy year 2021. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the President and Board of Trustees of 

the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, as follows:   

 

            Section 1:             That the sum of $640,250, which will be derived from revenue sources 

within the preambles herein described above, is hereby appropriated for the specific purpose of 

paying a portion of the principal and interest on the bonds which fall due on or before December 

1, 2022, and that portion of the Bond Order which provides for a 2021 tax levy to meet the 

requirements to pay $990,250 for principal and interest on said bonds be and the same is hereby 

reduced in the amount of $640,250, leaving a 2021 levy in the amount of $350,000 to pay for the 

remaining portion of said principal and interest on the bonds. 

Page | 162AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Section 2:              That the Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park is hereby 

authorized and directed to file a certified copy of this ordinance with the Clerk’s Office of both 

Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, abating a portion of the 2021 tax levy requirement for the 

payment of principal and interest due on the issuance of $11,340,000 General Obligation Bonds, 

Series 2013, as provided for in the Bond Order dated June 5, 2013, in due time and in the manner 

expressed by law, and the County Clerks of both Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, are hereby 

authorized and directed to abate said tax as provided in this ordinance. 

 

Section 3:               This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its 

passage and approval pursuant to law. 

ADOPTED this 7th day of December, 2021, by the Corporate Authorities of the Village 

of Tinley Park as follows: 

AYES:   

NAYS:   

ABSENT:  

APPROVED this 7th day of December, 2021 by the President of the Village of Tinley 

Park. 

 

                         ___________________________________                                                  
    VILLAGE PRESIDENT  

 

ATTEST:         ________________________                               
VILLAGE CLERK 

 
 
 
 
  

Page | 163AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
    ) SS. 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 

 I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will, and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Ordinance No. 2021-O-082 “AN ORDINANCE ABATING ALL OF THE 2021 TAX 

LEVY REQUIREMENTS AS PROVIDED FOR IN THE BOND ORDER DATED JUNE 5, 

2013 IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF $11,340,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION 

BONDS, SERIES 2013 OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL 

COUNTIES, ILLINOIS,” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the 

Village of Tinley Park on December 7, 2021. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 7th day of December, 2021. 

 

 

 
      __________________________________________ 
                VILLAGE CLERK  

Page | 164AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 
 

 
ORDINANCE 
NO. 2021-0-083 

 
 

 
 

AN ORDINANCE ABATING A PORTION OF THE TAX YEAR 2021 VILLAGE OF 
TINLEY PARK PROPERTY TAXES EXTENDED FOR 18501 CONVENTION CENTER 
DRIVE, TINLEY PARK, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS (DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVE 

AGREEMENT FOR THE TINLEY PARK HOTEL AND CONVENTION CENTER) 
 
 

MICHAEL W. GLOTZ, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

 
WILLIAM P. BRADY 

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 
DIANE M. GALANTE 

DENNIS P. MAHONEY 
MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
COLLEEN M. SULLIVAN 

Board of Trustees 
_________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Page | 165AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2021-O-083 

AN ORDINANCE ABATING A PORTION OF THE TAX YEAR 2021 VILLAGE OF 
TINLEY PARK PROPERTY TAXES EXTENDED FOR 18501 CONVENTION CENTER 
DRIVE, TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS (DEVELOPMENT 
INCENTIVE AGREEMENT FOR THE TINLEY PARK HOTEL AND CONVENTION 

CENTER) 
 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 

provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 

and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 

25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of 

Article VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and 

affairs, including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park have 

heretofore authorized and adopted Resolution Number 2018-R-050, entitled "A Resolution 

Authorizing The Execution Of A Development Incentive Agreement Between The Village Of 

Tinley Park, The Board Of Education School District 227, And The Harp Group, Inc. Relating 

To The Hotel Property Located At 18501 Harlem Avenue” adopted July 17, 2018; and 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park have 

heretofore authorized and adopted Resolution Number 2018-R-051, entitled "A Resolution 

Authorizing The Execution Of A Development Incentive Agreement Between The Village Of 

Tinley Park, The Board Of Education School District 159, And The Harp Group, Inc. Relating 

To The Hotel Property Located At 18501 Harlem Avenue” adopted July 17, 2018; and 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park have 

heretofore authorized and adopted Resolution Number 2018-R-052, entitled "A Resolution 

Approving The First Amendment To The Tinley Park Convention Center Management Contract 

Between The Harp Group, Inc, And The Village Of Tinley Park” adopted July 17, 2018; and 

Page | 166AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



WHEREAS, The Harp Group, Inc. has expressed its desire to operate and manage the 

Tinley Park Convention Center on behalf of the Village of Tinley Park; and  

WHEREAS, The Harp Group, Inc. has acquired the Hotel Property connected to the 

Tinley Park Convention Center under the business entity Tinley Park Convention Center Hotel 

Owners LLC, and intends to continue the operations of the Tinley Park Hotel as a commercial 

enterprise within the Village of Tinley Park; and 

WHEREAS, The Harp Group, Inc. has requested financial assistance in the form of real 

estate Tax abatements pursuant to the provision of law (35 ILCS 200/18-165); and 

 WHEREAS, the Subject Hotel Property, 18501 Convention Center Drive, is identified 

for property tax purposes by permanent identification number 31-06-100-027-0000; and 

WHEREAS, the Company has met the conditions and requirements of the 

aforementioned Agreements and is eligible for the financial assistance provided for therein; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the President and Board of Trustees of 

the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, as follows:   

 SECTION ONE 

That fifty percent (50%) of the Village of Tinley Park’s portion of real estate property 

taxes (“Property Taxes”) assessed and extended on the Subject Hotel Property (18501 

Convention Center Drive, PIN 31-06-100-027-0000), shall hereby be abated for the 2021 tax 

levy year (taxes billed and collected in calendar 2022). 

Said abatement shall be made only against the amounts extended for the Village of Tinley 

Park (tax agency 03-1270-000). The amounts extended for the Tinley Park Public Library (tax 

agency 03-1270-001) are not to be abated. 

SECTION TWO 

 Annual abatements by Elementary School District 159, Rich Township High School 
District 227 and the Village of Tinley Park shall continue until the first of the following should 
occur: 

Page | 167AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



(i) duration of ten (10) tax levy years, commencing with the 2018 tax levy year to which 
the first abatement applies, and in which taxes are actually abated (this being the second year of 
abatement); 

(ii) the aggregate taxes abated on the Subject Hotel Property by all three of the above-
named taxing bodies equals four million dollars ($4,000,000); 

(iii) the abatement obligations of the Elementary School District 159, Rich Township 
High School District 227 and the Village terminate as provided for in aforementioned 
Agreements. 

SECTION THREE 

That the Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park is hereby authorized and directed to 

file a certified copy of this ordinance with the Cook County Clerk’s Office.   

The County Clerk of Cook County, Illinois, is hereby authorized and directed to abate 

said tax as provided in this ordinance. 

 SECTION FOUR 

This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and approval 

pursuant to law. 

PASSED this 7th day of December, 2021, by the following roll call vote: 

 AYES:  

 NAYS: 

 ABSENT: 

 APPROVED this 7th day of  December, 2021, by the President of the Village of Tinley 
Park. 

________________________________ 
                       Village President 
 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ 
   Village Clerk 
 

 

Page | 168AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 

 

STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) SS 
COUNTY OF WILL  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 

 I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook and 

Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of 

Ordinance No. 2021-O-083, “AN ORDINANCE ABATING A PORTION OF THE TAX YEAR 2021 

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PROPERTY TAXES EXTENDED FOR 18501 CONVENTION 

CENTER DRIVE, TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS (DEVELOPMENT 

INCENTIVE AGREEMENT FOR THE TINLEY PARK HOTEL AND CONVENTION CENTER),” 

which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on December 

7, 2021. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of  

the Village of Tinley Park this 7th day of December, 2021. 

 

 

 

       ____________________________________ 
       KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 
 

Page | 169AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 
 

 
ORDINANCE 

NO. 2021-O-084 
 

 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE ABATING A PORTION OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK TAX 
YEAR 2021 PROPERTY TAXES EXTENDED FOR 8451 183RD PLACE, TINLEY 

PARK, WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS  
(SURFACE SHIELDS, INC. INDUCEMENT AGREEMENT) 

 
 

MICHAEL W. GLOTZ, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

 
WILLIAM P. BRADY 

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 
DIANE M. GALANTE 

DENNIS P. MAHONEY 
MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
COLLEEN M. SULLIVAN 

Board of Trustees 
_________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Page | 170AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2021-O-084 

AN ORDINANCE ABATING A PORTION OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
TAX YEAR 2021 PROPERTY TAXES EXTENDED FOR 8451 183RD PLACE,  

TINLEY PARK, WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
(SURFACE SHIELDS, INC. INDUCEMENT AGREEMENT) 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 

provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, and 

the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, 

therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may 

exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, but 

not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 

 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park have 

heretofore authorized and adopted Resolution Number 2017-R-039, entitled "Resolution Authorizing 

the Execution of an Inducement Agreement (Property Tax Rebate) for Surface Shields, Inc.,” 

adopted July 11, 2017; and 

 

WHEREAS, Surface Shields, Inc. (“Company”) began its manufacturing and distribution 

operations within the Village of Tinley Park (“Village”) at 8451 183rd Street (“Subject Property”) on 

October 23, 2017 which meets the requirements under the Inducement Agreement which stipulated 

that the Company begin operations on or before January 1, 2018; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Subject Property, 8451 183rd Place, is identified for property tax purposes 

by permanent identification number 19-09-02-106-006-0000; and. 

 

WHEREAS, the Company represents that it has spent at least $116,500 to upgrade the 

Subject Property which meets the requirements under the Inducement Agreement which stipulated 

that the Company spend an estimated $100,000; and 

 

Page | 171AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



WHEREAS, The Company has represented that it is employing 60 full time employees at 

the Subject Property.  Furthermore, the Company represents that it has continuously maintained at 

least fifty-five (55) full time employees since beginning operations at the Subject Property in 

accordance with the requirements of the Inducement Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Company is continuing to operate a manufacturing and distribution 

business on the Subject Property in accordance with the requirements of the Inducement Agreement; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the Company has met the conditions and requirements of the Inducement 

Agreement and is eligible for the economic incentive provided for therein; and 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the President and Board of Trustees of the 

Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, as follows:   

 

 SECTION ONE 

 

That fifty percent (50%) of the Village’s portion of real estate property taxes (“Property 

Taxes”) assessed and extended on the Subject Property (8451 183rd Place, PIN 19-09-02-106-006-

0000), but not to exceed a maximum of six thousand dollars ($6,000), shall hereby be abated for the 

2021 tax levy year (taxes billed and collected in calendar 2022). 

 

  

Page | 172AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 SECTION TWO 

 

That the Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park is hereby authorized and directed to file 

a certified copy of this ordinance with the Will County Clerk’s Office.   

The County Clerk of Will County, Illinois, is hereby authorized and directed to abate said tax 

as provided in this ordinance. 

 

SECTION THREE 

 

This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and approval 

pursuant to law. 

 

 

PASSED this 7th day of December, 2021, by the following roll call vote: 

 AYES:  

 NAYS: 

 ABSENT: 

 APPROVED this 7th day of December, 2021, by the President of the Village of Tinley 
Park. 

 

________________________________ 
                 Village President  
 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ 
   Village Clerk 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page | 173AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

   

STATE OF ILLINOIS  ) 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) SS 
COUNTY OF WILL  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 

 I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook and 

Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of 

Ordinance No. 2021-O-084, “AN ORDINANCE ABATING A PORTION OF THE VILLAGE OF 

TINLEY PARK TAX YEAR 2021 PROPERTY TAXES EXTENDED FOR 8451 183RD PLACE, 

TINLEY PARK, WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS (SURFACE SHIELDS, INC. INDUCEMENT 

AGREEMENT),” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley 

Park on December 7, 2021. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of  

the Village of Tinley Park  this 7th day of December, 2021. 

 

 

 

       ____________________________________ 
       KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 
 

Page | 174AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 

STAFF 
COMMENT 

 

Page | 175AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 
BOARD 

COMMENT 

 

Page | 176AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 

PUBLIC 
COMMENT 

 

Page | 177AGENDA - 12/7/2021,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...


	Agenda Pg 1
	Agenda Pg 2
	Agenda Pg 3
	Agenda Pg 4
	Agenda Pg 5
	Agenda Pg 6
	ITEM #2 - Approval of Minutes
	ITEM #3 - President Glotz
	ITEM #4 - President Glotz & Clerk Thirion
	ITEM #5 - CONSENT A
	ITEM #5 - CONSENT B
	ITEM #5 - CONSENT C
	ITEM #5 - CONSENT D
	ITEM #5 - CONSENT E
	ITEM #6 - President Glotz
	ITEM #7 - President Glotz
	ITEM #8 - Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #9 - Trustee Sullivan
	ITEM #10 - Trustee Sullivan
	ITEM #11 - Trustee Sullivan
	ITEM #12 - Trustee Sullivan
	ITEM #13 - Trustee Sullivan
	ITEM #14 - Staff Comments
	ITEM #15 - Board Comments
	ITEM #16 - Public Comment
	Adjournment



